

## Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2014

# Collaborative and Creative Thinking Skill Development Through the Design of Wearable Technologies

Laurie E. Korte *Walden University* 

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Art Education Commons</u>, and the <u>Instructional Media Design Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

## Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Laurie Korte

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. MaryFriend Shepard, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Amar Almasude, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Paula Dawidowicz, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2014

Abstract

Collaborative and Creative Thinking Skill Development

Through the Design of Wearable Technologies

by

Laurie E. Korte

MA, University of Wisconsin, 2002 BS, Butler University, 1989

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Educational Technology

Walden University

November 2014

Abstract

Skills inherent in the creative thinking process such as reflecting and collaborating are needed for success in many careers. However, a focus on standardized testing in K-12 schools in the United States has resulted in the restructuring, reduction, and in some cases, elimination of arts in the curriculum to the detriment of students' creative thinking process. The purpose of this study was to discover whether creative thinking and collaborative skills were positive unintended consequences of a curriculum that includes the design of wearable technologies. Jonassen's modeling using Mindtools for conceptual change and Rosen's culture of collaboration provided the conceptual framework. This qualitative case study explored students' and teachers' perceptions of collaborative and creative thinking skill development while designing wearable technologies. The data analysis used interviews with 3 students and 1 teacher and an evaluation of participant wearable technology artifacts. Rich themes and patterns were determined through open coding. The themes identified to explain the perceived development of creative thinking skills were divergent thinking, stimulation of the imagination, generation of new knowledge, and creative climate. The themes identified to explain the perceived development of collaborative skills were diverse membership, culture of collaboration, and community building. The design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool showed promise as a new way to integrate art with science, technology, engineering, and math (STEM). This study may effect positive social change by informing educational policy and influencing school budgetary consideration toward including art as a value-added benefit to STEM curriculum.

Collaborative and Creative Thinking Skill Development

Through the Design of Wearable Technologies

by

Laurie E. Korte

MA, University of Wisconsin, 2002

BS, Butler University, 1989

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Educational Technology

Walden University

November 2014

### Dedication

My efforts are dedicated to my husband, Don, and to my parents. Without their encouragement and understanding, this endeavor would not have been possible. Thank you for all your love and support.

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. MaryFriend Shepard for her guidance and support throughout my studies at Walden University. She inspired me to learn for the future. Her mentorship grew into more than just an academic relationship, but a true friendship. I wish to thank Dr. Amar Almasude for his unwavering willingness to share knowledge and insights. I would also like to acknowledge my immediate and extended family for putting up with me during this journey. Along with family, there were friends, Christine and Jeriann, in particular, without whom I would not have become a Doctor of Philosophy. The people involved in my efforts along the way mean more to me than any award or recognition I could ever receive.

List of Figures	V
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	3
Problem Statement	5
Research Questions	8
Conceptual Framework	8
Nature of the Study: Qualitative Case Study	14
Definitions	16
Assumptions	17
Scope and Delimitations	17
Limitations	19
Significance	20
Summary	21
Chapter 2: Literature Review	24
Chapter Organization	25
Literature Search Strategy	26
Conceptual Framework	27
Jonassen: Mindtools for Conceptual Change	
Rosen: Culture of Collaboration	35
Historical Perspective on Workforce Preparedness and the Nature of	
Creativity	

## Table of Contents

Development of Collaborative and Creative Thinking in Other Curricular	
Areas	45
Collaboration and Creative Thinking Through Art	49
Collaboration Through Art	50
Creative Thinking Through Art	54
Summary	57
Chapter 3: Research Method	59
Research Design and Rationale	59
Role of the Researcher	64
Methodology	66
Participant Selection Logic	67
Instrumentation	69
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	69
Data Analysis Plan	71
Interview Questions	71
Teacher Follow-up Interview Questions	73
Coding	75
Discrepant Cases	76
Issues of Trustworthiness	77
Credibility	77
Transferability	78
Dependability	78

Confirmability	
Ethical Procedures	79
Summary	80
Chapter 4: Results	
Setting	83
Demographics	86
Data Collection	
Data Analysis	91
Discrepant Cases	92
Evidence of Trustworthiness	94
Credibility	94
Transferability	95
Dependability	97
Confirmability	97
Results by Research Question	
Research Question 1	
Research Question 2	119
Research Question 3	
Research Question 4	144
Summary	
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	
Interpretation of the Findings	

Resear	ch Question 1	158
Resear	ch Question 2	164
Resear	ch Question 3	166
Resear	ch Question 4	171
Limitation	s of the Study	175
Recomme	ndations for Action	178
Recomme	ndations for Further Research	
Implicatio	ns for Social Change	
Conclusion	n	
References		
Appendix A:	Interview Questions	
Appendix B:	Letter of Cooperation	206
Appendix C:	Teacher Invitation to Participate in Research Email Script	207
Appendix D:	Teacher Consent Form	208
Appendix E:	Adult Student Invitation to Participate in Research Email Script.	210
Appendix F:	Adult Student Consent Form	211
Appendix G:	Interview Protocol	213
Appendix H:	Confidentiality Agreement	218
Curriculum V	itae	219

## List of Figures

Figure 1. A LilyPad circuit board with conductive thread sewn onto a dog harness	.103
Figure 2. The wearable technology dog harness design in progress	.103
Figure 3. The dog harness leash electronics layout	.104
Figure 4. The non-conductive metal coated dog harness leash clip	.104
Figure 5. The squeeze sensor for activation of LEDs on the dog harness	105

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

An innovation gap exists related to collaborative and creative thinking skill development in terms of students being prepared to enter careers following high school (Partnership for 21st Century Skills, 2010). Business leaders acknowledged a need for knowledge gained through other areas than what is currently the standard of education, noting that schools are not producing students prepared for the workforce (Apollo, 2012). The problems facing the future success of today's learners are multifaceted (Falk-Krzesinski et al., 2010). The need to address these problems is surmountable through cross-disciplinary, collaborative, and constructivist-learning environments.

The STEM subjects of Science, Technology, Engineering, and Math are associated with a focus on building future success (Guimerans, 2012). The importance of creative thinking as a developed skill is increasing. Creativity is not something just a few are born with; it can be fostered, built, and gained through learning (Katz-Buonincontro & Phillips, 2011). The arts need to be considered in cooperation with the STEM subjects to better prepare students to be successful in the workforce of tomorrow.

The No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) had a detrimental effect on learners receiving the benefits of the arts as a core subject (Americans for the Arts, 2012). A proposal by the Republican Study Committee suggested continued decreases of arts and cultural funding on a national scale (Campoy-Leffler, 2011). According to Mardell, a researcher with Project Zero at Harvard University, "kids learn through all their senses" (Cleaver, 2013). Creative thinking is developed through learners' hands working with their minds toward knowledge building (Katz-Buonincontro, 2011). Many believe that the world became economically integrated through continual increases in trade and financial flows. Zande (2011) calls this *value creation*, which means developing organizational structures that go beyond traditional forms and processes, collaborating to create new kinds of wealth. These extended networks are expanding the workplace around the globe to increase creativity and collaboration. Katz-Buonincontro (2011) found that creative thinking skills were enhanced by participating in a range of artistic areas, from drama to ceramics. Businesses are finding avenues through artistic resources to build learner skill development in sought after employee abilities (Americans for the Arts, 2012). Continued exploration of these changes resulted in discussions on the changing nature of work and how to shape and adapt to these latest findings (Apollo, 2012).

This study adds to the knowledge base by focusing understanding on participants' perceptions of the value of designing wearable technologies to the development of collaborative and creative thinking skills. A lack of research on students' and teachers' perceptions of collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies, directed the review of literature found in Chapter 2. A historically growing need to develop learner skills in collaboration and creative thinking for future business innovation and the global economy is evident.

Two theories were used as the conceptual framework for this study. Jonassen's (1996) modeling using Mindtools for conceptual change supported creative thinking as it relates to Mindtools. Rosen's (2009) culture of collaboration provided support for art in

education and the development of collaboration and creative thinking skills through the design of wearable technologies.

This chapter includes a description of the topic of study, why this study needed to be conducted, and potential social implications. A background section summarizes research related literature, thus establishing a gap in knowledge that this study addresses. Evidence that the problem this study addressed is emerging to the field of educational technology is shared along with a rationale for the case study research approach. Logical connections are made as to how the information led to the research questions.

#### Background

Rosen (2009) described how the culture of collaboration affects the workforce and changes the standard of business today toward tomorrow. He explored the significance of collaboration in sparking innovation. An industry inclination is to establish simultaneous work environments towards an enhancement of interaction (p. 9). Parts, products, and manufacturing processes can be designed at the same time, rather than designing parts individually and assembling them into an end product. People from multiple functions can be included in developing services and processes. Participation can be simultaneous, instead of passing instructions through levels and functions for others to implement (p. 11). In a survey of 2,800 executives on global innovation, 92 % indicated, "Innovation is the main lever to create a more competitive economy" and 86 % agreed that, "Investing in innovation is probably the best way to create jobs in my country" (Seifter, 2012). Involvement with the environment happens with all our senses (Steed, 2010). The appeal to offering many interpretations is to enrich understanding. For instance, almost all experience possesses visual-spatial dimensions. Within almost all experiences, learners can utilize visual-spatial dimensions to build knowledge. Steed stated that visual-spatial dimensions necessitate personal perspective to foster imaginative connections for creative thinking. A learning ecology to explore the arts allows an avenue to integrate technology (Steed, 2010). This taps a collective knowledge through collaboration (Hwang, Chu, Lin, & Tsai, 2011).

A new vision is developing of the skills necessary for success in the modern era. The core of the essential skillset for the future is creativity (Americans for the Arts, 2012). Batey (2011) showed creativity as being a vital skill from the level of the individual to the organization as a whole. Along with creativity, it was reported in National Endowment for Science, Technology & the Arts (NESTA) that capabilities sought after for enhanced workforce innovation are organizational culture, leadership, and value (Patterson, Kerrin, Gatto-Roissard, & Coan, 2009). Despite the growing need to foster creative thinking for an innovative workforce, best practice implementation has not been determined. The avenue for attainment seems to be a significant challenge (Patterson et al., 2009).

Phillips (2012) listed 10 skills children learn from the arts. She explored leadership skills taught through the arts and explained why learners need these skills to succeed in business. Among the skills are creativity and collaboration. Along with the other eight listed, these skills are crucial as they help develop integrity of character, which employers are seeking. Innovation requires an ability to constantly adapt to change. Phillips (2012) emphasized creative thinking skill development as promoted through arts education.

A broad societal and educational problem that needs addressing is the lack of understanding for the value of art in education. Through integration with the arts, STEM subjects may benefit from diversifying knowledge domains to create more ideas (Lovell, 2011). E-textiles have shown promise as a new way to introduce STEM to students in such a way that can broaden the appeal of engineering (Lovell & Buechley, 2010).

The potential development of collaborative and creative thinking skills through the design of wearable technologies needed exploration to determine the value of the arts through facilitated technological projects. Research on student and teacher perceptions regarding collaborative and creative thinking skill development through facilitated technological projects was not evident, confirming that a gap in research existed. Integration with the arts offers the opportunity to increase creativity and innovation across the workforce.

#### **Problem Statement**

The perception of many school administrators is that desired skills are not lessened or harmed through the elimination of the arts (Americans for the Arts, 2012). Mandated, standardized tests in mathematics, reading, and language arts are conducted each year (West & Bleiberg, 2013) focusing schools on strengthening scores in these subjects. The result of an increased focus on these assessments meant less support for the arts. The principal benefits to studying the arts needs to be addressed (Linton, 2009). In fact, Linton (2009) stated a "silo effect" in learning and the isolation it causes goes against human nature. Linton indicated that learner collaboration with others and ideas from different disciplines can increase knowledge and creativity leading to more productive and effective results.

Storksdieck (2011) provided two key arguments for increased arts in education. The first point discussed art as a means of knowing and learning. He proposed that art provides a useful tool to individuals challenged to make outcomes and products more interesting and valuable. The study indicated that art offers a different way of seeing the world leading to a broader understanding. Storksdieck stated that art affords a way to open minds and offer an avenue to creativity (2011). He claimed that the arts add value to understanding concepts beyond limited disciplines. The findings supported art-infused learning allows understanding and application of concepts toward other endeavors.

Further findings indicated many connected their art explorations with their scientific creativity. Root-Bernstein (2011) demonstrated links between people who became Nobel laureates because of their works in the sciences and engagement in the arts. The 1968 Nobel Prize for Physics was won by Luis Alvarez. The ability to utilize visual-spatial dimensions for constructing his visions gained Alvarez his success (1987). Einstein's creative thinking ability is attributed to his improvisational talent with musical instruments. As Einstein put it, "The theory of relativity occurred to me by intuition, and music is the driving force behind this intuition. My parents had me study the violin from the time I was six. My discovery is the result of musical perception" (Suzuki, 1969, p. 90). Einstein credited many of his greatest scientific discoveries to musical thinking (Root-Bernstein & Root-Bernstein, 2013).

In addition, multiple studies have identified positive connections between the arts, creativity, and workplace readiness. A survey administered to 244 executives and superintendents found that companies were looking for employees that display creativity (Lichtenberg, Woock, & Wright, 2008). Results indicated that companies want employees who can identify problems and new patterns, integrate knowledge across fields, are original, and possess basic curiosity (Lichtenberg et al., 2008). However, most schools and employers provided little relative education and training. Employers want collaborative and creative thinking skills that they assume schools provide to learners (Apollo, 2012). Seventy-two percent of business leaders polled listed creativity as one of the five most important applied skills wanted in new hires (Lichtenberg et al., 2008).

In summary, the arts are important to the future of workforce success toward innovation. Steve Jobs, creator of Apple, attributed his ability to link technology with creative thinking and artistic design (Wynn & Harris, 2012). If there are arts providing opportunities toward the development of skills employers are looking for, then the value of arts in curriculum needs to be reinstated and increased (Baker, 2012). Research was needed to explore how students and teachers perceive collaborative and creative thinking skills are developed as a result of the artistic design of wearable technologies through arttechnology projects.

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore student and teacher perceptions on how engagement in digital artistic design of wearable technologies affects collaborative and creative thinking skill development in learners.

#### **Research Questions**

- 1. What are students' perceptions regarding the development of creative thinking skills while designing wearable technologies?
- 2. What are teachers' perceptions regarding student development of creative thinking skills through the designing of wearable technologies?
- 3. What are students' perceptions regarding the development of collaborative skills while designing wearable technologies?
- 4. What are teachers' perceptions regarding student development of collaborative skills through the designing of wearable technologies?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework included Jonassen's (1996) model using Mindtools for conceptual change and Rosen's (2009) culture of collaboration. Conceptual frameworks supportive of constructivism suggest using student-centered, technology-supported, problem-based learning environments with open-ended solutions. Jonassen's modeling using Mindtools for conceptual change is useful in explaining the research questions because participants consider knowledge expanded through connections, inquiry, and reflection in spite of institutional challenges and opportunities. Mindtools are defined by Jonassen (1996) as learning environments designed with technology that adapts to function intellectually with learners. During the construction of knowledge a Mindtool serves as a cognitive tool. Cognitive technology tools are emphasized in inquiry frameworks (Jonassen & Reeves, 1996, p. 700). Jonassen further explained:

Constructivist-learning environments provide a question or issue, a case, a problem or a project that learners will attempt to solve. Ownership of the problem or learning goal is the key to meaningful learning. Students must be provided with interesting, relevant, and engaging problems to solve. (p. 718)

A constructivist-designed learning environment was found by Jonassen to support learning through the active creation of knowledge across domains. A Mindtool provides learning within a context-rich, experience-based activity that builds knowledge through construction.

The objective in designing constructivist-learning environments is skill development through problem solving. These environments are intended for open-ended solutions requiring knowledge gained across multifaceted domains (Reigeluth, 1983, p. 216). Jonassen's theory values problems that are owned by the learner. Learner engagement toward ownership of a problem is built through relevant interests. A contextrich, visual-spatial environment that engages learners through knowledge construction provides an instructional design that is both active and authentic. Building representative examples enables reasoning and cognitive flexibility. The constructivist-learning environment design should offer meaning making through information. Cognitive tools that support skill development toward problem solving, modeling, and knowledge building should be included in learning environments (Hirumi, 2005). Social conversation and collaboration tools support discourse in the learning community for knowledge building and sharing.

Constructivist-learning environment design supports knowledge building by modeling performance and cognitive processes. Instructional activities coach learning by providing motivation, monitoring, and reflective opportunities. The constructivistlearning environment design supports knowledge building by adapting to learner level. Five elements were identified to support such instruction from determining a common goal, continual assessment, active and authentic information avenues, communication, to adjustments in responsibility (Puntambekar & Kolodner, 2005). A Scaffolding Connected Knowledge Framework (SCKF) for problem-based learning environments was proposed as supportive to open-ended solution activities (Jacobson, 2008). Another framework was proposed to examine technological scaffolding to aid in problem solving, which included "task understanding and planning, monitoring and regulation, and reflection" (Quintana, Zhang, & Krajcik, 2005, p. 237). Constructivist learning theory suggests that assigning students to design wearable technologies using collaborative and creative thinking skills will facilitate the development of decision-making, problem solving, and communication skills.

Everyday attire embedded with electronic programmable components is known as e-textiles, wearable technologies, or smart clothing (Olsson, 2012, p. 6). This merger enables computing, digital components, and electronics to be incorporated through the design of wearable technologies. These e-textiles become intelligent clothing or smart clothing. Examples include touch buttons that are constructed using a sensor and conductive thread, which are then activated to control programmable elements such as LEDs mounted on clothing to form displays (p. 11). Through this construction, students build knowledge from experiences during the learning, not solely from prior facts.

Rosen (2009) concentrated his research on the relationship of culture, environment, and technology to support collaboration. The culture of collaboration dissolves the obstacles of time and space, produces outcomes, and generates value. These benefits require an understanding of the possibilities and the impossibilities of tools involved. Rosen defined collaboration as "working together to create value while sharing virtual or physical space" (p. 9). A few individuals with a common goal, engaging through collaboration, create added value to something (p. 10).

Technological, economic, and cultural trends have changed the ways people collaborate. Rosen explained what he calls rich, real-time collaboration: "Rich, real-time collaboration lets people with a variety of skills and talents in multiple fields and functions come together spontaneously and create value" (2009, p. 22). This creates a group ability to build upon energy heightened by the culture of collaboration (p. 70).

Companies today are seeking this shared creation of value. Enhanced value is created when collaboratively designing products concurrently. The economic trend is to search for the best talent at the best price, regardless of geography. As organizations explore globalization, the desire to innovate and build value drives the need to collaborate (Fawcett, Jones, & Fawcett, 2012). Organizations are driven by technology, progress, and the need to share information. In this global economy, collaboration is important and has become an essential norm (Rogers-Brown, 2010). Groups are working synchronously and/or asynchronously, virtually and/or face-to-face on tasks. Sharing experiences speeds up the design process. This is of benefit to the organization as concerns can be resolved quicker. An important characteristic of collaboration is the tools used to enable progress. Effective collaboration can produce many benefits for individuals or organizations. The collaborating group needs a common goal. The group must be made up of people with appropriate skills. Individuals need readily accessible and applicable resources, and an environment conducive to collaboration (Rogers-Brown, 2010).

Constructivism is an educational theory that suggests learning is the building of knowledge structures (Jonassen, Carr, & Yueh, 1998). A key issues coming out of this theoretical stance is that learners construct their own knowledge. Jonassen (1998) believed that the opportunities for pedagogic design are far more interesting for the future because emerging technologies have extended opportunities for learning. Opportunities to solve problems are provided and built upon in a constructivist-designed learning environment (1998, p. 215). Authenticity and motivation toward solving a problem is the key to student owned learning.

Knowing this, Jonassen (1996) specialized in taking knowledge from unrelated fields, using technology, and applying it to information being learned. He discussed ways that Mindtools enhance learning to engage interactivity toward willingness to build on knowledge. Using computers, he transformed constructivism theory to include technology in ways previously inconceivable. Constructivism builds upon prior knowledge and experiences. He believed Mindtools enhance collaborative and cooperative efforts in the learning community. Jonassen believed accomplishing this necessitated intertwining instructional design with various instructional technologies.

To solve complex problems, a collaborative diverse group of individuals offers a greater knowledge base of perspectives (Rosen, 2009). Solutions may be seen completely differently from one individual to the next. Building on collective knowledge, differences are beneficially highlighted through collaboration adding value to a group solution. Bringing people together simultaneously to share spontaneous input solves problems through more efficient decisions (Rosen, 2009). If individuals perceive belonging to a collective knowledge, the likelihood of creating value through a collaborative tool is increased (p. 12).

Anticipating all of the solutions to a problem is not possible due to individual differences in backgrounds, knowledge, and imagination. Wearable technology provides opportunity to innovate on a personal platform. This relates to new kinds of value-added that fulfills individual needs. Rosen (2009) defined the culture of collaboration as "working together to create value while sharing virtual and physical space" (p.9). He explained that collaboration is central to creating wealth. People working collaboratively achieve greater success than individuals working alone. This led to the last two research questions for this study and helped the development of the interview questions (Appendix A) on how teachers and students perceive collaborative skill development when designing wearable technologies.

Through the designing of wearable technologies as the Mindtool, collaborative and creative thinking skill development can be explored. Wearable technologies allow for the embedding of built-in electronic programmable components with everyday attire (Hwang, Shi, & Chu, 2011). Emerging technologies involving mobile and wireless devices have opened new opportunities for learning in which students combine their nondigital real-world with digital-world activities. This allows sharing of knowledge or experiences with others through collaborative skill development. These opportunities promote creative thinking. This study proposes the design of wearable technologies as the Mindtool for innovative ubiquitous learning. Jonassen's (1996) idea of Mindtools guided the design of research questions 1 and 2 and helped determine the interview questions (Appendix A) to collect data on how students and teachers perceive development of creative thinking when designing wearable technologies.

#### Nature of the Study: Qualitative Case Study

The qualitative case study design provided a means of gathering teacher and student perceptions about collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies. This study was designed to explore student skill development experiences in a particular classroom rather than to evaluate the constructivist-learning environment. This design allowed the researcher to explore individual experiences, from simple to complex learning, relationships, communities, or activities. The approach permitted deconstruction and reconstruction of various phenomena (Yin, 2011). Qualitative case study research is consistent with developing an understanding of how students approach the work of designing wearable technologies and its influence on collaborative and creative thinking skill development. This research study derived a deep, rich interpretation of a single case set in a real-world context of a classroom. The purpose was to produce an invaluable and deep understanding of the collaborative and creative thinking skill development resulting in new learning and its meaning. This was an exploration of a particular phenomenon set within a real-world classroom context, "when the boundaries between phenomenon and context are not clearly evident" (Yin, 2009, p. 18). My study explored whether students engaged in wearable technology design developed collaborative and creative thinking skills. Data were collected from teacher and student interviews as a means to finding out perceptions of collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies.

A homogeneous study on perceived collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies with teachers and students was undertaken. The conceptual framework involved an interpretation of constructivism with Mindtools (Jonassen, 2005) and a culture of collaboration (Rosen, 2009) as the foundations for the exploration of skill development. The research included Skype or telephone audio-recorded interviews as the data collection technique. Also examined were participant shared artifacts of art-technology collaboration and creative thinking.

The method of data analysis included descriptors of collaborative and creative thinking skill development. Data collected included Skype or telephone audio-recorded teacher and student interviews. Additional Skype or telephone audio-recorded teacher follow-up interviews were based on reflections from all previous participant responses. Analysis involved selections from the initial teacher and student Skype or telephone audio-recorded interviews, and teacher follow-up selections to add validity to interpretations. From the interviews and artifacts, a coding system was developed to determine rich themes and patterns through the analysis of data. Perceptions of big ideas about collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies were grouped. The organization of data collected helped explain how to enhance learner skill development in these two areas. Investigations included teacher and student Skype or telephone audio-recorded interviews, with additional teacher follow-up Skype or telephone audio-recorded interviews based on the analysis of responses from all previous participant interviews.

Acknowledging multiple possibilities in qualitative case studies involves distinguishing various perceptions (Yin, 1994). To interpret shared experiences explored for research, a case study approach was chosen. Rich detail from the depth of context is possible when a focused number of similarly shared experiences are analyzed. Yin stressed that data collected from multiple sources provides opportunity to consider a variety of perspectives (1994). I analyzed collected data to determine key patterns and themes.

#### Definitions

*Collaboration:* "Working together to create value while sharing virtual and physical space" (Rosen, 2009, p. 9).

*Creative Thinking:* "Going beyond accepted knowledge to generate new knowledge" (Jonassen, 1996, p. 237).

*E-textile:* "Designing of programmable garments, accessories, and costumes that incorporate elements of embedded computing, novel materials, sensors, and actuators, in addition to traditional aspects of fabric crafts" (Kafai & Peppler, 2011, p. 25).

*Mindtool:* "Computer-based tools and learning environments adapted or developed to function as intellectual partners with the learner in order to engage and facilitate critical thinking and higher order learning" (Jonassen, 1996, p. 9).

*Wearable Technology:* "Having to do with the combining of fashion and technology, wearable technologies are technology-enhanced garments or pieces of technology that can be worn on the body" (Olsson, 2012, p. 5).

#### Assumptions

- 1. Participants perceive and develop strategies to develop collaboration and creative thinking skills similarly to others in different locations.
- 2. A limited, bounded study is essential to acquire the depth and description of the perceptions from the participants.
- 3. Participants will interpret each interview question similarly and the interview stimulus will be equally presented to the participants (Mishler, 1991, p. 5).
- 4. Teachers and students will participate willingly and respond honestly to the interview questions.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to discover student and teacher perceptions on how engagement in digital artistic design of wearable technologies affects collaborative and creative thinking skill development in learners. Collaborative and creative thinking skill development research as it relates to technological art or wearable technologies is limited. This study explored the impact of designing wearable technologies on collaborative and creative thinking skill development as perceived by teachers and students. As this was an exploration into the effects of the inclusion or elimination of arts in education, the exploration is restricted by certain criteria in order to discover relevant perceptions regarding collaborative and creative thinking skill development while designing wearable technologies. A sample of two teachers and eight students who participated in a wearable technology integrated curriculum in a Rocky Mountain state was the population from which participants were drawn for this study. Certain criteria directed purposeful sampling to teachers and students who were involved in a wearable technology integrated curriculum. Participants were residents of a Rocky Mountain State.

Transferability of the results from this study may affect future educational decisions toward wearable technologies as an integrated curricular art and STEM practice. The information added to the field from this study will share perceptions from a certain group on collaborative and creative thinking skill development through design of wearable technologies. As the study participants were in an educational setting, relevance of the findings may be relatable to other similar institutions. Insights from this study may also help to develop educational policy by informing upon the value of arts. The scope is delimited to teachers who are self-directed in their teaching practice to connect learners with wearable technology design and their students. To meet the study's criteria, teachers were invited to participate who offered to students an integrated curricular experience

designing wearable technologies. An exploration into the perceptions of teacher and student participants supported further understanding of the skill development of collaboration and creative thinking. This study explored attributes of the identified gap for workforce preparation purposes of collaborative and creative thinking skill development.

#### Limitations

Case studies, by definition, are not generalizable. Inferring a generalization from case study results is cautioned against by Yin (2009) stating, "cases are not 'sampling units' and should not be chosen for this reason" (p. 38). The results of this study, therefore, are of greatest use to those in the educational and business community who may choose to transfer the findings to their environment.

Limitations may arise when the collected data, determined themes and patterns, and interpretations are analyzed. The possibility exists that "everyday contextual understandings are reintroduced" (Mishler, 1991, p. 5). Other limitations may be found due to inconsistencies in individual opinions and the environment of qualitative research that is "exploratory and inductive in nature" (Trochim, 2006, p. 20). This study's primary limitation was the specific criteria chosen to select participants. Due to the narrow population of participants available for the study, results may not be transferable beyond the specific population from which the sample is drawn.

The importance of incorporating "correct operational measures for the concepts being studied" was documented by Yin (1994). Processes successfully implemented in previous comparable studies should be repeated where possible. Familiarization with the

participating environment should be achieved before any data collection begins. Preliminary documents and consulting communications will build familiarization.

The results of this study could advocate social change in other areas to promote understanding of the value of art in education. Due to the narrow participant selection, transferability of results to a similar institution may not be feasible. However, the findings may indicate necessity for further studies. For this study, the concentration was on the depth of data analyzed from the perceptions of the participants (Moustakas, 1994).

An additional limitation was that only teacher and student perceptions were included in the data collection for this study. Additional possibilities for data could aid in building a more comprehensive knowledge of the participants. Further interviewing with parents or peers could provide more perceptive insights regarding development of collaborative and creative thinking skills. However, such additions could also diminish clearer findings from the experience of selected participants. A rich description provided by a narrower population could promote transferability with a more significant sampling. Demographic information beyond what is shared through Skype or telephone audiorecorded interviews was not collected, but may yield implications. These interviews were completed remotely and, aside from gender, no knowledge of socioeconomic status or ethnicity was gained.

#### Significance

The results of this study provided much-needed insights into collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies in the art curriculum. New knowledge was added to the field of educational technology by

determining additional value offered through exploration of this artistic aesthetic endeavor toward employer-sought skills for future workplace pursuit. The national push to engage students in the exploration of science, technology, engineering, and math may be enhanced with the continued and reinstated inclusion of artistic integrations that strengthen the STEM curriculum. This may advance practice and policy in educational technology by clearly indicating the value of the arts in STEM. The high stakes testing focus is driving budget-cutting decisions. Insights from this study may aid in decision making for school budgets to include the arts or integrate the arts through other aspects within existing curricula if it is shown that the design of wearable technologies adds value to skill development of collaborative and creative thinking.

Positive social change that might be brought about is enhanced substantially through the design of wearable technologies. Global economic needs in demand for future innovation and success may be better addressed with the results from this study. Education is a force for social change by addressing the needs of future employers. Because the global economy is seeking these skills, supporting student attainment of collaborative and creative thinking skill development is important. If the arts are facilitating the development of these skills that employers are assuming schools are providing, then the value of arts in curriculum needs to be reassessed and the arts reinstated and increased in public schools.

#### Summary

This study is unique because it addressed a societal issue to find out if curriculum enhanced through designing of wearable technologies develops collaborative and creative thinking skills in learners. The integration of Mindtools such as the design of wearable technologies in constructivist-learning environments could lead toward global economic success. If it can be shown that the designing of wearable technologies as a Mindtool impacts developmentally on the learning of collaborative and creative thinking skills, then findings from this study may enhance decisions to expand and implement the arts into STEM areas.

The designing of wearable technologies affords educational opportunity for students to develop collaborative and creative thinking skills otherwise significantly unavailable for a number of reasons. What is known about the designing of wearable technologies as a Mindtool seems specific toward outside of school experiences. A significant gap exists in how classroom learners in an integrated curricular experience respond to this Mindtool. To clearly realize the potential possible through such an art, participants were interviewed to determine what perceptions they have about their development of collaborative and creative thinking skills through the design of wearable technologies.

Chapter 2 is organized around a review of research in four sections: (a) an analysis of the conceptual framework based on Jonassen's (2006) modeling using Mindtools for conceptual change and Rosen's (2009) explorations in collaborative culture changing business models, (b) research on workforce preparedness and the nature of creativity, (c) research on development of collaboration and creative thinking in other curricular areas, (d) research on collaboration and creative thinking through art. From this literature review, research questions were designed to focus this inquiry on the specific Mindtool of wearable technology design. A literature search strategy description is also provided to allow for future duplication of this study. The chapter summary synthesizes studies related to the research questions, highlighting gaps, and why the approach selected is meaningful.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to discover student and teacher perceptions on how engagement in the digital artistic creation of wearable technologies affects the development of collaborative and creative thinking in learners. These results address whether the arts should be reinstated, included, or increased within STEM education. This literature inquiry provides an invaluable and deep understanding on the development of collaborative and creative thinking skills resulting in new learning about real-world behavior and its meaning. New knowledge has been added to the field of educational technology by determining the value gained through the creation of wearable technology toward employer sought skills for future workplace pursuit.

Involvement with the environment happens with all our senses (Steed, 2010). The appeal to offering many interpretations is to enrich understanding. For instance, spatial dimensions are in most experiences (2010). Those experiences can build knowledge toward collaborative learning. Steed stated that visual-spatial forms of expression require inquiry and critical perspective to foster innovative insight and understanding. A learning ecology uses a dimensional environment integrated with technology to explore the arts as part of the natural world. (Nardi & O'Day, 1999; Zhao & Frank, 2003). Brown described this as an "open, complex, adaptive system comprising elements that are dynamic and interdependent" (2000, p. 19), where Barron defined a learning ecology as the "set of contexts found in physical or virtual spaces that provide opportunities for learning" (2006, p. 195). Learning is interpreted through a collaborative collective knowledge building environment (Lin, 2011).
Each of the three global editions of the New Media Consortium Horizon Report (2013) – higher education, K-12 education, and museum education – emphasizes six emerging technologies expected to find mainstream use over the next 5 years. On this list of emerging technologies, set at 4 or 5 years away, is wearable technology (p. 5). Wearable technology is referred to as the integration of devices and related electronics into clothing and accessories (p. 32). An increasing array of wearable technology has become available, hinting at the potential for teaching and learning, though there remains to be seen many concrete education examples (p. 6).

The focus of this study provides research into the design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool for conceptual change to consider its impact on the development of collaborative and creative thinking skills in learners. In addition, the research may support educators' adoption, implementation, and practice of modeling with technology. Stakeholders may use these research findings to plan professional learning driven by the desire to develop collaborative and creative thinking skills.

## **Chapter Organization**

Chapter 2 is organized into four sections: (a) an analysis of the conceptual framework based on Jonassen's (2006) modeling using Mindtools for conceptual change and Rosen's (2009) explorations in collaborative culture changing business models, (b) research on workforce preparedness and the nature of creativity, (c), research on the development of collaborative and creative thinking in other curricular areas, and (d) research on collaborative and creative thinking through art. The findings of the literature review were used to design research questions that focused this inquiry on the possibility of wearable technology design as a Mindtool to develop collaborative and creative thinking skills.

# **Literature Search Strategy**

Relevant literature of both digital and printed material from the last 5 years, from varied resources and research databases was reviewed. Dawidowicz (2010) stated that to build academic rigor, framing questions to locate current and related literature might be necessary to successfully narrow the topic. The searches were designed with the research questions as the primary focus.

I accessed the following databases through Walden University's Thoreau Library as part of this search: ABI/INFORM, ACM Digital Library, Academic Search Complete, Academic Search Premier, Business Source Complete, Computers and Applied Sciences Complete, Dissertation and Theses Database, EBSCOhost, Education Resource Complete, ERIC, IEEE Digital Library, ProQuest, ProQuest Central, PsychINFO, SAGE, ScienceDirect, and the Thoreau Multiple Databases tool. Current peer-reviewed scholarly journals were searched using the above databases and Google Scholar. Beyond these resources, a variety of online and printed peer-reviewed journals and relevant field publications were explored for current information relating to skill development in the arts: *Arts Education, American Educational Research Journal, THE Journal*, and *Educational Researcher*. Journals were confirmed as peer reviewed using Walden University's Thoreau Library services included access to Ulrich's Periodicals Directory.

Through discoveries of relatable information, adjustments to search terms and limiters became necessary to locate additional literature. Search terms included the

following keywords: technology, collaboration, teamwork, cooperation, creative thinking, e-textiles, wearable technology, Mindtools, culture, constructivism, entrepreneurship, workforce, leadership, aesthetic, cognitive tools, David H. Jonassen, Evan Rosen, Maxine Greene, John Dewey, experiential learning, inquiry, learning-bydoing, art, education, problem-based-learning, authentic, conceptual change, business models, innovation, 21st century learning, wearable computing, human-computer interaction, smart textiles, modeling, fashion, digital design, electronics, circuitry, and *programming.* The search terminology evolved as new keywords, combinations, truncations, roots, and different perspectives were discovered. Some of these added search terms were: student attitudes, arts education, technology education, creativity, digital arts, Internet, active learning, constructiv\*, collaborat\*, cooperative learning, team learning, problem solving, electronic textiles, electro textiles, wearable comput\*, smart clothing, smart clothes, and smart fabrics. Lists of term strings were also explored as search points: *e-textiles* or *electronic textiles* or *electro textiles* or *wearable comput*<sup>\*</sup> or smart textiles or smart clothing or smart clothes or smart fabrics, art education or technology education or digital arts, and collabor\* or cooperative learning or teamwork or *team learning*.

#### **Conceptual Framework**

Maxwell (2005) explained conceptual frameworks as a blend of a researcher's wisdom and experiences. This study's conceptual framework included Jonassen's (2006) modeling using Mindtools for conceptual change and Rosen's (2009) culture of collaboration. These theories were used to build a comprehensive interpretation as to the

value for art education to include a Mindtool (Jonassen, 2006), such as the design of wearable technologies, as well as the benefits perceived to enable learner success. Constructivist-learning environment design as it relates to Mindtools was used to explain the development of collaborative and creative thinking skills when students are engaged with the design of wearable technologies.

To shape an understanding of collaboration, Rosen's theory (2009) on the culture of collaboration was used to categorize the needs facing workforce success. Individuals simultaneously make decisions to solve problems more efficiently (p. 2). Today, information can be gathered, exchanged, and interacted with whenever, wherever, and however desired. The culture of collaboration allows primary source information on demand with analysis of the implications in real-time with others of similar interest.

Rosen's (2009) assumptions on the culture of collaboration and Jonassen's (1996) work on Mindtools highlight technology as a cognitive tool that provides insight into the interpretations of each participant. These theories guided the design of research for this study. Maxwell (2005) cautioned relying too much on relevant literature might sway the analysis of a study. The theories used as a framework for this study helped with the identification of themes and patterns.

#### Jonassen: Mindtools for Conceptual Change

Harvard University's Project Zero researchers suggested that conceptual frameworks based in constructivism are increasingly understood to steer the design of technology-integrated, student-centered learning environments for open-ended problem solving pursuits (Cleaver, 2013). Constructivist-learning environment design was useful in explaining this study's research questions because participants were asked to consider knowledge expanded through connections, inquiries, and reflections. Inquiry frameworks highlight technology as a cognitive tool (Jonassen & Reeves, 1996, p. 700). Jonassen further explained:

Constructivist-learning Environments provide a question or issue, a case, a problem or a project that learners will attempt to solve. Ownership of the problem or learning goal is the key to meaningful learning. Students must be provided with interesting, relevant, and engaging problems to solve. (p. 718)

Multifaceted opportunities to perceive and interpret authenticity support the learning process by actively creating knowledge through integrated experiences. (p. 710). These experiences build knowledge through construction. This study focused on a particular case. The phenomenon Jonassen saw as enabling knowledge construction in a specific context was explored through the design of wearable technologies.

Skill development through problem solving is the objective in designing constructivist-learning environments. These environments are intended for open-ended solutions requiring knowledge gained across multifaceted domains (Reigeluth, 1983, p. 216). Learner engagement toward ownership of a problem is built through relevant interests. The problem should be interesting, relevant, and engaging to foster learner ownership (Jonassen, 1999). The constructivist-learning environment and instructional design should address context, representation, and space to facilitate knowledge construction and meaning making. Cognitive tools that support skill development toward problem solving, modeling, and knowledge building should be included (Hirumi, 2005). The constructivist-learning environment design should offer applicable and easily accessible information. Social conversation and collaboration tools will support discourse in the learning community for knowledge building and sharing.

A constructivist-learning environment design supports learning by modeling performance and cognitive processes. Instructional activities coach learning by providing motivation, monitoring, and reflective opportunities. The constructivist-learning environment design should support knowledge building by adapting to learner level. Five elements were identified to support such instruction from determining a common goal, continual assessment, active and authentic information avenues, communication, to adjustments in responsibility (Puntambekar & Kolodner, 2005). A Scaffolding Connected Knowledge Framework (SCKF) for problem-based learning environments was proposed as supportive to open-ended solution activities (Jacobson, 2008). Another framework was proposed to examine technological scaffolding to aid in problem solving, which included "task understanding and planning, monitoring and regulation, and reflection" (Quintana, Zhang, & Krajcik, 2005, p. 237).

When students apply skills toward decision-making, problem solving, and communication through the design of wearable technologies, collaborative, and creative thinking skills may develop. Embedding electronic programmable components into everyday attire is known as e-textiles, wearable technologies, or smart clothing (Olsson, 2012, p. 6). This merger enables computing, digital components, and electronics to be incorporated through the design of wearable technologies. These e-textiles become intelligent clothing or smart clothing. Examples include touch buttons that are constructed using a sensor and conductive thread, which are then activated to control programmable elements such as LEDs mounted on clothing to form displays (p. 11). Students build knowledge from experiences during the learning, not solely from prior facts.

According to Wagner, when a learner's role is that of designer, tools are utilized effectively for interpretation to support knowledge building (2012, p. 142). "Technologies should not support learning by attempting to instruct the learners, but rather should be used as knowledge construction tools that students learn with, not from" (Jonassen et al., 1998, p. 1). Therefore, to assist learners in interpreting knowledge in a constructivist-learning environment, it is important to offer Mindtools. Jonassen (1999) described Mindtools as "a way of using a computer application program to engage learners in constructive, higher-order, critical thinking about the subjects they are studying" (p. 9). To cope with this problem, this study investigated the design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool for learning, based on the constructivist approach, to determine whether creative thinking and collaborative skills are enhanced by the activity. Design of wearable technologies is an innovative learning activity (Kafai & Peppler, 2011).

The use of several Mindtools such as databases, spreadsheets, computer conferencing, hypermedia construction, and micro world environments have been demonstrated as effective constructivist-learning models (Jonassen et al., 1998). Mindtools have shown effectiveness in some practical applications. The Mindtool of a concept map was used in a study for context-aware knowledge building (Hwang et al., 2011). As stated by Trochim, "concept mapping is a structured process, focused on a topic or construct of interest, involving input from one or more participants, that produces an interpretable pictorial view of their ideas and concepts and how there are interrelated" (2006). This practical application of a Mindtool required visual connecting of knowledge using a computer-based tool to draw. The concept mapping represented a spatial interpretation of idea building from existing knowledge (Jonassen, Beissner, & Yacci, 1993). As noted by Jonassen et al. (1998), a Mindtool can be used to support learners to experience creative thinking necessary for meaningful learning.

Robotics is thought to be an approach to educational technology that fits constructivism. During the process of robotics study, learners explore problems through design, creative thinking, manipulation, reflection, and collaboration (Mikropoulos & Bellou, 2013). Mikropoulos and Bellou think that the educational contribution becomes more effective when an approach to constructivism involves cognitive tools or "Mindtools" as proposed by Jonassen (2000). The Mindtool of robotics engages the learner to build a physical object while problem solving (Chambers & Carbonaro, 2003). Mikropoulos and Bellou found positive learning results from two case studies on physics and programming teaching. Their findings indicate that educational robotics can be used as Mindtools supporting knowledge construction through the design of meaningful authentic projects. In this study of educational robotics as Mindtools, learning is by doing in both the virtual and real world, facing cognitive conflicts and knowledge building by reflection and collaboration. Constructivism is an educational theory that suggests learning is the building of knowledge structures by the learner through interaction with the environment (Jonassen et al., 1998). A key issue coming out of this theoretical stance is that learners learn best when they construct their own knowledge. Jonassen (1998) believed that the opportunities for pedagogic design are far more interesting for the future because emerging technologies have extended opportunities for learning. Opportunities to solve problems are provided and built upon in a constructivist-designed learning environment (1998, p. 215). Authenticity and motivation toward solving a problem is the key to student owned learning.

Jonassen (1996) specialized in taking knowledge from unrelated fields using technology, and in applying it to information being learned. He discussed ways that Mindtools enhance learning to engage interactivity toward willingness to build upon knowledge. Using computers, he transformed constructivism theory to include technology in ways previously considered inconceivable. Constructivism builds upon prior knowledge and experiences. He believed Mindtools enhance collaborative and cooperative efforts in the learning community. Jonassen believed accomplishing this necessitated intertwining instructional design with various instructional technologies. Through his substantial body of learning research, Jonassen believed Mindtools enhance collaborative and cooperative efforts in the learning community, but his studies focused on semantic organization tools (1996, p. 25).

Through the designing of wearable technologies as the Mindtool, collaborative and creative thinking skill development can be explored. Wearable technologies allow for the embedding of built-in electronic programmable components with everyday attire (Hwang, Shi, & Chu, 2011). Emerging technologies involving mobile and wireless devices have opened new opportunities for learning in which students combine their nondigital real-world with digital-world activities. This allows sharing of knowledge or experiences with others through collaborative skill development. These opportunities promote creative thinking.

This study proposed the design of wearable technologies as an innovative Mindtool for learning. Jonassen's (1996) idea of Mindtools guided the design of research questions 1 and 2 to discover how students and teachers perceive development of creative thinking when designing wearable technologies. The concept of Mindtools was used as a guide to develop interview questions to collect data based on inquiry of these research questions. The methodological approach of a qualitative case study allows for the focus to be on the situation rather than on individual experiences.

Creative thinking is associated with interpretation of life experiences in an imaginative way (Zande, 2011). Skill development is accomplished through perception, and manipulation of elements through a problem solving process (Kafai & Peppler, 2011). Creative thinking is developed when a concept is designed in a context that inspires the learner (Steed, 2010). Wearable technology involves reflecting on the manipulation of elements to create a cultural message. The development of creative thinking requires a problem solving process using a combination of technical skill and motivation toward solution. Jonassen (2011) explored problem-based learning environments and found knowledge building required collaborative and creative thinking for problem solving.

Mishra and Henriksen (2012) explored how to rethink technology and creativity in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. In the examination of "in-disciplined learning" (p. 19), they discussed findings and research conducted in the field of creativity. According to their study, "indisciplined learning" occurs when creativity happens in a discipline, or within content. The conclusion supported open-ended, action-oriented instruction that allows students to incorporate technology, creativity, collaboration, and problem solving.

# **Rosen: Culture of Collaboration**

Rosen (2009) concentrated his research on the relationship of culture, environment, and technology to support collaboration. The culture of collaboration dissolves the obstacles of time and space, produces outcomes, and generates value. These benefits require an understanding of the possibilities and the impossibilities of the tools involved. Rosen defined collaboration as "working together to create value while sharing virtual or physical space" (p. 9). It takes a few individuals with a common goal engaging through collaboration to create added value to something (p. 10).

Technological, economic, and cultural trends have changed the ways people collaborate. Rosen explained what he calls rich, real-time collaboration: "Rich, real-time collaboration lets people with a variety of skills and talents in multiple fields and functions come together spontaneously and create value" (2009, p. 22). This is an inherent ability to tap into positive energy that is created by the relationship of the group (p. 70).

Companies today are seeking this shared creation of value. Enhanced value is created when collaboratively designing products concurrently. The economic trend is to search for the best talent at the best price, regardless of geography (Carey, 2008). As organizations explore globalization, the desire to innovate and build value drives the need to collaborate (Fawcett, Jones, & Fawcett, 2012).

Organizations are driven by technology, progress, and the need to share information (Rosen, 2009, p. 7). In this global economy, collaboration is important and an essential norm (Rogers-Brown, 2010). Groups are working synchronously and/or asynchronously, virtually and/or face-to-face on tasks. This is of benefit to the organization as concerns may be resolved more quickly.

A top executive search firm, Egon Zehender (EZI) has internally built crossborder collaboration (Peshawaria, 2011). They eliminated employee competition and encouraged collaboration by not paying any individual selling bonuses or commissions based on fees generated; but rather operated with a single, firm wide, profit center (p. 21). The result of this collaboration effort was effective. During the last decade of economic turmoil, 25 of the largest search firms in the US declined on average by about 30%, whereas EZI's decline was only 7% (p. 22). Furthermore, while the average turnover among partners in the search industry was about 30%, at EZI it was between 2% and 5% (p. 22). Another company, American Express, shows effective collaboration growth as well.

In the 1990's, every employee at American Express was encouraged to work on ideas and projects that could benefit the company in some way with one condition: They had to form a cross-functional team and participate as a team (Peshawaria, 2011). All submitted projects were evaluated each year (p. 22). The company generated numerous process improvements, new revenue or cost-saving opportunities through such selfregulated teams (p. 22). Despite the turmoil during the last decade for the financial industry, both of these companies were proven long-term players. Both attributed a large part of their survival to their strong culture of teamwork and collaboration.

A characteristic of collaboration is the tools used to enable progress. Organizations may utilize collaboration tools, common processes, and systems to reduce geography and time zones barriers. With the expectation of overcoming these obstacles, companies adopt processes, systems, strategies, and tools to enable collaboration. The culture of many organizations does not include collaboration, yet employees are expected to collaborate (Rosen, 2009, p. 3). Effective collaboration can produce many benefits for individuals or organizations. The collaborating group needs a common goal. The group must be made up of people with appropriate skills. Individuals need readily accessible and applicable resources, and an environment conducive to collaboration (Rogers-Brown, 2010).

To solve complex problems, a collaborative diverse group of individuals offers a greater knowledge base of perspectives (Rosen, 2009). Solutions may be seen differently from one individual to the next. Building on collective knowledge, differences are beneficially highlighted through collaboration adding value to a group solution. Bringing people together simultaneously to share spontaneous input solves problems through more efficient decisions (Rosen, 2009). If individuals perceive they belong to collective

knowledge, the likelihood of creating value through a collaborative tool is increased (p. 12).

Anticipating all of the solutions to a problem is not possible due to individual differences in backgrounds, knowledge, and imagination. Wearable technology provides opportunity to innovate on a personal platform. This relates to new kinds of value-added that fulfill individual needs. Rosen (2009) defined the culture of collaboration as "working together to create value while sharing virtual and physical space" (p.9). He explained that collaboration is central to creating wealth. People working collaboratively achieve greater success than individuals working alone.

In a recent international exhibition of "Technosensual," creative thinking for the future was showcased as a collaborative innovation between fashion and technology (NMC, 2013, p. 33). The exhibition brought together a diverse combination of artists and engineers who displayed interactive smart clothing, offering a glimpse into the future of wearable technology (p. 34). Wearable technology has emerged from decades of studies embedded in military, medical, and sports research to inspire the collaborative imaginations of future learners (Berzowska, 2013, p. 171).

Berzowska set up the XS Labs design research studio to concentrate on the emergence of wearable technologies (Berzowska, 2013, p. 171). Interest grew from a concern about the absence of softness in Human Computer Interaction (HCI). Berzowska's aspiration was to explore material properties through the design of physical interfaces. Within a design research environment, innovation often involves the development of new ideas. Material combined with technology steered investigations to new forms and processes (p. 173). This demanded a collaborative approach to fulfill the creative process. The material qualities of constantly emerging components affected knowledge building. This knowledge building brought together research, construction, and design through the development of a culture of collaboration (p. 174).

Skill development and innovation are lacking in learners who find they need better preparation for the future (Partnership for 21<sup>st</sup> Century Skills Framework, 2013). These skills include collaboration. Obtaining diversity, in learning through collaborative efforts builds respect in contexts that increase global awareness (Patterson, Carrillo, & Salinas, 2011). This led to the last two research questions for this study on perceptions about learner collaborative skill development through the design of wearable technology by students and their teachers. Subsequently, the need for collaboration as a learning and innovation skill helped determine interview questions for data collection to this research study.

#### Historical Perspective on Workforce Preparedness and the Nature of Creativity

This is a "visual age" (NAEA, 2010). According to the *New York Times Magazine*, a typical individual sees approximately 5,000 images and advertisements a day in addition to the many hours expended on video games, television, devices, or computers (Story, 2007). "The prevalence of visual images and demand for new abilities is transforming the workplace" (NAEA, 2010, p. 3). Corporate and professional fields are not depending on knowledge based abilities, skills, and degrees; rather, they are seeking aptitudes such as creative thinking, imagination, and collaboration. Sclafani, from the Bush Administration's Department of Education stated, "Corporate leaders in America believe that success is going to depend on a flow of innovative ideas. They [corporate leaders] believe innovative ideas will come because students have the opportunity to engage in the arts" (2010, p. 2). President Obama acknowledged the significance of art education and contends for reinvesting in and revitalizing this attribute of American education for the economy.

The President's Committee on the Arts and Humanities (PCAH) conducted an 18month study to examine art education. Findings arose, from an abundance of data, reinforcing the advantages of art education in preparing students for workforce demands (2011). The research highlighted the abilities necessary for today's global economy and the value corporate leaders place on these skills (p. 29). "In order to effectively compete in a global economy, business leaders are increasingly looking for employees who are creative, collaborative and innovative thinkers" (p. 30). President Obama expressed concern about the future when he indicated that 10 countries have passed the United States in college completion. It is not that other countries have smarter students; it is that these nations are being smarter about how to teach students (U.S. Department of Education, 2010). Art helps to develop skills and tackle imaginative innovative solutions. Today's business successes, such as desired products created by Apple and the most popular search engine, Google, succeed and grow in this economy due to the creative thinking of their collaborative workforce (Tillander, 2011, p. 44).

Leaders in China have acknowledged the value integration of the arts in order to develop creative thinking (Friedman, 2006). Bronson and Merryman (2010) confirmed the education reform happening in China, where they are replacing the "drill and kill

40

teaching style" with problem-based learning approach. This idea has also been recognized as happening across Europe where countries are making creativity a national priority. 2009 was declared "European Year of Creativity and Innovation" (Bronson & Merryman, 2010). The goal was to heighten appreciation for the value of creative thinking toward innovation to promote development and connect ideas (Europa, 2009). The key message was that creativity and innovation contribute to economic prosperity as well as to social and individual wellbeing. One such event was the "Imagine A New World" photo competition (Creativity and Innovation, 2009). Any and all photographers were invited to share an original work expressing their vision of a "new world." This was an opportunity to deliver their own image of what creativity and innovation means to them for the future.

The Obama Administration revealed its version of NCLB in 2010, the *Blueprint for Reform* (U.S. Department of Education, 2010), to mixed reviews. It seemed to promote a more comprehensive education, even placing the idea in context of today's global economy, stating:

Students need a well-rounded education to contribute as citizens in our democracy and to thrive in a global economy – from literacy to mathematics, science, and technology to history, civics, foreign languages, the arts, financial literacy, and other subjects. We will support states, districts, school leaders, and teachers in implementing a more complete education through improved professional development and evidence-based instructional models and supports. (p. 4) Yet, it seems the end result of this blueprint is encouraging of more testing in more subjects more often. Peterson (2010) articulated apprehension that policy energized by "data-drenched obsession" would create learning environments "uninhabitable for young learners and compassionate teachers" (p. 5). As America continues to feed its preoccupation toward testing, other countries test once in elementary, once in middle, and once in high school (Neill, 2010).

The three-year British university model was transformed to a four-year American model in Hong Kong (Gordon, 2012, p. 45). Rather than dictating the added education with specific courses, they highlighted choices through a liberal arts education. The significance of liberal arts education for economic innovation requires consideration of the historical economy based on assembly line thinking in comparison to an economy based on creative thinking. Liberal arts courses are defined as providing information of general cultural concern and being intensely useful to knowledge building. They are academics that are distinct from professional and technical subjects.

Research on college majors in relation to earnings found liberal arts being below most other course concentrations (Gordon, 2012, p. 42). Upon closer inspection, the research showed that while liberal arts subject choices do not usually steer learners straight into high-income jobs, these courses do inspire lifelong learning and professional adaptability – qualities that yield interest long term (p. 42). The liberal arts prompt learners who are encouraged by former successes to develop creative thinking. Learners who develop their creative potential may be more successful and bring distinct value to an organization (p. 47). In another recent study, findings showed that many learners make insignificant cumulative advancement, with the exception being liberal arts students (Arum & Roska, 2011). It was noted by Arum and Roska, "students majoring in traditional liberal arts fields demonstrated significantly higher gains in critical thinking, complex reasoning, and writing skills over time (p. 205)." As liberal arts students show improvement through advanced learning, they are being prepared to change for new demands in economic environments. They tend to be sought after by employees for work that necessitates lifelong learning. With the U.S. unemployment rate at 9% and other countries educational reform efforts showing signs of success, there is a strong financial argument for pursuing liberal arts (Gordon, 2012, p. 42). When discussing the potential value of this choice in education, it is worthy to consider those highlighting its innovative impact, such as Michael Dell, Founder and CEO of Dell, as well as Michael Eisner, CEO of the Walt Disney Company (p. 42).

Jobs and Gates are college dropouts. Each has different thoughts as to the value of their college experiences. Gates' learning experiences at Harvard University included math and computer science but he does not feel the knowledge gained shaped his global perspective (Gates, 2011). Jobs shared his belief that by dropping out of Reid College, he was permitted to "drop in" on courses that impacted his life (Jobs, 2005). These two examples challenge the belief that students select a field as a forecaster to monetary success (Gordon, 2012, p. 44).

The objective of education in a democracy is to prepare caring, sensible, and knowledgeable citizens for future capability. Zande (2011) shared ways that design

education develops skills to help students seek creativity for themselves and collaboration with their community. Zande's findings indicated the discovery of benefits to integrating STEM with the arts through a multidisciplinary environment (p. 27). In Zande's study (2011), learners found significance through the exploration of design because it is an integral component of life. The results of his study implied the development of creative thinking through design guides problem solving. This perspective challenges assumptions about existing knowledge and its connection toward what can be imagined. (p. 33). Results confirmed that knowledge had been expected from multiple avenues to make connections, build quality, and solve problems (p. 29). In contrast, subject-area content is taught in segmented and separate classes. Zande concluded that integrating design helps learners to connect experiences toward more comprehensive knowledge building (p. 33).

Social, as well as aesthetic, viewpoints on experience are significant to educational technology (Hausman, Ploof, Duignan, Brown, & Hostert, 2010). Creating and responding to knowledge becomes a standard practice in the cultures of everyday life. Educators should acknowledge these changes and work collectively to encourage creative thinking and collaboration toward challenges. Collectivity involves consensus on shared objectives for the profession and an understanding of a comprehensive education (p. 4).

Educational technology is more than just the use of computers and devices in schools; it is about using technology for learning (Jonassen, 1996). By seeing a bigger picture of learning and technology, an enticing vision for instructional design can be imagined (Eisenberg, 2010). Designing worthwhile activities for children requires

attention to details in the bigger picture of a successful future. Details provide learners the environment to develop creative thinking and collaboration, and to cultivate lifelong learning. Opportunities can be created that fit into learning environments and engage meaningful interests in student lives.

Rather than inserting technology into the environments where learners have to be, it might be engaging to offer technologies that can be manipulated that inspire imaginative problem solving (Lovell, 2011). Educational technology can weave challenges into learning environments offering customization with innovative learning opportunities. Those pursuing further education in the field of technology should possess a resilient interest toward building attitudes of personal pride through intellectual challenges (Eisenberg, 2010). Learning explorations together with peers has the potential to develop collaborative and creative thinking skills through research, construction, and design (Lovell & Buechley, 2010). Emerging innovations in wearable technologies present an opportunity to reimagine learning for the future.

# Development of Collaborative and Creative Thinking in Other Curricular Areas

The Partnership for 21<sup>st</sup> Century Skills (2010) suggested that students should not only learn math, writing, and reading, but also creativity, collaboration, problem solving, innovation, communication, and critical thinking. Singer, (2011) highlighted the importance of creativity in education, saying:

Education that is not creative and generic, a form of indoctrination that descends mechanically upon everyone subjected to it, initially by the teacher but finally by the pupils whose differences of mentality and potential growth are systematically thwarted or neglected. In contrast, effective learning is basically creative; and the creativity we revere may itself be thought of as an extension and application of the learning process. (p. 61)

To clarify effective learning, a study by Pelfrey (2011) found that when teachers facilitate student choice, inquiry, imagination, and collaboration in a failure-friendly constructivist-learning environment, student creativity is enhanced.

Within the context of a classroom, Waite (2013) studied how creativity is exhibited in children. She believed mathematics needed be thought of as a subject for which all the answers have not already been discovered (2013, p. 5). Instead, it needed to be regarded as an environment from which knowledge has yet to be gained. Waite defined creativity as moments of discovery where knowledge becomes connected (p. 13). The research explains how an inquiry methodology increased creativity and allowed students to explore mathematics from constructivist-learning environment (p. 40). The results suggested a change in thinking about what it means to be mathematical and how students develop skills and gain knowledge (p. 74). The importance of collaboration and context, to the culture of not knowing, is explored. The culture of not knowing is significant to the development of mathematical understanding and confidence in learners (p. 80). Ambiguity, frustration, and perseverance are necessary elements in creative thinking (p. 75)). The findings influence thinking on how knowledge is created from experience. This study suggests creativity in mathematics is possible if students collaboratively use dialogue and reflection to explain how their thinking is changing, or what new things they are discovering about mathematics (p. 91). It was found that

students must develop the attitude that they are in control of their mathematical learning; they are the creators of this knowledge and skill (p. 100).

Another study examined evolving instructional practices that encourage creative and critical thinking in learners (Adams, 2013). The study was created to identify the elements that affect the instruction of creative and critical thinking skills. The mixed method approach highlighted results through environments that further creative and critical thinking that develop collaboration and creativity (p. 8). Teachers recognized the following learning environment factors as being beneficial to creative and critical thinking: experiences that foster learner ownership and personal value; environments that are safe and failure-friendly; and activities where students are engaged in distinct knowledge building constructivism (p. 140). They defined creativity as thinking outside the box, doing something different than expected, going beyond expectations, or putting things together in a new or different way (p. 28). The teachers understood creativity as demonstrating knowledge building in a new way. Adams' study identified the strategies most frequently identified by teachers to encourage creativity as engaging, chosen, collaborative, inquiry, higher level reasoning, constructive and integrated (p. 34). The findings indicated a need for further investigation on the development of creative thinking skills in students (p. 83). Professional development was suggested to involve building teachers' knowledge about creative and critical thinking, and providing practical, proven, easily implemented ideas (p. 143).

Educational robotics was considered to be an approach to educational technology that fits constructivism in a study by Mikropoulos and Bellou (2013). During the design

process of the educational robotics, learners considered problems through creative thinking, construction, collaboration, and reflection. Mikropoulos and Bellou thought that the contribution became more effective when the educational robotics was regarded as cognitive tools or "Mindtools" as proposed by Jonassen (2000). The context of robotics as a Mindtool requires synchronously manipulating components while connecting knowledge for problem solving decisions to accomplish tasks (Chambers & Carbonaro, 2003). The goal of the study by Mikropoulos and Bellou (2013) was to connect educational robotics as constructivist-learning with Mindtools, by highlighting particular Mindtools' characteristics through learning. Findings from this study indicated positive learning results that educational robotics can be used as Mindtools (p. 8). A key characteristic was that learners used design knowledge to connect learning and solve their problems. Educational robotics integrated constructivist principles (p. 5). Results showed learners acquired necessary skills during their project integrating educational robotics (p. 10).

Another study on the constructivist Mindtool of educational robotics used problem-based learning (PBL) as an approach to build knowledge (Savage, Sánchez, O'Donnell, & Tangney, 2003). It examined constructivist-learning environment design, Mindtools as instruments, and learning from collaboration and reflection as a methodology. It was found that student understanding through design evolution of artifacts within a community promoted knowledge building through collaboration and creative thinking (Savage et al., 2003). Student understanding was acknowledged by Norman (1993) who proposed experiential and reflective thinking as a dual approach to learning. Experiential thinking develops from personal experiences when knowledge is demonstrated as reflective. Norman explained that external support builds reflective thinking through a "mental effort to think of and contrast the various courses of action" (1993). Features that describe Mindtools include knowledge depiction, reflection, and external support (Jonassen, 2000). The results of this study using educational robotics as a constructivist Mindtool in knowledge building found that this kind of learning experience offers promising potential to develop collaborative and creative thinking skills (Savage et al., 2003).

## **Collaboration and Creative Thinking Through Art**

The reality of collaborative and creative thinking today is that people across the globe whose paths might never have crossed can weave thoughts together to create unique ideas. Multimedia collaborations are now, and growingly, more possible for individuals to make the most of others' ideas creatively. From generating ideas to financing them, producing content to exploring where to take it next, collaborative and creative thinking is expanding in new and different ways. For everyday functionality, not knowing how something works might be acceptable, yet for educational purposes transparency might be of more benefit to skill development in promoting better understanding of operation and opportunity (Buechley, 2010). Wearable technologies are changing perceptions of what creating a piece involves and taking ideas to places never thought of before.

# **Collaboration Through Art**

Teams of educators are crossing curricula to integrate the arts, particularly through design of technological innovation (Fleischmann & Hutchison, 2012, p. 23). Branching from exploration that focuses on the advantages of multidisciplinary collaboration in the School of Creative Arts at James Cook University, Creative Exchange (2012) integrated a multidisciplinary exercise within a post-secondary learning environment (p. 23). They expanded collaborative engagement within the arts to include non-arts subjects, such as, Information Technology, Business, and Journalism (p. 24). This School of Creative Arts experienced a reinvention of the curriculum. Results highlighted an increase in student preparedness for the challenges and demands of the future workplace.

Fundamental to these changes was the development of new emerging technologies that position learners not only at the heart of new media arts practice, but as adaptable skilled contributors seeking networked relationships, within and external to, creative arts (Fleischmann & Hutchison, 2012, p. 23). In advertising, topic expertise was sought to achieve a shared result. As an idea takes shape and grows toward realization, input is gathered, adding to, forming, and developing the project. Game design and technology integrated art showcases intersections between Information Technology (IT) and the arts. These types of mergers have expanded since emergence of Web 2.0 tools (p. 23). Technological applications, electronics, mathematics, robotics, led installations, and sensors, in relationship with the arts, are used as part of a collaborative interactive dialogue toward future innovation (Ahmed, Camerano, Fortuna, Frasca, & Jaccheri, 2009, p. 580).

However, new workers are often unprepared for team relationships. Their educational experience having supplied them with little empathy for, or understanding of, other professionals with whom they need to collaboratively work (Fleischmann & Hutchison, 2012, p. 24). They are unskilled in collaborative actions of team and group dynamics. This is significant to the configuration of networking based on participant skills and meeting the expectation of evolving industries. New hires are lacking experience as to the benefits of teamwork. Many businesses are listing collaboration, community-minded, and experience with groups, as desirable attributes from graduates, in some cases rating these over subject-directed skills (p. 24).

Within a university environment, across departments and schools, collaboration can be difficult. A recurring concern in literature is the "silo" thinking of disciplines that makes collaboration challenging (Linton, 2009). Research confirmed that arts educators are enthusiastic about collaborative opportunities stretching across disciplines.

For example, the Creative Exchange was the first subject in the School of Creative Arts that was planned fundamentally on the POOL Model, an alternative learning and teaching approach that integrated multidisciplinary collaboration in the arts (Fleischmann & Hutchinson, 2012). Business and community relationships are an integral factor of the learning environment (p. 25). Creative Exchange guided subject learning by engaging students in multidisciplinary collaboration as a component of the curriculum. Groups of learners dialogued thinking across disciplines leading to effectively contributing to their teams. This developed an understanding of professional abilities in other fields (p. 29). As a result, learners are better prepared for their future collaborative work environments. Research is ongoing at the Creative Exchange. Findings continue to be suggestive of high levels of student involvement and appreciation of the skill development toward multidisciplinary collaboration for future success. Future study highlighted a need for collaborative opportunities to be extended (p. 29).

School standards require the arts to merge historical and cultural context, critical analysis, and aesthetic judgment into learning (Green & Kindseth, 2011). A study of the Manchester Craftsmen's Guild (2011) distinguishes student development through arts learning experiences within and outside of school environments. Student appeal for arts continues beyond the school experience through personal exploration. A learner, through working with his art teacher, developed interests in cultures. This student's perception of future potential changed. It was noticed that other learners placed value on this individual's aspiration and passion to learn (p. 339).

Schools aim the outcome of instruction on assessing. In traditional arts education, assessment seeks quantifiable data collected from normative rubrics (Green & Kindseth, 2011, p. 338). The Manchester Craftsmen's Guild study (2011) assessed unquantifiable accounts of uniqueness, community, and personal pride in the art-making processes of its students. The artistic process is specifically favorable to skill development and knowledge connection due to its integration of communication and reflection in context (p. 338). An artistic process is inherently learner-centered. The Manchester Craftsmen's Guild arts program encouraged individualized learning through experiences that

emphasize relationships, and involve learners in their own knowledge building. The arts provided avenues for learners to develop creative thinking, toward a personal sense of action and vision in their lives (p. 339).

Students collaborated with community organizations to create a piece for a public space that engaged the community. The experience included learners in every step of creation. Students made soles of green chalk that would leave temporary traces of paths walked from cultural sites to a gathering place in a public park (Green & Kindseth, 2011, p. 339). From mixing pigmentation into the chalk medium to forming molds and stitching Velcro bands, students faced design choices, discovered solutions, and improved upon skills. For Julia Mandle, a cooperating artist, she witnessed creative thinking from students' collaboration with their community (p. 340).

Such experiences offer transformative opportunities by engaging learners as active participants in a collaborative culture. Their role shifts from that of a student to that of a leader. Leadership happens when learners develop a skill and willingly share the knowledge they gained with others. Harriger, Harriger, Offner, Marrero, and Saysinger (2013) collaborated with businesses to connect STEM learners through competition. The students responded positively. Harriger et al. concluded that these partnerships could result in more students entering STEM related fields.

The existing view of the 21<sup>st</sup> century workforce is of employees expected to innovate by collaborating with other individuals of diverse professions, interests, educational backgrounds, and cultures (Siler, 2011, p. 417). Collaboration requires practiced "interdisciplinary thinking" and "integrative thinking," which connects

knowledge innovatively (p. 418). Established in 1994 at MIT, the ArtScience Program integrated the arts and sciences, applying creative thinking, critical inquiry, problem solving and collaborative skills to learning challenges. Using arts-based tools through hands-on workshops, students learned to create and investigate models. The process connected and transformed knowledge in personally meaningful ways (p. 419). The models served as shared artifacts to help foster a culture of collaborative understanding between learners. Student and teacher perceptions regarding the development of collaboration through design endeavors needs to be explored to better understand how this skill can be enhanced.

## **Creative Thinking Through Art**

For over 50 years, researchers have tried to measure creativity. In the 1960's, Torrance designed the *Torrance Tests of Creative Thinking* (TTCT). Torrance (as cited by Kim, 2002) defined creativity as follows:

[It is] a process of becoming sensitive to problems, deficiencies, gaps in knowledge, missing elements, disharmonies, and so on; identifying the difficulty; searching for solution, making guesses, or formulating hypotheses about the deficiencies; testing and retesting these hypotheses and possibly modifying and retesting them; and finally communicating the results. (p. 3)

He developed this test to measure "fluency, flexibility, originality, and elaboration" (Kim, 2002, p. 3).

McTighe and Seif (2010) reviewed research and found indications that a constructivist-designed learning environment has an influence on creative thinking and

collaborative skill development. McTighe and Seif pointed out that the current focus on high-stakes testing in education has been a factor in the decrease of creative thinking skills. Their conclusion encouraged moving away from this focus to integrate more meaningful learning experiences. They suggested problem-based learning. This would enhance development of skills such as collaboration and creative thinking (p. 150).

Barell (2010) indicated that facilitation of problem-based learning experiences resulted in higher engagement and better inquiries, leading to knowledge connecting. He believed that problem-based learning environments "help our students build upon their intrinsic curiosities about nature and our living, working, playing creating and surviving therein" (p. 197). Barell also suggested the use of technology to enhance problem-based learning and to encourage students to collaborate.

Duffy and Cunningham (1996) maintained that the role of an educator is not to disseminate knowledge, but to offer a learning environment that will support collaborative and creative thinking skill development through problem-based learning. When educators acted as facilitators and offered guidance, Duffy and Cunningham found that the learning experience is transformed for learners and resulted in more meaningful learning. In a case study about nurturing creativity and innovation, Beyers (2010) found that students need engagement that results in a meaningful learning experience to develop collaborative and creative thinking skills. Because problem-based learning is focused on the problem to be solved, Jonassen (2011) argued that content is mastered through problem-based learning and that knowledge is built in and applied. In another study about constructivist-learning environments, Loyens, Rikers, and Schmidt (2009) shared findings of students' perceptions about their problem-based learning environment positively engaging knowledge gaining strategies forming connections. Hung, Jonassen, and Liu (2008) stated that problem-based learning provides learners opportunities to collaborate in failure-friendly environments that require creative thinking. They suggested problem-based learning as a way to improve creative thinking skills and collaboration. A Mindtool can offer ways to provide the type of problem-based learning environment that would help to prepare learners for a future in a workforce that is seeking collaborative and creative thinking skill abilities (2008).

Kafai and Peppler (2011) recently studied learner digital practices in remixing, reworking, and repurposing media designs. They found that digital media offers a networked environment that encourages creative thinking in context (2011, p. 90). It embeds technical skill learning within the design environment (p. 89). Digital media design opportunities are fostering life-long learning through innovative content creating (p. 99).

Creativity and innovation have been listed as desired skills that may require attention toward development in the near future (Kim, 2011). In a study by Kim, data collected on the *Torrance Test of Creative Thinking* from 1966 through 2008 was compared. Results found a decrease in creative thinking skills since 1990, as defined by the *Torrance Creativity Scale*. The No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 placed an emphasis on high-stakes testing in education. This has resulted in a reluctance of educators to design activities for learners to develop skills measured in the *Torrance Test of Creative*  *Thinking* (2011). Exploring student and teacher perceptions on creative thinking skill development through a Mindtool, such as the design of wearable technologies, encourages educational change to enhance life-long learning towards the goal of each learner's future success.

### **Summary**

This chapter included a review of literature related to collaborative and creative thinking through art and other disciplines, as well as an evolution showing a decrease in the development of these skills. Recent attention to standardized testing in education has restricted schools' abilities to include creativity in the curriculum. Based on research, the importance of collaborative and creative thinking was evident as sought after skills in the workforce today. Studies indicated value learned through art as beneficial to the future of economic innovation. It is the skills inherent in the creative thinking process, such as reflecting and collaborating, which are needed for success in careers and in life. Several studies that have focused on teaching collaborative and creative thinking skills cite the need for improved professional development in this area.

This literature inquiry provided an invaluable and deep understanding on the development of collaborative and creative thinking skills resulting in new learning about real-world behavior and its meaning. These results showed a need to encourage art to be reinstated, included, and increased within STEM education. Research supported educators' adoption, implementation, and practice of modeling with technology.

The focus of this study provided research into the design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool for conceptual change to consider its impact on the development of collaborative and creative thinking skills in learners. Knowledge about Mindtools is limited due to the rapid growth of its emerging possibilities. It was found that Mindtools fostered needed skill development through cultures of collaboration. Researchers have also determined that the theory of constructivist-learning environments, which are inherent to Mindtools, helped promote collaborative and creative thinking skills. Stakeholders may use these research findings to plan professional learning driven by the desire to develop collaborative and creative thinking skills in learners.

Wearable technologies are referred to as the integration of devices and related electronics into clothing and accessories (NMC Horizon Report, 2013). This emerging field is growing exponentially, hinting at the potential for knowledge building through design. At the time of this study, no research was identified that examined student and teacher perceptions on collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies.

Collaborative and creative thinking skill development has been difficult to measure. This case study allows exploration of student and teacher perceptions on the development of collaborative and creative thinking skills through the design of wearable technologies. The next chapter details the research design and rationale for this study. This includes description on the role of the researcher, methodology, and issues of trustworthiness.

# Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore student and teacher perceptions on how engagement in digital artistic design of wearable technologies affects collaborative and creative thinking skill development in learners. A large body of knowledge exists indicating employers seek collaborative and creative thinking skills in employees, yet little is known about the value of experiences learners have through the use of Mindtools and how art education contributes to the development of these two areas. A review of the literature produced scholarly studies linking art education in general with collaborative and creative thinking skill development.

This chapter provides a description of the research design and rationale for the chosen approach. The Role of the Researcher is explained in relation to the procedures of data collection and analysis. A Methodology section identifies the participant selection logic, recruitment, and the process for data collection and analysis. A description of appropriate strategies to establish transferability follows under the next section, Issues of Trustworthiness. Dependability, confirmability, and ethical procedures are all addressed before a summary is provided.

# **Research Design and Rationale**

Perceptions from participant experiences are essential for informing educational policy and budgetary consideration in decisions to educate learners for success of future workforce endeavors. A case study approach was selected to build a rich understanding of how the participants perceive the development of collaborative and creative thinking skills through the design of wearable technologies. The concentration of this exploration was on perceptions from both teacher and student experiences on the development of these skills. As such, the role of the researcher was to use knowledge of Mindtools to help understand the participants' perceptions of how they developed collaborative and creative thinking skills through the design of wearable technologies.

Research questions that directed this inquiry were:

- 1. What are students' perceptions regarding the development of creative thinking skills while designing wearable technologies?
- 2. What are teachers' perceptions regarding student development of creative thinking skills through the designing of wearable technologies?
- 3. What are students' perceptions regarding the development of collaborative skills while designing wearable technologies?
- 4. What are teachers' perceptions regarding student development of collaborative skills through the designing of wearable technologies?

A qualitative case study approach was selected for the research design, as outlined by Yin (2011). This design was selected to gather teacher and student perceptions about collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies. Student skill development during a particular course experience was explored. A case study approach allowed for exploration of individual experiences through interactions, relationships, and environment. It supports analysis and the interpretation of particular phenomena (Yin, 2011, p. 6).

This research study developed an in-depth interpretation of a single case set in a real-world context of a classroom in the Rocky Mountain region of the United States. The
intention was to yield an important and deep understanding into the development of collaborative and creative thinking skills resulting in new learning about authentic situations and their impact on knowledge building. This is an empirical exploration about a modern phenomenon set within an authentic context, when the parameters of the experience and environment are new (Yin, 2009, p. 18). Using a qualitative case study approach to the research for this inquiry is consistent with exploring an understanding of how learners approach the work of designing wearable technologies and its influence on collaborative and creative thinking skill development. The research questions from this study required an understanding of relationships in context. The aim was to build an understanding of these relationships that was based on collected perceptions from the participants. Qualitative research explores insights into experiences and environments where there is limited prior knowledge (p. 5). As such, this method was used to provide rich descriptions of the perceptions from respondents about particular issues.

Recognizing possibilities in qualitative case studies involves discerning multiple perceptions (Yin, 1994). Case studies are interpretive research explorations into details and meanings of experiences. The richness is in the detail possible when a small number of cases are analyzed. Various data points in qualitative case studies permit attention to multiple perspectives (Yin, 1994). A case study approach allows for exploration of details and meanings in an experience to determine patterns and themes.

I considered several research paradigms in addition to case study as a possible methodology during the planning phase of this study. These included three qualitative traditions including ethnography, grounded theory, and heuristic inquiry, as well as a quantitative questionnaire. The choice of research approach was based on the purpose of the study, the types of data to be collected, and the focus of the research questions.

Ethnographic research involves investigation into the cultural behavior in groups of individuals to interpret meaning and understanding. Behavior was not a focus of this study. Observation is a major data collection method used in ethnographic studies. It would have been limiting for this study because I was interested in the perceptions of the participants who engaged in the design of a wearable technologies experience (Patton, 2002). Furthermore, this study was not meant to interpret the culture of any group of persons. For these reasons, ethnographic approach for this study would have been limiting.

Grounded theory research is concerned with the formation of a new theory. This methodology utilizes analysis of data to establish findings toward the development of a new theory (Patton, 2002). Creating a theory was not the purpose of this study. Instead the exploration was to interpret and understand the phenomenon being studied and make investigated assertions on collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies as perceived by participants.

Heuristic inquiry is an isolated research approach, discernable by its recognition of a researcher's personal experiences, opinions, and interactions with participants (Patton, 2002). Using a heuristic method a researcher will become "one" with the subject matter and circumstances, and is a participant in the experience(s) (Patton, 2002). A heuristic research approach encounters frequent threats to bias and validity that need to be expertly countered and alleviated. This level of expertise requires a more seasoned researcher. Heuristic researchers typically have more experience. A heuristic investigation "is characterized by the personal role of the researcher with the participants being studied" (Patton, 2002). A heuristic inquiry could have met the goals of this study if I had chosen to conduct a workshop in this area. As this would not have occurred within a curricular setting this choice was rejected. Attentive research toward the discovery of the significance and meaning of phenomena is a heuristic inquiry (Patton, 2002, p. 107). As this study sought to understand skill development through the design of wearable technologies integrated within existing curricular opportunities, a heuristic research approach would be obtrusive and too difficult to control biases, and was rejected.

A quantitative questionnaire was considered as an approach to data collection for this study, but was rejected as unsuitable. While a questionnaire provides the advantage of reducing a researcher's bias (Singleton & Straits, 1999, p. 205), it would be more difficult for further probing of the proposed research questions as clarification would not be an immediate option. A questionnaire was not selected because it would necessitate the use of variables taken from existing theory to investigate a hypothesis. A single theory did not exist to make testing a hypothesis possible in this study. Utilizing a questionnaire would also not yield the rich data required to analyze perceived development of collaborative and creative thinking skills through the design of wearable technologies. The design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool is new and there was the need to explore the outcomes of this experience in order to understand its value beyond the art experience. The researcher needed to learn from participants' experiences in order to represent their perceptions. Also, with the use of a quantitative questionnaire, data would have to be acknowledged at face value, as there would be no opportunity to review (Nachmias & Nachmias, 1987).

The method selected for this inquiry was case study. Yin (1994) defined case study as "an empirical inquiry that investigates a contemporary phenomenon within its real-life context, especially when the boundaries between phenomenon and context are not clearly evident...[and] relies on multiple sources of evidence" (p. 13). Case study was favored to ethnography, grounded theory, heuristic inquiry, and a quantitative questionnaire survey in relation to the purpose of this study and the type of data necessary for analysis. Case study permits a dynamic study of a phenomenon from a broader scope restricted by time, events, activities and/or individuals. This qualitative approach is rich in detail and pulls information from multiple sources (Yin, 1994). Case study is a method most suited for the investigation of a selected context (Trochim, 2006), because it relies on various points of data to develop a comprehensive interpretation of what is being researched (Jacelon & O'Dell, 2005). Science, Technology, Engineering, and Math (STEM) are gaining as an initiative in educational institutions across the United States. By narrowing this study the potential data that could be collected would be limited. A case study is an appropriate research approach where the questions that guide the investigation are about the content and context of the experience (Tellis, 1997).

## **Role of the Researcher**

I first obtained a letter of cooperation to carry out the study from a university department located in the Rocky Mountain region of the United States (see Appendix B).

I next obtained approval from the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) prior to approaching participants. Upon receipt of IRB approval (# 03-21-14-0162090), a teacher was contacted about participating in the study (Appendix C) sharing the scope of the study to acquire informed consent. Once a signed consent form (Appendix D) was received from a teacher, students were contacted about participating in the study (Appendix E). The scope of the study was shared with each student to acquire informed consent (Appendix E). The scope of the study was shared with each student to acquire informed consent (Appendix F). Next, Skype or telephone audio-recorded interviews were arranged at convenient times. Interview questions provided data for collection on the perceptions from each participant. Interviews were structured to encourage a natural flow and provide participants time to consider their thoughts (Smith, Flowers, & Larkin, 2009).

Prior to the initiation of each audio-recorded Skype or telephone interview, rapport was established through casual conversation to ease any anxiety and reassure participants to feel comfortable talking about their experience (Smith et al., 2009). To minimize bias as an educational technology specialist, bracketing of thoughts throughout the data collection process occurred. Bracketing is used to note biases and refer to them throughout a study (Van Manen, 1990). The role of the researcher was to interview and ask follow-up questions about participants' perceived development of collaborative and creative thinking skills through the design of wearable technologies.

The analysis of the three separate audio-recorded Skype or telephone interviews required detailed coding and interpreting of data. By bracketing thoughts throughout the data collection process, this minimized inaccurate findings as the research evolved (Fischer, 2009). Participants were provided with questions in advance to give time to reflect upon their experiences (Patton, 2002; Van Manen, 1990) and to build transparency (Smith et al., 2009). Public record information on my position as an educator and my affiliations within education were available to participants.

#### Methodology

This section identifies the sampling strategy and provides a rationale for its selection logic. Procedural description for data collection through interviewing of participants is included. Connection of data to specific research questions is shared. Additional information to build credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability follow to allow for duplication of this study. A comprehensive data analysis plan concludes this section.

Data collection includes audio-recorded Skype or telephone teacher and student interviews, and audio-recorded Skype or telephone follow-up teacher interviews based upon analysis of initial data collection from all participants. The method of data analysis includes descriptors of collaborative and creative thinking skill development. The data collection for this study was determined by the need to analyze responses within the conceptual framework. Such an analysis requires comparison across participants to isolate patterns and be able to observe links between them. This study sought to elaborate on the contextual influences on relations observed, explore relevant associations, and provide for the emergence of connections. Therefore, the collection of responses on the questions of interest was necessary, and also that data be collected across a range within the organization. Analysis involved selections from the transcripts of the three sets of audio-recorded Skype or telephone interviews to validate findings.

Through constant comparisons from this collected data, rich themes and patterns were developed providing a code scheme for the analysis of data (Yin, 2011). Immersion into the data collected produced initial findings of important concepts (p. 143). Big idea perceptions about collaborative and creative thinking skill development were grouped. These constant comparisons led to the initial codes (Glaser & Strauss, 1967). Data immersion sought to reach saturation, where no additional meanings or insights emerge. Ideas were derived from the data in abstraction through this iterative nature of explanation building (Yin, 2011, p. 143). Initial codes were further grouped with similar ideas to form categories. These categories and codes were "compared and contrasted" to develop new insights, forming additional codes. This gradual building of an explanation was akin to the process of refining a set of ideas. The organization of data collected helped explain how learner skill in these two areas develops. Investigations required initial audio-recorded Skype or telephone teacher and student interviews, and additional audio-recorded Skype or telephone follow-up teacher interviews based on the analysis of accumulated responses and reflections.

## **Participant Selection Logic**

Teachers and students of a wearable design technology integrated curricular component in education were purposively selected for this study. "To uncover the meaning of a phenomenon, individuals who have experienced the event must be included in a study and carefully interviewed to allow meaning to surface" (Van Manen, 1990, p. 30). Selecting participants using predefined logic, while ensuring their confidence by protecting rights, are both equally important to consider (Moustakas, 1994).

Participation in this study was voluntary. Participants were interviewed at a convenient agreed upon time outside of school hours via audio-recorded Skype or telephone. To ensure analysis validity from collected perceptions, teacher participants were asked follow-up questions. For the teacher follow-up interviews, audio-recorded Skype or telephone was again used. Participants who have experienced a wearable design technology integrated curricular component in education from teachers in the Rocky Mountain region were selected. Each student participant was selected from a class roster provided by the course facilitator. Smith et al. (2009) recommended a sampling of three participants to collect relevant data for analysis by beginning researchers. This suggestion offered a basis from which to determine an appropriate number for this study. A minimum of 3 and a maximum of 10 participants was the chosen sampling to ensure depth and detail of data collection. Reasoning for the selection logic was justified by the availability of participants, quality assurance for data analysis, and considerations of participation willingness.

To ensure quality and depth of collected perceptions for analysis, each participant interview was attentively interpreted. Participant familiarity and sufficient homogeneity within the study was assured by following predetermined selection criteria and the conceptual framework (Miles & Huberman, 1994, p. 27). The details obtained from researcher analysis of initial interviewing, followed up by further clarifying and probing,

68

increase transferability of the findings to suggest the design of wearable technologies for collaborative and creative thinking skill development in educational curricula.

## Instrumentation

The audio recording of three sets of Skype or telephone interviews provided the primary source of data collection: teachers, students, and teacher follow-up interviews. A "semi-structured flexible interview protocol" (Appendix G) was used (Smith et al., 2009, p. 80). The participants were asked related follow-up questions to all responses. The initial audio-recorded Skype or telephone interviews lasted approximately 30-45 minutes each, depending on the comfort of each participant. Rapport was established before beginning the actual questioning. The interviews were "structured to provide the interviewee with sufficient time to answer questions and expand upon them when prompted by the interviewer" (Smith et al., 2009, p. 80). The audio-recorded Skype or telephone teacher follow-up interviews were shorter in time as the additional questioning was framed by the initially collected data.

## Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

Data were collected through audio-recorded Skype or telephone interviews with each participant outside of school hours. Teacher participants had an audio-recorded Skype or telephone follow-up interview based on researcher analysis of all initial responses. Data collection through audio recordings using Skype or telephone was conducted over the course of seven weeks. A Confidentiality Agreement (Appendix H) to transcribe recordings was provided by the professional transcriptionist service. After the initial recordings were transcribed, the transcripts were checked for accuracy, verified line-by-line by listening to each audio file while coding. The teacher participants were contacted for follow-up questioning based on initial analysis of collected responses. No interviews were scheduled for more than 45 minutes unless a participant requested additional time. Participant comfort was respected to foster detailed sharing of perceptions. This provided greater depth for analysis of their experiences. Interviews were audio recorded using Skype or telephone and QuickTime Player and then transcribed verbatim.

The potential participant population was narrow due to the recent emergence of wearable technologies into educational curricula. If less than three participants could be interviewed, the study would have to consider using outside course participants who have experienced wearable technology design in a group learning scenario. Although participants outside of an educational curricular wearable technologies course boundaries were not the focus of this study, their perceptions could add deeper understanding into collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies. All of the participants had been involved in an integrated curricular experience on the design of a wearable technology.

Upon reaching the exit point for each interview, individuals were thanked for their willingness to participate in the study and also reminded of their right to withdraw at any time. Contact information as presented on the Consent Form (Appendix D, F) was readdressed with each participant.

## **Data Analysis Plan**

Data were analyzed at two levels. At the first level, the initial student and teacher interviews were coded for each case, and then categories were constructed from these codes. A process of line-by-line coding, recommended by Charmaz (2006), was followed to remain immersed within the data. The process of line-by-line coding involved naming each line and provided focused insight regarding details (2006).

At the second level, data were examined across the student and teacher interviews to determine emerging themes and discrepant cases. Key findings were developed from these themes and discrepancies. These findings were presented in relation to the research questions for this study.

## **Interview Questions**

# Research Question 1: What are students' perceptions regarding the development of creative thinking while designing wearable technologies?

Student Interview Questions

- What do you think creative thinking means?
- How did your creative thinking change as you moved through the design of your wearable technology?
- How did creative thinking influence the design of your wearable technology?
- How do you think creative thinking is learned?
- Is there anything I have not asked you that you feel is important to add to our conversation about the designing of your wearable technology?

## Research Question 2: What are teachers' perceptions regarding student

development of creative thinking skills through the designing of wearable

## technologies?

## Initial Teacher Interview Questions

- How would you define creative thinking?
- What evidence of creative thinking did you see in the students while they were designing wearable technologies?
- How did the students' creative thinking change as they moved through the designing of wearable technologies?
- How did the development of creative thinking affect the students' designing of wearable technologies?
- How do you think creative thinking is developed?
- Is there anything I have not asked you that you feel is important to add to our conversation about the students' designing of wearable technologies?

Research Question 3: What are students' perceptions regarding the development of collaborative skills while designing wearable technologies?

Student Interview Questions

- What do you think collaboration means?
- How did your collaboration change as you moved through the design of your wearable technology?
- How did collaboration influence the design of your wearable technology?

- How did your collaboration with others help or hinder the designing of wearable technologies?
- How do you think collaboration is learned?
- Is there anything I have not asked you that you feel is important to add to our conversation about the designing of your wearable technology?

**Research Question 4: What are teachers' perceptions regarding student** 

## development of collaborative skills through the designing of wearable technologies?

Initial Teacher Interview Questions

- How would you define collaboration?
- What evidence of collaboration did you see in the students while they were designing wearable technologies?
- How did the students' collaborative abilities change as they moved through the designing of wearable technologies?
- How did the development of collaboration affect the students' designing of wearable technologies?
- How do you think collaboration is developed?
- Is there anything I have not asked you that you feel is important to add to our conversation about the students' designing of wearable technologies?

## **Teacher Follow-up Interview Questions**

Research Question 1: What are students' perceptions regarding the development of

## creative thinking while designing wearable technologies?

When I examined all of the student interviews I discovered that

• Students shared thoughts about creativity as having developed at home or through academic experiences. Where did you see your students' creativity coming more from, academic knowledge or extracurricular knowledge? Why?

Research Question 2: What are teachers' perceptions regarding student development of creative thinking skills through the designing of wearable technologies?

- Did you see participants from particular colleges/domains as showing/having more creative thinking tendencies over the duration of the course?
- The syllabus suggested, thinking creatively, taking risks, and doing something new. Can you share examples of how students making "hybrid creations that cross domains" showcased these suggestions?

Research Question 3: What are students' perceptions regarding the development of collaborative skills while designing wearable technologies?

When I examined all of the student interviews I discovered that

• Students shared about your encouragement of learning avenues for finding help. Can you share some examples of how far you saw that extended?

Research Question 4: What are teachers' perceptions regarding student

development of collaborative skills through the designing of wearable technologies?

• Did you see participants from particular colleges/domains as showing/having

more collaboration tendencies over the duration of the course?

- Did you feel there was more collaboration regarding the technology knowledge building or craft knowledge building domain of the learning?
- What differences could you see in the development of collaboration in students between the two course offerings because of the additional recruitment outside of your own department?
- Looking at the syllabus, a question was asked in the introduction. "Why are computing-related professions among the least diverse in society?" How do you think your course addressed this issue?

## Coding

The audio recordings were transcribed and coded following the educational institution's Staff and Student Rights and Responsibilities Code that protects the rights of individual students and employees in regards to educational records. "Verbatim transcription provides a way for the researcher to interpret the words of the participant outside the context of the interview, while also facilitating the process of coding" (Smith et al., 2009, p. 100). To enhance interpretation of the experiences, "raw data were coded as each transcript is read to let the themes emerge" (Miles & Huberman, 1994, p. 11). The coding process required reading and re-reading of a transcript, initial noting from individual participant data, developing emergent themes from perceptions, searching for connections across themes, and repeating these steps with next transcripts (Smith et al., 2009).

Microsoft Office Suite was used to manage and code the collected data for analysis. This comprehensive tool offered convenience to review or audit findings. Several layers of coding within multiple categories were permitted, subsequently allowing theme and pattern representation of the data to be generated. This tool supported the data analysis process.

Conspicuous information that would identify the participants was removed to further ensure confidentiality. To provide support to educational policy decision makers, certain information obtained through inquiry may be relevant to current initiatives. Findings and interpretations of the data analysis were shared with stakeholders. The results were shared according to ethical research procedures, respectful of the confidentiality and trust of the participants.

## **Discrepant Cases**

As themes emerged and connections began to form, data that was significantly different from other participants' perceptions was used in contrast and as a way to broaden the perspective of collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies. "Discrepant cases were identified and explored through the follow-up interviews as a way to check for possible bias" (Maxwell, 2005, p. 244). The discrepant information helped form the follow-up questions with the teachers to aid in creating a broader understanding of the perceptions on collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of the sign of the study.

#### **Issues of Trustworthiness**

This section addresses credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability of this study. In addition, the ethical procedures for the treatment of participants and their rights are discussed. Following is a summary of all the elements for qualitative research in regards to the study of student and teacher perceptions on collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies.

## Credibility

Data from each participant were explored to reveal a rich understanding of his or her perceptions. Through the depth of detail, internal validity was enhanced (Miles & Huberman, 1994) as each transcript was examined (Maxwell, 2005). To enhance the validity of the researcher's interpretation, the collected data were triangulated. Moustakas (1994) suggested participant information be reviewed and probed further to clarify and validate the data. "Each participant may also feel more valued by being provided with the opportunity to be an active part of the research process" (p. 110). The credibility of the study was increased by teacher participant opportunity to clarify initial analysis through follow-up interviewing.

Triangulation occurred through the compilation of personal perceptions from each participant interview, the multiple perceptions of two types of participants, and the inclusion of follow-up teacher interviews based on researcher analyzed initial responses from all participants. The inclusion of multiple data sources enabled each participant's responses to be confirmed in different contexts and at different times.

## Transferability

Yin (2009) argued that transferability is contingent on the conceptual framework of the case study research rather than the quantity of cases. Yin noted replication could be achieved with only a few cases. Merriam (2009) suggested several strategies to enhance transferability of a qualitative study: (a) thick description, (b) maximum variation in the sample, and (c) generally characteristic of the sample.

A strategy to enhance the transferability of this study was the use of rich, thick description. This type of description was used to find rich themes that provided insight to others. To increase transferability, individual participant data were explored and described to add depth of understanding. As themes and commonalities were identified, data were explained within the context of the individual responses and in contrast to other participants' perceptions within the study. If a theme emerged describing a preconceived idea of influence to a participant in perceiving collaborative and/or creative thinking skill development that contrasted pointedly from other data collected, contextualization within the selected participant interview offered connection of emerging themes in a meaningful manner (Smith et al., 2009).

## Dependability

Dependability was enhanced through triangulation and verbatim transcription. Accurate records of procedural dates and times, with any additional details, were maintained. This increased transparency and possible duplication of study. The secure access and use of Microsoft Office Suite, for managing and coding of data, added to the integrity of the study.

## Confirmability

According to Lincoln and Guba (1985), "confirmability is similar to objectivity in that the outcomes of an investigation are not the result of a researcher's biases and are instead informed by the context of the research" (p. 124). Bracketing of researcher thoughts pertaining to collection of data during interviews ensured confirmability. These collected thoughts were reviewed during the coding. By using a repetitive process for analysis of all collected data, findings were informed by the perceived experiences of each participant.

## **Ethical Procedures**

The Rocky Mountain region state educational institution approved access to the participants. A Letter of Cooperation (Appendix B) was obtained from the department head giving permission to conduct this study. IRB approval was obtained prior to collecting data for the study (# 03-21-14-0162090). Potential participants were screened by contacting their teacher from the shared course on design of wearable technologies.

Teachers were purposively selected and invited (Appendix C) to participate in the study. They were asked to sign a Consent Form (Appendix D) addressing the study and their part in the research, should they wish to participate. Teachers received a copy of their signed Consent Form, which included the scope of the study and contact information.

Students were invited to participate in the study (Appendix E). These students were informed of their rights and asked to sign a Consent Form (Appendix F). Each student received a copy of his or her signed Consent Form, which included the scope of the study and contact information. Student Consent Form responses were collected and participants purposively selected from the collection. If a student wished to withdraw from the study before or during data collection, another purposively selected student from the Consent Form responses, if available, was added.

All data were collected and analyzed within Microsoft Office Suite. Upon completion of research, information was stored digitally in a secured file on a separate drive accessed through a password protected computer and on a USB drive backup copy that is locked in a filing cabinet in my home. The professional transcriptionist provided a Letter of Confidentiality (Appendix H) and assured that all data will be returned after transcription. Any and all paper records produced during data analysis were shredded. All Consent Forms were kept digitally in the secure file on the separate drive accessed through a password protected computer and on a USB drive backup copy that is locked in a filing cabinet in my home. There will be no additional access to the data, and all the files will be deleted and destroyed after 5 years.

#### Summary

Qualitative research credibility throughout the inquiry was established and maintained through rigor and meticulous attention to detail. In order to allow researchers to build upon this work further, the research protocols were managed and followed throughout this study. This was a case study exploring student and teacher perceptions of collaborative and creative thinking skill development through e-textile activities. Teachers and students were interviewed to determine their perceptions on the development of collaborative and creative thinking skills through the design of wearable technologies. The experiences and perceptions of the participants were the core of this study, inclusion of their ideas and reflections enhanced understanding of collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies. Chapter 4 will include a comprehensive analysis of each participant's perceptions and the results from the study related to each research question.

#### Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to understand teacher and student perceptions regarding the development of collaborative and creative thinking skills through the design of wearable technologies. This study explored personal experiences with e-textiles within a curricular setting. In order to develop an understanding of the shared experiences from the participants, the responses from each participant were explored using a conceptual framework based on Jonassen's (1996) modeling using Mindtools for conceptual change, Rosen's (2009) culture of collaboration, and the following research questions:

- 1. What are students' perceptions regarding the development of creative thinking skills while designing wearable technologies?
- 2. What are teachers' perceptions regarding student development of creative thinking skills through the designing of wearable technologies?
- 3. What are students' perceptions regarding the development of collaborative skills while designing wearable technologies?
- 4. What are teachers' perceptions regarding student development of collaborative skills through the designing of wearable technologies?

Conceptual frameworks supportive of constructivism suggest using student-centered, technology-supported, problem-based learning environments with open-ended solutions for knowledge building. Jonassen's (1996) modeling using Mindtools for conceptual change supported creative thinking through the design of wearable technology as a Mindtool. As part of the conceptual framework, this was useful in explaining the research questions because participants considered knowledge expanded through connections, inquiry, and reflection in spite of institutional challenges and opportunities. To shape an understanding of collaboration, Rosen's (2009) theory on the culture of collaboration was used to categorize the needs facing workforce success. Rosen's assumptions on the culture of collaboration and Jonassen's work on Mindtools highlight technology as a cognitive tool that provides insight into the interpretations of each participant.

Chapter 4 includes sections describing Setting, Demographics, Data Collection, Data Analysis, Evidence of Trustworthiness, Results by Research Question, and Summary of the Data. Results by Research Question are organized by the determined themes from inquiry focusing on student or teacher perceptions. The open-ended inquiries outlined themes on collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies.

#### Setting

I conducted all of the interviews for this study using Skype or telephone calls from a private location in my home using a password-protected secure desktop computer. The interview participants were in quiet secluded locations, and the audio from these calls was recorded with QuickTime Player. Three students and one teacher responded to the invitation with their consent to be contacted for interviewing via Skype or telephone. A total of five interviews were conducted over the course of seven weeks with three of them being student interviews, one teacher interview, and one follow-up interview with the teacher. While these participants were willing to provide data to the study, they also had personal and school responsibilities that made scheduling convenient interviews a challenge. The interviews were scheduled on evenings, weekends, and during nonacademic times.

The interview times were arranged at the participants' convenience, with one student selecting Skype on a Saturday morning. Another student scheduled a Tuesday evening Skype call. The third student arranged for a Thursday midday telephone call. The teacher initial interview was recorded midday on a Tuesday via Skype. The follow-up teacher interview took place on a Thursday evening after being rescheduled from earlier that morning. The student interview that took place on a Tuesday evening was a reschedule from a missed chosen time the Sunday evening before. All participants were interviewed independently in order to elicit personal perceptions without any influence or knowledge of the others. Participants were each in a quiet secluded location where they were free to talk. Each seemed willing and eager to share their experiences for the study. Comfort and confidentiality were always a priority for each interview.

I followed my interview protocol (Appendix G) for each data collection opportunity. I used my home desktop computer to eliminate distractions and disturbances, where the interviews could not be overheard. The first interview participant on Saturday morning received an incoming call after 30 minutes, electing to mute our conversation for a few moments. The offer to continue another time was presented but turned down. Upon his return to our interview, I indicated that the time allotted was reached with an invitation to wrap up or continue. He eagerly chose to continue, saying that he was enjoying sharing for my study. At this point, he located his final reflection paper for the course and voluntarily sent the file through Skype. He felt this would provide a fuller picture for data collection than just the interview. This artifact was unexpected, but provided an additional data detail for depth of analysis and review.

The initial teacher interview on Tuesday morning was next and occurred without interruption. A course syllabus was voluntarily shared as an additional data artifact to enhance depth of analysis and review also. A second student interview followed that Tuesday evening, having been rescheduled from the originally arranged time Sunday evening. Early on during our time, this student posted a link in Skype to her course reflection blog as a voluntary artifact to better contribute toward the interview questions. This interview was interrupted by her FaceTime application ringing about a half an hour into the interview. The offer to continue another time was presented but turned down. The other call went unanswered and she continued sharing in response to the interview questions. Indication of the time allotted was reached with an invitation to wrap up or continue. She wished to continue also saying our time was enjoyable. Her artifact was unexpected as well, but also provided more additional data detail for depth of analysis and review.

A third student interview took place midday on a Thursday, via telephone. After first attempting to contact her on my phone with no success, I sent a text indicating my name so she would associate the phone number with my call. She then phoned me to apologize for not being in an area with good cell reception. Once she was settled in a quiet location, we proceeded with the interview. There were no interruptions.

The follow-up teacher interview was that same Thursday but in the evening. Our originally scheduled Skype call earlier that day went unanswered. Following up via an

email and a voice message to her office prompted a new time and telephone number for the evening. The teacher connected with me from within a coffee shop. This follow-up teacher interview was shorter as its purpose was to clarify and probe further from all the initial interview interpretations. This interview took less than half an hour.

My research process focused on the rich detail of experiences provided by participants through the initial interviewing. The follow-up interview conducted with a teacher clarified interpreted results from the initial data collection analysis. Additional artifacts were voluntarily offered by some participants and contributed to the understanding and interpretation of results. The themes that surfaced reflect the personal perceptions of the participant experiences on collaborative and creative thinking skill development when students are engaged in the design of wearable technologies.

## **Demographics**

The selected population for this study was a sample of two teachers and eight students who participated in a wearable technology-integrated curriculum in a Rocky Mountain state in the United States. Four participants were recruited from a state educational institution in this region. Data for analysis were based on experiences and not on individuals or groups. Therefore, seeking further participants from alternative environments was unnecessary. Smith et al. (2009) recommended a sampling of three participants to collect relevant data for analysis by beginning researchers. This suggestion offered a basis from which to determine the appropriate number for this study. A minimum of 3 and a maximum of 10 participants was the chosen sampling to ensure depth and detail of data collection. Reasoning for the selection logic was justified by the availability of participants, quality assurance for data analysis, and considerations of participation willingness.

Each of the three global editions of the New Media Consortium Horizon Report (2013) – higher education, K-12 education, and museum education – emphasizes six emerging technologies expected to find mainstream use over the next 5 years. On this list of emerging technologies, set at 4 or 5 years away, is wearable technology (p. 5). An increasing array of wearable technology has become available, hinting at the potential for teaching and learning, though there remains to be seen many concrete education examples (p. 6).

The Rocky Mountain Region state educational institution department head agreed to serve as a community partner for the study to identify potential participants from their organization for interview consideration. The teacher participant provided potential student candidates to consider for data collection. Participants were purposively chosen through the selection criteria, and an email invitation was sent. "To uncover the meaning of a phenomenon, individuals who have experienced the event must be included in a study and carefully interviewed to allow meaning to surface" (Van Manen, 1990, p. 30).

The names of participants were coded to prevent identification. The three student participants were coded as S followed by a number. The teacher participant was coded as T followed by a number. For confidentiality, gender obvious pseudonyms beginning with the letter S were used for student participants (Sally, Sarah, and Scott), and the letter T for the teacher participant (Tiffany).

The first student interviewee was a male college student in a communications

program. The second student interviewee was a female college student in an instructional technology program. The third student interviewee was a female art major college student. The teacher was a college professor in the instructional technologies and learning sciences department.

## **Data Collection**

A case study on perceived collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies with teachers and students was undertaken. Constructivism with Mindtools (Jonassen, 2005) and the culture of collaboration (Rosen, 2009) provided a conceptual framework for this study and were the foundations for the analysis of skill development. The research included Skype or telephone audio-recorded interviews as a data collection technique. Additional data were provided when participants voluntarily shared additional artifacts of wearable art-technology that demonstrated collaboration and creative thinking.

After the selection process, potential participants were emailed an invitation to participate in the study including an introduction of the research scope. Contact was initiated via email, as this form of contact was made available by the cooperating educational institution department. I collected data from one teacher and three students for this study over seven weeks in the form of interviews. A copy of the Consent Form (Appendix D, F) was emailed to each participant for review and consent before interview scheduling. I obtained permission from each participant via email CONSENT responses prior to arranging for interviewing. In my initial interviewing, I discussed and reviewed the Consent Form with each participant. Once consents were collected, arrangements for the interviews were determined Arrangements included agreeing upon a date, time, and method of communication at the convenience of the participants. The researcher sent reminders of the agreed arrangement to participants to help keep the appointment in focus. Participants were busy people, and reminders helped check on the status of the appointment. Reminders of the agreed arrangements allowed for prompt rescheduling if circumstances changed. Expressing a willingness to cooperate built a trust with participants.

The purpose of the study and a brief profile of the researcher were primary interests of the participants. Participants agreed with the value of the study and were willing to share their experiences. The initial interviews and teacher follow-up interview were semi-structured with open-ended questions. Questions prepared in advance guided the interviews. The prepared questions were then adapted for clarification and further information depending on the responses from the participant being interviewed. QuickTime Player Audio Recording was used to capture the interview, and a printed copy of the interview questions was used for note-taking to ensure each interview was captured accurately. Researcher notes were kept throughout data collection to remember thoughts as the study progressed. Validation of the findings was enhanced through analysis of multiple sources of data. Rich, thick description emerged. Confidentiality of information shared for use with this study was assured to each participant. Two of the three student participants and the teacher voluntarily contributed additional artifacts to enhance understanding of the data collected. These included a syllabus, a blog, and a final paper. Each was asked if there was anything else they would like to share pertaining to their experiences with the design of wearable technologies and they all felt the recorded responses and offered artifacts were sufficient. At the end of each interview, the audio was reviewed, additional notes taken, and the recordings were reviewed to determine if the audio was clear for transcription.

For the initial interviews, a printed copy of the Interview Protocol was used to keep notes of any feelings or thoughts in the margins during the course of data collection. After each interview, the recordings were listened to with any additional notes being added to the margins of the printed copy of the Interview Protocol. The files were then transferred from the password-protected computer to a password protected external storage device. Once the files were transferred, they were uploaded to the transcription service through a secure connection. The transcription service had a turnaround time of 2 to 3 business days after which they emailed the text file(s). Automatic Sync Technologies was chosen to transcribe recordings. A Confidentiality Agreement (Appendix H) was provided by this professional transcriptionist service.

Upon receipt of each transcript, the text files were reviewed against the original recordings to ensure the accuracy. The teacher interview was deemed inaudible by the transcription service and returned. Researcher review of the original audio file found it as clearly audible. Therefore, the researcher completed a transcription of the teacher interview. Each audio recording was listened to while reading the transcript to ensure accurate transcription. Initial coding followed this review. The initial interviews were coded to identify areas for further probing and clarification in teacher follow-up interviews.

The teacher follow-up interview questions were chosen to add richness and depth to the detail and as a way to add validity to the interpretations and themes from the student interviews and the initial teacher interview. The teacher follow-up interview began with a review of interpretations from the initial interviews. The teacher participant provided additional follow-up feedback, which helped to refine the data analysis further.

## **Data Analysis**

The findings in this chapter consist of an analysis of three sets of data: initial teacher and student interviews, and a teacher follow-up interview. Participants' volunteered offerings of additional artifacts were also included in the data analysis. Among these were a reflective blog, a final review paper, and a syllabus. All of these primary documents were grouped according to each participant level. For each document, the selections were read and coded for the two broad categories that related to the research questions, creative thinking and collaboration. This process gave a structure to determine themes and patterns through a second reading of the transcripts. Additional notes were made during the second reading. Personal quotes and artifact details highlighted the captured perceptions of the experiences. As coding continued, recurring perceptions helped determined themes for each research question. Quotations from the transcriptions were preliminarily sorted within these determined themes. The highlighted personal quotes and artifact details were used to enrich interpretations of the themes and patterns discovered during data analysis. To review my note taking from the initial interviews, the audio recordings of the participants were listened to while reading the transcripts as a way to contextualize all the parts as a whole. This initial interpretation

helped form the interview questions for the follow-up teacher interview. A multifaceted examination ensued of collected data derived from all interviews and artifacts.

Themes and patterns began to emerge during the second review of all the collected data. Additional note taking in the margins of any feelings and thoughts associated with any participant or verbalization was continued. At the second level, data were examined across the student and teacher interviews, and the additional artifacts to determine emerging themes and discrepant cases. Key findings were developed from this examination. These findings were presented in relation to the research questions for this study. The subsequently determined themes and patterns were then organized under each research question in the following section.

As themes emerged, and connections began to form, data that was significantly different from other participants' perceptions were used in contrast and as a way to broaden the perspective of collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies. "Discrepant cases were identified and explored through the follow-up interviews as a way to check for possible bias" (Maxwell, 2005, p. 244). The discrepant information helped form the follow-up questions with the teacher to aid in creating a broader understanding of the perceptions on collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of the perceptions on collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies. This information increased the confirmability of this study.

## **Discrepant Cases**

Sampling in this qualitative study was small. One of the limitations was that only three students and one teacher chose to participate. A sample of two teachers and eight

students who participated in a wearable technology integrated curriculum in a Rocky Mountain state was the population from which the participants were drawn for this study. Because I had a small group of participants, it is difficult to make generalizations. Throughout the analysis and reflection of collected data, no difference in perceptions on creative thinking and collaborative skill development through the design of wearable technologies of students was noted within themes and patterns. No discrepant cases were found within this small group. Participant accounts were consistent given exploration of only one teacher and three student experiences. Insights can be gained, but further study will be needed. As an emerging educational Mindtool, wearable technologies are expected to find mainstream use in 4 or 5 years (NMC Horizon Report, 2013, p. 5). These participants could be considered an outlier representation of wearable technologies potential. Through analysis, within and between all collected data, transferability of the findings for future studies was increased.

A difference was revealed between the pre-existing knowledge bases of the student participants. Backgrounds ranged from programming ability, artistic aesthetic expertise to traditional crafting upbringing. This difference was used to highlight the range of student and teacher perceptions through their experiences. While each student perceived the improvement of collaborative and creative thinking abilities, the development of these skills varied with individual's needs and prior experiences. Whereas Scott was a communications student with an affinity for computer programming, Sally shared roots in traditional crafting talents encouraged throughout childhood, and Sarah had academic knowledge and expertise in artistic aesthetics. When

compared, the incongruities became clear as each recognized the expanding needs of their collaborative and creative thinking skill based upon necessities for knowledge growth. Similarities and differences among the participant responses and artifacts added a richness of detail and depth to the exploration of their experiences.

## **Evidence of Trustworthiness**

## Credibility

Collected data from each interview were thoroughly explored to understand the perceptions during the experiences of each participant. Through the depth of detail, internal validity was enhanced (Miles & Huberman, 1994) as each transcript was examined (Maxwell, 2005). All initial data were reviewed and coded to help determine the teacher follow-up questions. Moustakas (1994) suggested participant information be reviewed and probed further to clarify and validate the data. These teacher follow-up questions were then used as a way to further probe and clarify any statements from all participants. During the teacher follow-up interview, interpretations from all initially collected data were shared with reasons for selecting certain additional questions. The expanded timeframe between initial and the follow-up interview also increased credibility of the data as it allowed the teacher time to reflect. "Each participant may also feel more valued by being provided with the opportunity to be an active part of the research process" (p. 110). Credibility of the study was increased by teacher participant opportunity to clarify initial analysis through follow-up interviewing.

Validity of the interpretation was enriched through triangulation of all collected data. Triangulation occurred through the compilation of personal perceptions collected

from each participant, the multiple perceptions of two types of participants, and the inclusion of a follow-up teacher interview based on the researcher analyzed initial responses from all participants. Within the compilation of personal perceptions collected from each participant, volunteered artifacts directly relating to the interview questions were offered to enhance individual's contributions to the study. Both teacher and student perceptions were included as the two types of participants. This inclusion of multiple data sources enabled each participant's responses to be confirmed in different contexts and at different times.

Dependability was enhanced through triangulation and verbatim transcription. Accurate records of procedural dates and times, with any additional details, were maintained. This increased transparency and possible duplication of study. The secure access and use of Microsoft Office Suite for managing and coding of data added to the integrity of the study.

## Transferability

Yin (2009) argued that transferability is dependent on the conceptual framework of the research study rather than the number of cases. Yin noted replication could be achieved with only a few cases. Merriam (2009) suggested several strategies to enhance transferability of a qualitative study: (a) thick description, (b) maximum variation in the sample, and (c) characteristic of the sample.

A strategy to enhance the transferability of this study was the use of rich, thick description. This type of description was used to find rich themes that provided insight to others. Individual participant data were explored and described to add depth of

understanding and increase transferability. As themes and commonalities were identified, data were explained within the context of the individual responses and artifacts as well as in contrast to other participant perceptions within the study. If a theme emerged describing a preconceived idea of influence to a participant in perceiving collaborative and creative thinking skill development that contrasted pointedly from other data collected, contextualization within the selected participant interview offered connection of emerging themes in a meaningful manner (Smith et al., 2009).

The details obtained from researcher analysis of initial interviewing, participant volunteered artifacts, followed up by further clarifying and probing with the teacher, increase transferability of the findings to suggest the design of wearable technologies for collaborative and creative thinking skill development in educational curricula. A rich description provided by a narrow population could promote transferability with a more significant sampling. The results of this study could advocate social change in other areas to promote understanding for the value of art in education. Due to the narrow participant selection, transferability of results to a similar institution may not be feasible. However, the findings may indicate the necessity for further studies. For this study, the concentration was on the depth of data analyzed from the perceptions of the participants (Moustakas, 1994).

Transferability of the results from this study may affect future educational decisions toward wearable technologies as an integrated curricular art and STEM practice. The information added to the field from this study will share perceptions from a certain group on collaborative and creative thinking skill development through design of
wearable technologies. As the study participants were in an educational setting, this might provide relevance of the findings to other similar institutions. Insights from this study may also help to develop educational policy by informing upon the value of arts. An exploration into the perceptions of teacher and student participants supports further understanding of the skill development of collaboration and creative thinking. The exploration chosen contributes to the identified gap that persists for determining the value of art for the future of innovative workforce success.

# Dependability

All participant interviews were recorded using QuickTime Audio Recording and Skype or telephone. Each file was transcribed verbatim by a professional transcription service. Each audio file was checked against its transcription to correct any mistakes to further improve dependability of the study. Each file was labeled with the date the interview took place and other organizationally identifying information. After each transcript was checked and corrected, it was coded using Microsoft Office Suite. Within this comprehensive tool, all of the codes were created, managed, and organized by participant. This coding process within Microsoft Office Suite further improved transparency of the data analysis. Data were continually secured, and password protected throughout all reviewing and coding.

### Confirmability

Feelings and thoughts were noted in the margins of each printed interview protocol copy and throughout coding of the data to establish confirmability. Practicing in advance with other PhD colleagues and candidates helped build confidence toward the interviewing of actual participants. After these practice sessions, I received valuable feedback to implement for improvement in my participant interviews. Notes and collected data were continuously reviewed during coding. As themes and patterns developed from the initial interviews, interpretations were repeatedly checked to form the teacher follow-up questions for further probing and clarification.

# **Results by Research Question**

This study was conducted to provide insights into collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies. Insights from this study may aid in decision making for school budgets to integrate the arts with STEM curricula. This study analyzed the results of three different sources of data as well as additional voluntarily offered artifacts by some participants to gain an understanding of perceptions on how collaborative and creative thinking skill is developed through the design of wearable technologies.

The results of the study are organized by research question. Data from teacher and student interviews as well as from voluntarily offered additional artifacts were explored to identify themes and relationships among the sources. As this design of wearable technologies opportunity was new to both students and teacher, the learning experience was knowledge building for both levels of participants. The constructivist environment provided participants a collective growth of content within a context. This growth led to similar themes between student and teacher data separated by perspective. The student experiences were individual and personal, whereas the teacher perceptions were whole group insights. For Research Questions 1 and 2, the following themes were found: *divergent thinking, generating new knowledge, stimulating the imagination,* and *creative climate.* The themes organized under Research Questions 3 and 4 were: *diverse membership, culture of collaboration,* and *community building.* Words, artifacts, and experiences of participants were used to identify these themes and strengthen the credibility of the interpretation.

#### **Research Question 1**

Research Question 1 asked: what are students' perceptions regarding the development of creative thinking skills while designing wearable technologies?

Creative thinking skill development, as it emerged through the design of wearable technologies experiences of each participant, was perceived in terms of their capability. All of the participants noted development of creative thinking as the course progressed through individually perceived connections and knowledge building. The background initiation to the development of this skill came from different learning avenues. Consensus on the development of creative thinking being linked to personal interest was expressed. Creative thinking was similarly shared, having been defined by Jonassen (1996) as combining existing information with new to generate knowledge. Any lack of prior knowledge was not perceived by the participants to be an issue. In fact, Sally felt it played well to her inquisitive mindset. The Mindtool of wearable technologies inspired in her a desire to build knowledge in a new and personal way. As a sewing enthusiast, Sally saw ways to enhance her works by incorporating elements of embedded computing in conjunction with her traditional talent manipulating fabric crafts. She shared how the

development of creative thinking through the design of wearable technologies changed her mindset:

Creative thinking has changed me in that all I wanted to do was go back stage and see what kind of computer device she had on her tutu and how it worked and how it was lighting up. And if she turned it on or if it turned on when she zipped it up. Or does it turn on when she's spinning. And I thought of all these different options she could have with those LEDs that were in her tutu.

This course provided the constructivist-learning environment that inspired Sally and others, to combine fashion with technology. The Mindtool of wearable technologies functioned as an intellectual partner by engaging and facilitating knowledge building. Sally perceived the development of her creative thinking through the design of wearable technologies. Wearable technologies, as the Mindtool, allowed information to be taken from unrelated fields, and using technology, apply it toward knowledge being generated.

Jonassen believed that Mindtools enhanced learning to engage interactivity toward willingness to build on knowledge (1996). The analysis of the interviews revealed that the development of creative thinking was related to the individual's willingness to engage in the learning opportunity. Research Question 1 investigated students' perceptions on creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies. The themes that emerged during data analysis were *divergent thinking*, *generating new knowledge, stimulating the imagination*, and *creative climate*. *Divergent thinking* was found as the students imagined creative ideas by exploring many possible solutions for their designs. Constantly interacting between their experiences and ideas *generated new knowledge* and meaning. Students were often confronted with questions from within the constructivist context of designing wearable technologies, which *stimulated their imaginations*. Nothing was too impossible to consider attempting in such an open, *creative climate*. Students' perceptions of these themes were shared based on each participant's individual personal experience, rather than consideration of the whole student group as one.

**Divergent thinking.** Spontaneous and free-flowing differing possibilities were a reoccurring thought shared throughout the interviewing process. Expanding opportunities made available as the course progressed contributed to divergent thinking. Divergent thinking was an expression of a willingness to engage in the design of wearable technologies. Engaged students became motivated learners acknowledging their need for growth by seeking knowledge to create connections. Students' role in the design exploration of wearable technologies was transformed through their divergent thinking during the course progression. Students were expected to take what they had learned through the course in addition to any prior experiences and knowledge that they had from their major and hobbies, and create an original project.

Sally, an instructional technology student with traditional crafting talents, shared her perceptions of divergent thinking through her interview and blog. She was inspired to create something different for her project. Looking at her life, she took something personal, her dog, and designed a programmed light up harness for walking together. Customizing the harness combined sewing and embroidery with the embedding of programmable electronic components. Her divergent thought process led to a personal and engaging, original idea. Sally explained:

I wanted to do something -- this was supposed to be a project where we could just make something useful -- a lot of people made a like a stuffed animal that when you would squeeze its hands it would light up or something like that. And I wanted to do something a little bit different so I made a harness for my dog. And I put the LEDs on the front. And then I embroidered a little flower -- or butterfly, whatever. And then I bought the leash. And I thought when I first bought it, I thought, oh, that'll connect it. It'll be really cool with metal. But then you kind of have to test out the metal. This metal was coated so it didn't conduct.

Sally saw what a lot of people were making for projects and could have mimicked similarly with their thinking. Instead, she "wanted to do something a little bit different." Sally's thought process diverged from the thinking of her classmates toward a more meaningful learning experience applicable to her personal life. Sally's creative thinking developed through her knowledge building with the Mindtool of wearable technologies.

The following pictures showcase the integration of Sally's sewing talents with conductive thread and a programmable circuit board (the LilyPad) in the making of her light up dog harness. Once she figured out the conductivity connection necessary to complete the electronic path to the harness, embedded LEDs (Light Emitting Diode) would light up when the handle of the leash was squeezed.



Figure 1. A LilyPad circuit board with conductive thread sewn onto a dog harness



Figure 2. The wearable technology dog harness design in progress



Figure 3. The dog harness leash electronics layout



Figure 4. The non-conductive metal coated dog harness leash clip



*Figure 5. The squeeze sensor for activation of LEDs on the dog harness* Sally's "a little bit different" creation of the light up dog harness showed divergent thinking in relation to what she shared as the creative thinking direction of "a lot of people." The differing possibilities of this Mindtool can provide personalization to learning through constant interactivity with the constructivist-learning environment. This Mindtool allowed Sally to use her existing knowledge in the adapted constructivistlearning environment with a computer-based tool to design divergently. She customized her wearable technology project to be more meaningful to her life. The programmable computer-based tool (the LilyPad) and the constructivist-learning environment involving stored knowledge (the sewing) worked with the learner (Sally) as intellectual partners to connect and develop her creative thinking.

Sarah, an art major, described her experience of feeling her mind opening to any possibilities that presented themselves. Her thinking showed divergence through inspired discovery of the potential for the design of wearable technologies to augment her existing

artistic endeavors. She saw the capability to explore with this Mindtool in creatively different ways from previous artistic explorations. Through examination and contemplation her desire to engage in constructing new knowledge was enhanced with divergent thinking. Sarah explained:

You might be able to either come up with an idea of your own, something that's a spinoff, or maybe just one little curve of something can make you think of something that's completely awesome that you want to make.

Her insights into divergent paths that could be pursued showed a development of creative thinking from a realization of potential options through the design of wearable technologies. Divergent thinking was used to generate creative ideas by considering many possible solutions.

Scott pointed out that the realm of possibilities expands in a constructivistlearning environment with such a Mindtool. In consideration of the expertise brought by all the students in the class toward the free-flowing and spontaneous thinking that occurred, Scott remarked:

Some of the most interesting projects came from these people who were in the middle and were completely new to everything and didn't feel like they were very good at electronics and didn't feel they were very good at crafting but had this kind of closet desire to become crafty or that where they didn't have the confidence, who were coming up with really cool ideas and because they didn't have knowledge on either end of the spectrum, they were willing to talk to people and try and get it--get it going.

Scott found inspiration from individuals "completely new to everything" the Mindtool of wearable technologies had to offer. From the crafting to the electronics, confidence rose as "cool ideas" were shared and people's desire to try constructing new knowledge grew. Since some students had no existing knowledge from "either end of the spectrum" to engage in design that incorporated elements of embedded computing, the willingness to think divergently grew.

Each participant perceived divergent thinking as a vital part in the enjoyment and success with this Mindtool. Students showed divergent thinking as an approach to circumstances, which focused on investigating multiple possibilities toward a personalized idea. Students' divergent thinking allowed thoughts to drift toward many different options, iterations, and ideas relating to the concept. Divergent thinking can be used as an approach to creative thinking in a range of innovative settings, from businesses to classrooms, by allowing individuals to imagine any option, head off in any direction, and purposely diverge from the traditional.

Generating new knowledge. Participants seemed to be aware of the impact creative thinking skill development had on the challenges of knowledge building through the design of wearable technologies. A common challenge of learning through a Mindtool is the engagement and facilitation of reasoning and complex problem solving (Jonassen, 1996). E-textiles is the designing of programmable garments, accessories, and costumes that incorporate elements of embedded computing, novel materials, sensors, and actuators, as well as traditional familial learning of fabric crafts (Kafai & Peppler, 2011). As a Mindtool, the computer-based tool and learning environment becomes an intellectual partner with the learner (Jonassen, 1996).

Each of the participants expressed the challenge of design when computers and materials are integrated. Struggles were shared about working with different elements together. Just as these students were expecting an elective course to learn a technology tool, they expressed a level of rigor to the detail required for even a partial success. Creative thinking took students beyond accepted knowledge to generate new knowledge (Jonassen, 1996).

Being interested in the maker community and the idea of fab labs, Scott reflected on his perception of successful knowledge building:

We did the first project where you've got the sensors. Where you can make a little stuffed animal and put push sensors in and the lights light up and do different things. We did that one and it was kind of a paint-by-numbers version. But one of the things that you could do to customize it was make it a different shape or provide different ways of doing it. Using the wires and sewing stuff and stitching things together and using just all of that stuff that I was unfamiliar with. I did it--I had a physical object in my hand that I could say you know I made this. It sucks, but I made it. It was just really something. It was a personal victory.

Despite Scott's existing knowledge not being enough, the generating of new knowledge concerning the elements and design of the project deemed the experience a personal success. He saw the scaffolding occur that continually generated new knowledge. From a confidence building "paint-by-numbers" beginning to the allowable customization of

further endeavors with the Mindtool of wearable technologies. In his final paper, he shared in more detail on the learning experience:

The overall experience of the project was very positive. I learned how to solder a skill that I've wanted for years, but been too scared to try. While my desired result required more skill than I started out with, it no longer gives me anxiety. The programming problems were very disappointing, but I'm glad that I was able to finish the crafting of the physical object. I think that I would not have counted it as a positive experience had I got the programming working but not completed the construction of the pyramid.

Scott's willingness to engage in generating new knowledge developed creative thinking in directions not ventured before. His desire to push his existing knowledge further grew. The problems proved challenging but surmountable through the construction of required new knowledge. Frustration in learning seemed tempered with celebrations along the way.

Sally reflected in her blog how the development of creative thinking led toward the scaffolding of new knowledge during her wearable technology design learning experience:

My creative thinking along with this course has sort of expanded. I've got now that next step of scaffolding where I can say, well I know how to do this. You know, here's my crafting. Here's my technology. Well, now I can make something new. And I can make it colorful and I can make it fun because it's right up the alley of what we're learning and how we're creating new things with the wearable technology. I was able to understand the connections better this week; that is the connections I created with the conductive thread from the Tiny Lily to the LEDs. Stitching the initial lighting connections made more sense, I think because I could draw them out before hand, and we had a chance to test them with the alligator clips ahead of time. If I can see how something works and then get a chance to sketch it out I think I can make the jump to the next level of the actual connectivity between the battery and programed Lily to the lights.

Sally perceived the generation of new knowledge as the development of creative thinking. The challenges in learning with this Mindtool were deemed necessary for her feeling of success. By building a bridge connecting existing knowledge she envisioned new construction possibilities. With her "I know how to do this" feeling growing; Sally's creative thinking became free-flowing. The generation of new knowledge through the Mindtool of wearable technologies allowed Sally to create "colorful ... fun .... new things" because it was "right up the alley of what we're learning."

Sarah, shared how she saw new knowledge generated through her several iterations on the design and redesign of a wearable technology:

Well, I'm designing this little stabby doll. So I'm doing another iteration because that was, like, really difficult to do - It was way over-engineered for what it needed to be - For example, it doesn't need a computer. It just needs a battery. So I didn't know that at the time, and I've been redesigning a new one, and just to run the conductive thread or the traces, I've drawn. I, Like, I drew out a picture, added where I wanted the LED's, where I wanted the batteries, where I wanted the conductive patches for things to connect, and then try to figure out how the heck I'm going to connect them with the conductive thread without crossing any of the thread over. It took me five times. I've got all five pictures still because I'm hoping to use it, that example of, yes. Maybe that first time that you draw it, it's

not going to actually work out. Maybe it's going to take you five times to draw it.

Sarah confronted the struggle of generating new knowledge as a development of creative thinking. Wearable technologies changed Sarah's perception of what creating a piece involves by taking ideas to places never thought of before. She became sensitive to the problem, the "over-engineered" doll, realized its deficiencies and desired to redesign a new one. Through acknowledgement of the disharmony with the original construction, she set out to identify difficulties and missing elements, searching for a solution to fill the knowledge gap. Sarah made guesses, modified, tested, and retested until she could finally communicate the results.

Jonassen (1996) reasoned that a constructivist-designed learning environment supported learning through the active creation of knowledge across domains. This Mindtool motivates learning through adjustable task difficulty, acceptance of alternatives, and scaffolded knowledge growth opportunity. The merger between fabric and electronic elements enables computing and electronics to be incorporated as wearable technologies. Students build knowledge from experiences during the learning, not solely from prior facts.

Stimulating the imagination. Imagination and creativity thrive within constraints (Root-Bernstein & Root-Bernstein, 2009). Constraints that were part of the course design,

as learning environment parameters seemed to be accepted by students toward finding satisfaction. Decision-making occurred in cycles and evolved to more context specific decisions throughout the course progression. Jonassen believed that learners should be provided with intriguing, authentic, and motivating problems to solve (Jonassen & Reeves, 1996, p. 718).

Scott expressed how his creative thinking led his decision making to be specific to problem solving engagement. His imagination was stimulated by relevant and interesting learning opportunities through the exploration of e-textiles. Despite personal hesitation toward the unknown, the desire to engage with the Mindtool of wearable technologies stimulated his imagination to be "more ambitious" and "try a lot of different things." Scott shared:

It took me towards my insecurity at the time. I was scared to try a lot of different things. But as soon as I got past some of the fear... I bought a soldering iron I got some circuit board stuff and some solder and started trying to rig different things together. I went to the local thrift store and I bought a bunch of electronics and I started de-soldering parts and pieces off of it. And it was just like, it was this fad over a weekend where I just--where I had kind of wished I had that kind of stuff, but I didn't know where to start. It was like where I finally got to a point where I wasn't as scared anymore. I decided to do a more ambitious version of the fabric piano and integrate the strip lights I had purchased earlier in the semester.

As constraints were diminished, creative thinking expanded toward a growing feeling of success for interesting decision-making. Scott's imagination had been stimulated by the

Mindtool of wearable technologies to such an extent that he "wished [he] had that kind of stuff" earlier. The Mindtool of wearable technologies provided him with a starting point to imagine "trying to rig different things together" through e-textiles. As the course progressed so did his development of creative thinking as new problems stimulated his interest and engagement.

Possibilities opened to stimulate Sally's imagination as the course progressed. She found the stimulation of her imagination from the Mindtool of wearable technologies led to creative thinking skill development. Sally reflected on her knowledge expansion through connectivity and inquiry. Wondering what would happen if she added programmable electronic components to her sewing and embroidery stimulated her imagination in new directions. She expressed:

It opened a whole slew of doors of what could possibly be. I think I looked at what I had been creating, which was, like I said, sewing and embroidery and things like that. And it sort of took it up a notch where I went what if I did this but -- oh, wouldn't it be cool if I added a string of lights to it? And then it could like light up if you step on it. Or it could light up if you, you know, if you're wearing and you zip it up. Or something like that. And I think it's really interesting.

Sally understood the potential of this Mindtool to steer the development of her creative thinking with technology-supported, problem solving pursuits through such an openended learning situation. She saw how taking traditional crafted materials and integrating them with programmable electronic components could add further dimension and interactivity to her creative thinking. Sally perceived that the Mindtool of wearable technologies "took it [creative thinking] up a notch." The role of a Mindtool was to enable constructivism toward the enhancement of cognitive functioning and knowledge building (Jonassen, 1996). Sally considered her knowledge expanded through connections, inquiry, and reflection.

Sarah expressed the stimulation of her imagination by the creative thinking all around her throughout the course. Her mind desired to delve into all the ideas she saw to remix within her creations. This Mindtool provided questions, problems or projects that she was willing to unravel. Sarah explored and integrated nuances of other's wearable technologies into her workings. She perceived:

You can look at something and be, like, wow, I just love how they do this. How can I use it in my own stuff? So, to me, a lot of it's just researching what other people have done, getting inspiration from that, and also, you know, working, not working with but just being inspired by what people are coming up with and be, like, oh, I can totally do that.

Sarah was inspired by the potential of wearable technologies through all she saw being created with this Mindtool. She became engaged in her learning for the "love" of enhancing her personal interests with new artistic aesthetics discovered through the Mindtool of wearable technologies. Her personal interest in the problem drove her toward a goal and meaningful learning.

Constructivist-learning theory values a problem that is owned by the learner (Jonassen, 1999). The constructivist-learning environment and instructional design should address context, representation, and space to facilitate knowledge construction and meaning making. Cognitive tools that develop skills, including modeling, support, and knowledge connecting should be included (Hirumi, 2005).

**Creativity climate**. Harnessing the power of creativity to tackle challenges relies on a well-designed learning environment. The constructivist-learning environment design for the Mindtool of wearable technologies in this course offered applicable and easily accessible information. Social conversation and collaboration tools will support discourse in the learning community for knowledge building and sharing (Hirumi, 2005).

Scott explained the creativity climate as a "direct experiment in constructivistlearning." He elaborated on the task understanding and planning support of the course:

It was--I mean, everything about it was—she [the teacher] would introduce it, the concept and she kind of held our hands on the stuff for the introduction and then it reached the point where people were going off in different directions for their own projects where she wasn't the expert in anything in particular other than she knew other people who had tried different things.

Scott does not claim to be "crafty," but he does "understand a lot of the computer science stuff." He saw the creativity climate as providing an opportunity for "personal victory over the fear of not doing it right." The constructivist-learning environment of wearable technologies helped build upon his and other student's intrinsic curiosities. Scott found the experience transformative resulting in more meaningful learning. Creativity means that a person understands that there can be many ways to approach a problem. Scott expressed how his creative abilities increased when he realized there was more than one

acceptable way of achieving one's goals. The creativity climate provided a failurefriendly environment that required creative thinking.

Sally described the creativity climate in support of her ongoing self-diagnosis to a dynamic goal:

So we started out making bracelets. But that was really cool that I kind of just thought that I could take something, you know, that was simple for me to make, because it was just circles and I was throwing them together. And mine turned out to be more of a cuff, not really necessarily a bracelet. That I could take it and I could make it kind of interactive where when you snap the snaps together, that's your switch to turn it on. And that is really cool for me because I thought, man, if I can do this with a bracelet, why wouldn't I be able to do it with, you know, like a headband or a quilt or something like that? So I thought that was really intriguing when we started off and it ended up just kind of realizing that there are a ton of options you could have with just a few simple LED lights. And kind of something I never really thought about when I was crafting. For me, it was visual. It was tangible. I could create something that was colorful, that was fun. And it could be interactive. And it didn't have to be perfect, but it could be a part of how I work and how I think, if that makes sense. It's -- I think that I'm totally with my creative mind, I'm totally wired for a course like this just because it's something where you have your creativity, but you can expand it.

Her internal dialogues and adaptive support provided a self-monitoring of responsibilities toward her learning experience. The creativity climate provided through this Mindtool guided her desire to encounter and resolve complex, challenging cases. Through her remixing, reworking, and repurposing of knowledge Sally saw how the Mindtool of wearable technologies could expand her creative thinking. She went from crafting being more than "colorful" and "fun," to also interactive. Sally thought the Mindtool of wearable technologies was intriguing to begin with, but "ended up realizing that there are a ton of options you could have with just a few simple LED lights."

Sarah found that "being creative can give you more wearable options." She shared her thoughts on mistakes being opportunities for learning:

Just, like, by repetition, like, oh, the first one, it would work. It's not the best choice. Maybe if draw it again, maybe I can come up with a better idea or. So I just kept doing that until came up with the best idea. That I could see. So it's, like, once you get to that point, you can always take it to a group of people or one other person and be, like, do you see a way that I can improve this or any way that maybe I could draw more so in the conductive traces thread. Different need to be even a cleaner design.

Her involvement toward soliciting input from one or more people produced a more interpretable view of ideas. The construct of interest around this Mindtool supported Sarah in experiencing personal reflection necessary for meaningful learning. She kept trying to "come up with a better idea" until the point of satisfaction was reached and then she sought additional input for improvement. The design of wearable technologies offered a networked environment that encouraged thinking in the context. According to Wagner, the most effective tools to design learning and support instruction are those where learning is student-centered for interpreting knowledge (2012, p. 142). "Technologies should not support learning by attempting to instruct the learners, but rather should be used as knowledge construction tools that students learn with, not from" (Jonassen et al., 1998, p. 1). Creative thinking resulted in authentic knowledge building.

The student participants in this study perceived creative thinking as taking a divergent direction to solving a problem, dealing with a concept, or brainstorming with everyone else. The perceived development of their creative thinking tested each individual's traditional knowledge to see circumstances in innovative ways. In Scott's case, he witnessed the development of creative thinking with his divergent thinking as well as in others designing differently from his approach within the same Mindtool of wearable technologies. Sally took her traditional crafting talents to the learning environment and saw how her creative thinking could generate new knowledge through scaffolding in interactive ways. Sarah's imagination was stimulated in her pursuit to discovering many avenues to resolve problems in new and exciting ways. The Mindtool of wearable technologies brought personal joy and perceived success to each learner.

Through the design of wearable technologies learners, were assisted within the creativity climate of this Mindtool in interpreting knowledge in a constructivist-learning environment. Creative thinking was developed using the Mindtool of wearable technologies through divergent thinking, the generating of new knowledge, stimulation of the imagination, and the creativity climate. To assist learners in interpreting knowledge in

a constructivist-learning environment, the wearable technology Mindtool facilitated student development of creative thinking.

## **Research Question 2**

Research Question 2 asked: what are teachers' perceptions regarding student development of creative thinking skills through the designing of wearable technologies?

Creative thinking skill development, as it emerged through the design of wearable technologies experiences of each student participant, were perceived by the teacher in terms of their capability. The analysis of the interviews revealed that the development of creative thinking was related to the individual's willingness to engage in the learning opportunity. Research Question 2 investigated teachers' perceptions on creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies. The themes that emerged during data analysis were divergent thinking, generating new knowledge, stimulating the *imagination*, and *creative climate*. The teacher witnessed *divergent thinking* in the students' imaginative ideas enhanced by peer input. Meaning making was achieved through the groups' desire to interact constantly with the Mindtool of wearable technologies leading to the generating of new knowledge. Inquiry driven constructivist experiences stimulated their imaginations. The teacher encouraged students by promoting a creative climate in which to take risks and experiment with ideas resulting in positive, innovative experiences. Students were able to make mistakes or even fail completely and still feel like they gained positive knowledge. Teachers' perceptions of these themes were shared based on consideration of the whole student group as one, rather than each participant's individual personal experience.

**Divergent thinking.** Through the design of wearable technologies, learners explore problems through creative thinking, manipulation, and reflection. Mikropoulos and Bellou (2013) think that the educational contribution becomes more effective when an approach to constructivism involves cognitive tools or Mindtools as proposed by Jonassen (2000). The teacher, Tiffany, shared an example of divergent thinking and the pride it raised as seen in one of her student's explorations through the design of wearable technologies:

And so I had a student from the College of Business make this amazing something I think for his nephew, uh, one of those little small carpets that has like roads and little houses and stuff designed into it and what he did is he added circuits to it so that, and he added some copper tape to a Hot Wheels and when you drove the Hot Wheels over the roads when it got next to the fire station it would light up. Okay, so he's from the College of Business but to me that felt phenomenally creative that you took this kid toy thing and changed it in a way to make it interactive.

The design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool involved the learner in constructing both a personally designed physical object and building the connected knowledge it took to accomplish the task. This student took something existing "and changed it in a way to make it interactive." She explained divergent thinking in the follow-up interview further with "a student who has different prior experiences will come up with a different kind of thing." Tiffany felt that her students were showing pride through successful divergent thinking with their design ideas. The Hot Wheels project is an example of pride being perceived through successful divergent thinking. "...successful in that students on their reviews say things like how transformative it was, how they were doing things they never thought of before, one of my students thanked me for helping her be brave making circuits." Her students were learning by doing in both the virtual and real world, and they were facing cognitive conflicts and knowledge building through design opportunities. She sees creative thinking as being able to move "knowledge from one domain into another." Tiffany elaborated:

I think a lot of the creativity comes from here are the things I know, here are the supplies that I could work with, either that I know or are available, what can I do with them. And then when the problems come up, how do I solve those problems. The divergent thinking becomes apparent when learners explore different options of "what can I do with them." The development of their creative thinking drives them to "solve those problems." Tiffany described:

If their LilyPad is far away from those patches or from the lights then you often, what happens then is the resistance builds up in the thread and that affects how well things work. Often they have to redo their stitching, test things with the multimeter, figure out what they need to do, do they need to reinforce their stitching with more thread, can we use some conductive fabric tape, can we use copper tape, or a little bit more conductive material, where do you need those, and then just the programming where they want different things. The different lighting patterns and stuff. All the things that seem to come up are so different and it's all the same project, but what students do with it is so different. How many lights they have, what their project looks like, how their lights are programmed with different patterns.

She summed up her perception of learner divergent thinking through the design of wearable technologies as "it's just really cool what people come up with."

Constructivism is an educational theory that suggests learning is the building of knowledge structures by the learner through interaction with the environment (Jonassen et al., 1998, p. 1). Learning is the building of knowledge structures, not just the obtaining of knowledge. The constructivist design for learning requires "interaction with the environment." Jonassen believed that because emerging technologies available for learners' environments go beyond just a computer, possibilities for student-centered designing are exponential (Jonassen, 1999, p. 215).

Generating new knowledge. The design of wearable technologies, as a Mindtool, engaged learners to bring together existing knowledge with new information in innovative ways. Traditionally rigor was associated with mastery of content alone. Knowledge can be built upon as information changes constantly. Learners need content knowledge within context to apply and transform their knowledge for skill development toward creative thinking (Bellanca & Brandt, 2010, p. 271). New knowledge was generated as circumstances changed. The course syllabus described the potential for generating new knowledge as:

The course is about designing. In it you will learn to design innovative crafts that bring together a variety of materials, computing, and crafting techniques in innovative ways. It's about creativity and personalized design with materials and techniques new and old. Along the way you will learn some things about electricity, crafts, and computing. And maybe even a bit about design, interactivity, and learning.

This course provided support for creative thinking skill development through the generation of new knowledge. It offered the design of wearable technologies, as the Mindtool context for individuals to create knowledge. Through deliberately and actively engaging student to bring together existing ideas into new configurations, creative thinking was developed. Taking risks and experimenting are behaviors that were associated with creativity and innovation. Tiffany explained how the design of wearable technologies as the Mindtool generated creative thinking that was produced by deliberately and actively engaging her students to bring together knowledge domains:

We go into other projects where they can take advantage of that knowledge. I think the wider, the more materials they get exposed to that allows them to combine things from different domains, from your kitchen, from your bedroom, your yard tools, whatever, party supplies, you can those. And that seems to be, I mean you are making tangible projects, materials are obviously a big deal. That expands upon what they can use.

She saw creative thinking as the generation of new knowledge within or across domains, including spaces, objects, and hobbies, expanding the learning horizon from both within the classroom and beyond. Inspiration could be anywhere. Tiffany described Sally's light-up dog harness wearable technology as an example of creativity involving multiple domains:

I think this is definitely a version of creativity, moving knowledge from one domain into another, so I have a student who is a quilter. So she's really, really good with the sewing crafts and piecing things together and she has a dog and what she thought would be fun would be to make this project where you squeeze two patches and have something light up. She thought it would be really cool to do on a dog collar. Actually, she wanted to do it on a collar and I suggested a halter because she would have a little bit more space. So the two patches were on the loop end of the leash where you squeeze it. We worked this out together, trying to figure it out. So her idea led to okay so how could we do this and a lot of adaptation of the idea. So there is one patch at the top and one on the bottom and when you touch them you are touching both and you can squeeze harder or lighter. That was very far away from the lights, which are all the way away on the halter. She put the lights on the halter and tested them and they all worked. And then she had to create this leash and so she, I think, sewed all the way through the leash, but you also had to be careful that the two patches that you touched, they have to go down, the two lines have to go all the way down the leash and not touch because they are two different charges. Then you get to the bottom and the thing is the leash had this hook that, you know, a little clip, that clipped on. It was metal but it wasn't conductive because it was painted over. So at first we thought we could use that as a metal thing, but then we realized we couldn't, but we did want the detachability. So now she has this, and how do I attach this sensor to my thing and one of the things she came up with was that she has a couple of hooks

and she has like a needle and a hook and eye for both the positive and the negative charge down there on the base of it. Then there are some parts that aren't attached to anything. Like you can't just have loose threads hanging because then they're not insulated. So they'll short circuit out. So she made these cute, just took this darling little fabric, sewed it and turned it inside out and made a little tube and used that and it was really cute and it was extremely well crafted and it worked perfectly. So to me that was just creative. It wasn't like she was conscientiously saying ooooh what can I do to combine my quilting expertise with this new e-textile stuff. It was just that she had skills at her disposal in regard to sewing, materials for sewing, and those sorts of things and she was able to utilize those in solving a problem.

Sally's design enhancements to her existing knowledge generated new knowledge through interactivity. She was able to take skills she had previously gained to assist in solving and adapting to new problems. The challenges encountered through the design of wearable technologies scaffolded Sally's generating of new knowledge. In the follow-up teacher interview, Tiffany added further to thoughts about her students making connections from different knowledge domains:

They brought expertise with them and that gave probable influence to their creativity. It just depends on the kind of courses they had, or the particular instructors. I learn creativity for myself from education courses. I've never had an art course so I can't even speak to that. I've learned a lot extracurricularly (sic). Creativity is so disciplinarily defined. Creativity is within a domain and someone who is creative in one area may not be creative in another area. It is valued in contrast to what has been there. How people evaluate something as creative just depends on what they think is creative. Some things certainly help, being able to bridge different domains and for that you need to frame things as relevant to each other. Or you are just the kind of person who sees the link. It could be domains that you cross in your own life, so say there is something I have expertise in one area and then I find it relevant here.

Evaluation of the Mindtool spurred students to rely on personal expertise to help bridge different domains and frame creations as relatable and creative. Individuals need to feel free to act creatively and innovatively. Tiffany viewed the act of defining one's problem and setting goals as an important part of being creative. Tiffany saw in Sally, and other students, the motivation to think outside the box to make new and interesting connections, links, from multiple knowledge domains.

**Stimulating the imagination.** Seemingly trivial imaginative inclinations can cause individual and organizational innovation. A readiness to embrace change opens individuals to new possibilities and a willingness to face unavoidable quirks of life (Bellanca & Brandt, 2010, p. 271). Tiffany reflected upon how the course constraints changed over time and what it meant to learner response:

Given that adaptation to what you have available. And as we progressed throughout the course I give fewer and fewer constraints. Which can often be a really big challenge for students, sometimes they come up with projects that are really too big or they don't realize how long it is going to take or they don't realize that someone hasn't really done this before or not in this specific way.

They have to work out those challenges. That gets them to be a little bit more

playful with what they use. They think a lot about a human computer interaction. Learners were empowered to be more productive and creative through the design of wearable technologies as the Mindtool. As Tiffany eliminated constraints and judgment, students' creative thinking expanded. Through new ways of tackling old issues, and constructive practice of ideas that may or may not be practical, students discovered their impact on each other. The development of creative thinking, allowed students to find interesting and innovative ways of resolving original problems. Forward-thinking economies and innovative businesses progressively acknowledge employees who can adjust and promote the ideal of an innovative workforce. Stimulating the imagination enables learners to customize their work and respond to expectations through creative thinking. (Partnership for 21<sup>st</sup> Century Skills, 2013).

Tiffany shared an example of how, through the design of wearable technology, students' imaginations were stimulated:

A lot of creative thinking comes in so let's say they want to make a stuffed doll. Then they have to figure out even just spatially and logistically how to put the circuits on one side or the other. Do they want their computer LilyPad hidden or visible? They have to think about how they are, where they are going to squeeze, like, the patches. So I tell them, think about where you want those patches. If you are wearing something where do you want it on your body? Tiffany saw in her students the capability and developed ability in learning to imagine the possibilities and then customize to fit circumstances. They adapted their knowledge as creative thinking developed. Figuring out the different directions possible toward a personally perceived successful outcome stimulated the students' imaginations. The design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool favored an emphasis on development of the individual through the discovery and exploration of a creative idea.

**Creativity climate.** The learning environment in Tiffany's course encouraged risk taking and active meaning making. Students were encouraged to ask questions, offer their ideas, discuss their understanding of the principle, give feedback to each other, and create and share their thoughts and opinions. They were invited to reflect regularly on their learning, and the teacher was a model of reflective practice.

Tiffany shared how her students openly and regularly reflected upon their learning. The feedback sessions were perceived as positive influences on the design of Sally's dog harness wearable technology in particular. She shared:

They [the students] would give feedback in the moment. Certainly, I would give a lot of feedback because I have a lot of experience. So like the girl with the dog halter, we brainstormed that together, but we also did some of that out loud, so that other people could...I haven't done a formal analysis of who learned what, but we know that knowledge diffusion happens. Ideas spread just from seeing them. Humans are very good, I mean, children, that's how they learn. They watch and they imitate. And they learn with things that often become internalized afterwards. That happens a lot. We do that a lot for the final projects, which are

longer and they get help from one another. That has been really, really important. A lot of students struggle with just having ideas of what to do. Once they see other peoples projects they go, "oh that was cool, I could've done that, like that is actually doable, that is within my skill set, I could've done something like that. And so you see more throughout. Not everyone is like that, but a lot of people get ideas.

Her modeling of reflective practice by brainstorming with the students helped build a trust to the risk taking of "putting oneself out there" which helped build the creativity climate for the design of wearable technologies. The feedback was a shared effort toward improving the overall outcome for a learner perceived successful solution. The "struggle with just having ideas of what to do" was perceived by students as surmountable through the shared creativity climate.

Personal invention and innovation involve problem solving from one's heart as Tiffany expressed with this thought in reference to the Mindtool of wearable technologies, "That's one thing I love about this. It's guaranteed to go wrong somewhere and you have to figure it out." In a traditional course, learning relies on observation, brainstorming, and trial-and-error to develop creative thinking. Problem solving with the Mindtool of wearable technologies provides steps to close the gap between what is and what could be. She explained how the design of wearable technologies as the Mindtool sets a learning climate allowing for creative thinking to develop from the many potential designs options and solutions of wearable technologies: One of the really exciting things that I find about this is that the aesthetics and personalization really helped people learn the technologies, the circuitry, the programming, that closeness of how those all relate together is what makes it a really awesome tech activity. The personal ownership and that aesthetic component are a big deal. If I just gave everyone, and made this project saying exactly how it would be done, they would learn something by it, but it's not just

the same as in a sense, creating your own problems. And learning from that. Ownership of the problem and the ability to aesthetically adapt this Mindtool led to a personalization of desired learning. The closeness of how all the elements to the design of wearable technologies relate together is what builds the excitement through this Mindtool.

Designing a creative climate produced many interesting ideas and solutions from which learners selected the most promising. Providing the design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool invites divergent thinking. Brainstorming, such as was shared between Sally and Tiffany about the design of the wearable technology dog harness, helps explain a range of approaches to suit different customizations. The combination of technology and traditional knowledge works well together. Mistakes were seen as growth opportunities, rather than failures. Problem solving through active learning enhances personal perception of success. Students were engaged in the learning process, constructing meaning both individually and collectively. Once a learner is given the opportunity to explore their learning preference, they can work on expanding the ways to reach perceived personal success. Through the design of wearable technologies as the Mindtool, creative thinking is developed. Mindtools stimulate the imagination and spur development of creative thinking. Students existing knowledge from every aspect of their lives is drawn upon to give personal meaning to the learning. Different domains of knowledge are connected through stimulation of the imagination to generate new knowledge within the creativity climate.

### **Research Question 3**

Research Question 3 asked: what are students' perceptions regarding the development of collaborative skills while designing wearable technologies?

The problems that have an impact on the future of innovation for the world are complex, but increasingly these problems are addressable through scientific pursuit (Falk-Krzesinski et al., 2010). The complexity of these problems necessitates crossdisciplinary engagement and collaboration. STEM addresses science, technology, engineering, and math. The missing component that could raise the engagement of learning is art (Guimerans, 2012).

Wearable technologies as a Mindtool brought the challenge of design to the environment, building knowledge through opportunities for personalization and customization. Businesses are exploring the concept of artistic contexts to serve as learning tools for the enhancement of skill development for building ability in areas such as collaboration (Americans for the Arts, 2012). An economic trend is towards real-time, spontaneous collaboration (Rosen, 2009, p. 9). Students with diverse backgrounds, different prior knowledge, and various experiences were participants in the design of wearable technologies. Participation can be simultaneous, instead of passing instructions through levels and functions for others to implement (p. 11). Wearable technologies, as a Mindtool, allowed free-flowing, interactive participation from a diverse community, toward the building of a culture of collaboration. Rosen believed collaboration was significant in sparking innovation (p. 11).

Collaborative skill development, as it emerged through the design of wearable technologies experiences of each participant, was perceived in terms of their capability. The analysis of the interviews revealed that the development of collaboration was related to the individual's willingness to engage in the learning opportunity. Research Question 3 investigated students' perceptions on collaborative skill development through the design of wearable technologies. The themes that emerged during data analysis were *diverse membership, culture of collaboration,* and *community building.* A *diverse membership* meant students found opportunity within the group to leverage different opinions and outlooks for the design of their wearable technologies. The *culture of collaboration* allowed for changes in designs as well as options for one's work. *Community building* offered authentic learning through common interest relationships. Students' perceptions of these themes were shared based on each participant's individual personal experience, rather than consideration of the whole student group as one.

**Diverse membership.** Students saw diversity as an avenue that allowed viewing in a different way. A diverse membership highlighted that no two people were the same and learners had different needs. Individuals needed an understanding of issues that affected them and others. They needed to work collaboratively and be able to learn from
others with diverse cultures and backgrounds. Through the design of wearable technologies, collaboration was developed by individuals' desires to discover options seen by others. As a Mindtool, wearable technologies added enticement to learning with the integration of art. In relation to this Mindtool being enticing to a diverse population of students, Scott offered this description in regards to the students enrolled in the course:

We were so diverse. I mean there was a huge group of people from a lot of different backgrounds. There was an amazing variety of people that showed up. You had people from lots of different majors, you had undergraduates and graduates, you even had a teacher who was willing to say, you know, I don't know, let's see--let's do this and see if it works. We had people who are very crafty and not that comfortable with electronics and then--and there were like people who are really comfortable with programming and electronics who haven't crafted before. There was a lot of expertise. But no one was really solid on both ends and so that, the whole student body played well because we had such a good camaraderie and people were willing to help. And it was these times that allowed us to be vulnerable and to also be able to recognize that yeah, I think you've got the skills that I don't have. So you're valuable to our community and can help me with this and I'll help you with that. There's a lot of give and take that way I think. Because it was so diverse and because there was such a disparity on different things that we were trying to do both crafting and electronics, people would come up with the idea that they wanted and they would have to talk to other people who were the experts in whatever area it was and then figure out how to do it. We were able to kind of give a different perspective. There was a little bit of crosspollination going on.

This is evidence of individuals' desires to meet, get to know each other, and come to learn from others with varying experiences. The design of wearable technologies enabled a positive experience through diversity. The different elements of learning within this constructivist environment meant everyone was both an expert and a novice. Shared vulnerabilities led to collaborative knowledge building among learners as well as increased confidences through the design of wearable technologies. The diverse perspectives from different learners fostered the growth of ideas. The Mindtool of wearable technologies nurtured development of collaboration through a diverse membership by encouraging a desire to seek other's input toward construction of an idea.

Sally echoed Scott's thoughts by sharing her appreciation for the diverse membership that made up the collective knowledge building of this course:

We had a lot of students in this course from a lot of different areas; family consumer and human development, engineering, math, business, and there was a journalism and communications student, I think, as well. It's really cool to have that many backgrounds come together and kind of form community learning that's so important. And that's why it's so fun.

The bringing together of so much diverse expertise, expanded through the opportunity to share inspired learning, made the design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool to be deemed "fun." Collaborative skill development from such a variety of individuals became a means to an end in figuring out how to solve problems. The global community even contributed to Sally's wearable technologies experience through information shared over the Internet. She explained:

I must say that the programming was great fun once I figured out exactly what was needed. The blinking patterns were actually pulled from a project of a gracious someone online. I pulled their code in and fit it to what I needed. Thank heavens for kind crafters everywhere!

Her resourcefulness to find a like-minded community on the Internet extended the range of diversity outside of the immediate classroom experience providing an even wider variety of perspectives. This is evidence to the development of collaborative skills through the design of wearable technologies. With many different points of view and cultural experiences, Sally's needs were better served by more people thinking of interesting solutions. Finding commonality within a diverse membership builds a personal bridge toward expanding upon a shared interest.

Sarah saw this Mindtool as a game changer to equal involvement of diverse individuals in gaining knowledge together. She shared:

And it's not as threatening, and, like, most, yes, boys will sit there when they're, like, 10 or 11, they'll stay at home, and they'll sit there and program for the fun of it, but girls are, like, why should we. There's no inherent gain to them. So by saying, hey, what if you can make a tiara that has LED on it, and glitters whenever you spin around or something. That flashes whenever you spin around. Like, that, having an inherent gain, having something that you can work toward, that's what gives meaning. That's what gets people into it – Sarah appreciated the aesthetic artistic opportunities available through this Mindtool as well as the technical programming capabilities it allowed. As an art major, she saw the beauty in the bringing together of multiple domains from a diverse membership for a positive experience. Bringing together various views, created favorable conditions for learners from different cultures, backgrounds, and experiences to collaboratively create something together.

The design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool enabled a diverse membership of students to engage in discussions in which they shared and solved problems. The design of wearable technologies as the Mindtool provided the context for problem solving constructively, which is necessary for relationship building within diverse groups of learners. Learning collaboratively in context, building upon each other's diverse existing knowledge became the learners' perceived avenue toward success

**Culture of collaboration.** Value was generated as obstacles dissolved. Rosen (2009) defined collaboration as "working together to create value while sharing virtual or physical space" (p. 9). Collaboration requires a diverse group of interested individuals and a plan to develop an element of innovative value (p. 10). Rosen believed that for decision making and problem solving to build knowledge, diverse individuals need to collaborate spontaneously. Individuals create value when collaborative efforts and tools build upon existing collective knowledge. (p. 12). As a communications student, Scott saw the transformational potential of this Mindtool in contrast to traditional learning. He explained:

The idea of crowd sourcing and the social corporations and all these types of things are community connected. I don't know that a lot of people view it that way but I very much see the social part being a direct connection to all these innovations.

Scott understood the value generated through collaboration from various cultures for the future of his and others learning. He further discussed how it developed through the learning environment of this course:

She's [the teacher] only one person and if everybody had a question or was trying to get it, and she was stuck on the other side of the room going from group to group, either you had to go and then stand and wait for her or you had to figure out who else in the class might be able to help you and when--especially when you realize that, you know, there's--depending on the question, there's a high likelihood that you're going to stand there for five minutes trying to get an answer and she won't have it. So there's the hurdle of depending on the teacher or having access to the teacher's knowledge or maybe pretty good as far as an access to equipment and things like that enable scaffolding our prior knowledge into other things.

The desire to gain knowledge enabling scaffolding of prior knowledge into the design of wearable technologies developed collaboration through impatience and need. Coming together in real-time rather than waiting for somebody else's input built a culture of collaboration for problem solving. Students sought expertise from others' availability and expertise for their design of wearable technologies. In Scott's final paper, he shared some

examples of collaborative skill development within the collective knowledge built through the Mindtool of wearable technologies:

During the semester I talked with Julie and we had an idea to work together and create an interactive grid of LEDs that would produce emergent patterns in three dimensions. This was overambitious for the timeframe and skillset we both had, but together we thought it might be a good option.

Motivation to build knowledge through the Mindtool of wearable technologies raised the personal expectation of problem solving. The culture of collaboration provided safety to push exploration challenges. Scott had another positive experience furthering his development of collaboration on another wearable technology project. He shared:

Lynn was interested in working with the strip of LEDs I had purchased and proposed that we work as a team in order to create a theatrical piece for an outside project she was working on. I thought that this was a good idea. We worked together for about a week.

Each wearable technology experience Scott shared showed opportunity for different knowledge to be gained together through exploration with the Mindtool of wearable technologies. Challenges provided through the design of wearable technologies allowed learners to share their viewpoints, compare ideas, and work towards building something in the context of a collaborative effort. This culture of collaboration generated new ideas learners had not considered, which allowed for individually perceived better results to be applied to the project.

"Rich, real-time collaboration lets people with a variety of skills and talents in multiple fields and functions come together spontaneously and create value" (Rosen, 2009, p. 22). Motivation that is generated by sharing collective knowledge builds an ability to tap into developing skills (p. 70). Sally shared her experience of relationship building through the Mindtool of wearable technologies as value intuitive toward learning. "That sort of bond you make with your peers when you're going through kind of something where you might not know how to do something." She welcomed the technological, economic, and cultural influences that differentiated the ways people collaborated. A varied group of individuals offers opportunity for more idea generation toward problem solving, developing collaborative skill as an advantage (Rosen, 2009). Students viewed creative challenges differently from their peers. Drawing on the collective knowledge building encouraged through the Mindtool of wearable technologies, the development of collaboration allowed learners to benefit from their differences. Sally reflected upon her collaborative skill development through this Mindtool:

I think collaboration is awesome in a place where I could really open up and just be creative. Collaboration is so awesome because I have my set of skills. And you have your set of skills. Or, you know, Samantha has her set of skills and Danielle has hers. And we can bring those together and make something really cool and new.

Sally perceived value in being able to contribute and receive support in response. This culture of collaboration encouraged her to "really open up." Everyone had a "set of

skills" they could offer as their expertise to share. The culture of collaboration brought together different skill sets to "make something really cool and new." This development supported Sally's learning in new dimensions through the set of skills offered from each different individual.

Wearable technology has shown the potential to empower learners. This relates to new kinds of value-added that builds motivation toward engagement for personal needs (Rosen, 2009, p. 9). Sarah realized the value-added in the development of collaboration through social learning and shared this thought. "You have to learn how to work with people, and collaboration is really, even if you had nothing to bring, it's all social and social maneuvering, and time to understand group dynamics." Sarah's perception of her collaborative skill development showed an appreciation of this Mindtool in enabling opportunities to learn together. Groups of individuals came together to accomplish similar tasks or goals toward the personal design customization of wearable technologies.

Sharing experiences through the Mindtool of wearable technologies sped up the design process. Speeding up the design process would be of benefit to organizations as concerns can be resolved quicker with workers skilled in collaborative efforts. Today, information can be gathered, exchanged, and interacted with whenever, wherever, and however desired. A culture of collaboration allowed primary source information to be accessed on demand with instant analysis of the implications in real-time with the support of others with similar interest.

**Community building.** By constructively exploring differences and developing a collaborative plan for action, decision-making for problems became a shared activity.

Through community building, participants felt safe offering opinions, thoughts were respected, participants were free to ask questions, they had the opportunity to engage in conversations, and support toward solutions was readily available within the members. Expertise was broadly distributed as membership spanned silos of knowledge combining experiences and backgrounds. Communication became more personal, more conversational, and more exploratory.

Scott described his perception of community building during the course in relation to the diverse expertise within the participants. Desiring to expand one's knowledge by seeking information developed camaraderie among learners leading to community building. He explained:

If everybody had a question or was trying to get it, and she [the teacher] was stuck on the other side of the room going from group to group, either you had to go and then stand and wait for her or you had to figure out who else in the class might be able to help you and when--especially when you realize that, you know, there's-depending on the question, there's a high likelihood that you're going to stand there for five minutes trying to get an answer and she won't have it. So there's the hurdle of depending on the teacher or having access to the teacher's knowledge or maybe pretty good as far as an access to equipment and things like that enable scaffolding our prior knowledge into other things. All of those--this thing that you generally try and grow knowledge would have to a certain degree be dependent upon ourselves and with her permission and encouragement we were able to build a community and that was where we were able to do that. Collaborative exchanges through the Mindtool of wearable technologies seemed to be loosely structured and highly adaptive. By offering opportunities for connections to be explored, student sharing of prior knowledge enabled the scaffolding of design "into other things." Collective knowledge building developed a community of learners. This community of learners offered rich opportunities for knowledge building. With the right people available for constructive learning through this Mindtool, students were able to create, collaborate, and change the design of wearable technologies together.

Sally felt safe, respected, free, engaged in opportunities, and supported. She shared her perceptions on the building of community through the design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool:

So my knowledge can help them grow. But what they know can help me as well. Like I talked about the zone of proximal development and helping each other. But I think creating that community makes it even better because you're enjoying being around each other. You're enjoying what you're learning. And then sometimes you're learning but you don't really realize you're learning. You're learning something new, but it's fun. And that's where kind of a gratification kind of comes into play, where you're not really -- you don't really know that you're learning, but in the end you think okay, maybe I've -- maybe I know how to do that because that's what we just did.

Sally's appreciation for the benefit of community building was excitedly expressed during her interview. Each participant faced challenges with the Mindtool. Existing knowledge was not enough. Gaining new knowledge required ingenuity to network and pursue support toward perceived solutions. Working together to implement ideas increased rigor, and also increased enjoyment.

Sarah shared how community building enhanced her knowledge in this course. She explained what it meant to the design of wearable technologies to be part of a community:

If some person would say, hey, let's work on this. Maybe I could do this part of the coding online over here. Maybe you could do that, or maybe we could work on smaller projects, but then share our notes so that we can advance faster than we would alone, then I would call that collaborative - What I think it [community building] means is when people willingly come together to possibly work on parts of a project together. Maybe one person can help the other person by teaching them chunks such as how to code in Arduino or how to make better code. So it's, like, once you get to that point, you can always ask a group of people and be, like, do you see a way that I can improve this or any way that maybe I could draw more so in the conductive traces thread. Different need to be even a cleaner design.

Sarah felt her design was smarter and stronger through community building. She saw how learning with this Mindtool could be made considerably easier with the support of community building. When participants collectively shared decision-making, and design together, everyone benefited. There seemed to be a heightened engagement and enjoyment in the work, and a feeling that successful results could be reached. The design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool offered learners the benefit of community building as an expandable context within the learning environment. Participants enjoyed informed support and experienced many opportunities to contribute. The students in this course were independent in their way but found community building established a give and take among learners to produce solutions that none of them on their own could design.

# **Research Question 4**

Research Question 4 asked: what are teachers' perceptions regarding student development of collaborative skills through the designing of wearable technologies?

The teacher perceived collaborative skill development in terms of each student participant's capability as it emerged through the design of wearable technology experiences. The analysis of the interviews revealed that the development of collaboration was related to the individual's willingness to engage in the learning opportunity. Research Question 4 investigated teachers' perceptions on collaborative skill development through the design of wearable technologies. The themes that emerged during data analysis were *diverse membership, culture of collaboration,* and *community building.* A *diverse membership* meant the student groups found opportunity within the available network to leverage different opinions and outlooks for the design of wearable technologies. The *culture of collaboration* permitted changes in designs as well as options for group work efforts. *Community building* offered authentic learning opportunities through common interest explorations. Teachers' perceptions of these themes were shared based on the whole student group as one, rather than each participant's individual personal experience.

**Diverse membership.** Students with distinct interests reached beyond academia to teach others through the design of wearable technologies. This Mindtool alleviated perceived struggles and challenges associated with learning alone. Knowledge building became different and learner-centered, less boring, and humbler. The course syllabus had an introduction question asking participants to consider "Why computing-related professions are among the least diverse in society?" In her reply to this course introductory question, Tiffany shared her reflection on advertising and recruiting efforts for the course.

The course was intended to bring people from a range of different fields. Kids, students can incorporate any numbers of kinds of crafts, but by really foregrounding e-textiles and traditional crafts I think [wearable technologies] is more funded. Hopefully it helps to diversify the people who feel like they are programmers, or that programming is and computing are skills that they are capable of and perhaps interested in. It's not gonna change the number of programming majors. These are mostly students in their late college or graduate school careers, but I know some students have taken up a bit more programming either in hobbies or in courses. Maybe it will affect the way they teach and the way they raise their children a little bit, so anything we can do to broaden the perspective of how computing is useful for and scalable to their futures too. Tiffany felt the Mindtool of wearable technologies enabled learners to develop a network approach toward innovation. Possibilities for innovation were discovered through the collective learning network established by a diverse membership enrolled in the course. She believed the Mindtool of wearable technologies could "broaden the perspective of how computing is useful for and scalable to their futures." Her students benefited from the prior knowledge and experiences of a diverse membership through the design of wearable technologies. Communication, trust, and openness enabled the diverse membership to feel comfortable expressing their unique opinions toward collaborative skill development.

The range of discipline majors brought by the varied participants helped develop a collective knowledge to be tapped through the design of wearable technologies as the Mindtool. Tiffany continued with more discussion on her advertising and recruiting efforts for the course in terms of diversifying the membership:

Getting people from different college disciplines, like the quilter was majoring in instructional technologies and learning sciences, but that is something she brought from outside the course. Some people were drawn in by programming, some people were drawn in by sewing, some people by this meets a requirement and for my minor and it looks more fun than another class or it looks more cool than another class. I try to create that kind of space, through how I advertised and recruiting. You wouldn't get that if you just say, hey it's a computing course. If I highlight the sewing stuff then attract the computing people with more hardware interests who come that don't mind the sewing or they are willing to do it. I don't need to do as much work recruiting them in some ways.

The learning environment invited collaborative skill development through diverse membership. As the Mindtool, wearable technologies added design into the context of the learning opportunity. The addition of design to the learning environment drew in different people because "it looks more fun than another class or it looks more cool than another class." The Mindtool of wearable technologies attracted a diverse membership by allowing individuals' to further their prior knowledge "from outside the course" as well as build upon their prior knowledge from within the course. The diverse membership enhanced the desire to develop collaboration through the enticing knowledge available amongst other students and an extended network.

Tiffany sought to "create that kind of space" where learners could develop collaborative skills to scaffold their learning through a network of participants. Tiffany added clarification to her reasons for seeking a diverse membership by consideration of what such a range of individuals could bring to the learning environment:

It may be an individual who has skills in different areas that they see the relevance for or that becomes relevant. It could be multiple individuals that have

skills in different areas that they can tap into by seeing each other, or learn. By tapping into each other's skills, learning collaboratively became relevant for knowledge building. Each participant's background and experiences brought a collective knowledge to the course that only needed interactivity among learners to be tapped. The Mindtool of wearable technologies provided the opportunity to develop collaborative skill across a diverse membership of knowledge.

STEM fields may gain increased value from integrating with the arts, as a varied group of individuals can generate more ideas together sharing knowledge toward greater possible innovation (Lovell, 2011). An advantage is built through collaborative skill development from a diverse group of individuals sharing content openly within a context toward a common goal (Patterson et al., 2011). The existing view of the 21<sup>st</sup> century workforce is of employees expected to innovate by collaborating with other individuals of diverse professions, interests, educational backgrounds, and cultures (Siler, 2011, p. 417).

**Culture of collaboration.** Social discourse bears the fruit of creative thought (Vygotsky, 1978). Learners embraced the design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool instrument of change, and they welcomed the collaborative spirit and the camaraderie that accompanied the learning. Collaboration was necessary to lead to transformational learning. The Mindtool of wearable technologies transformed traditional learning leading learners to create next-generation innovations. Tiffany reflected on how her students learned through the design of wearable technologies and how this Mindtool transformed their knowledge building together:

So like the girl with the dog halter, we brainstormed that together, but we also did some of that out loud, so that other people could...I haven't done a formal analysis of who learned what, but we know that knowledge diffusion happens. Ideas spread just from seeing them. Humans are very good, I mean, children, that's how they learn. They watch and they imitate. And they learn with things that often become internalized afterwards. That happens a lot. We do that a lot for the final projects, which are longer and they get help from one another. That has been really, really important. A lot of students struggle with just having ideas of what to do. Once they see other peoples projects they go, "oh that was cool, I could've done that, like that is actually doable, that is within my skill set, I could've done something like that. And so you see more throughout. Not everyone is like that, but a lot of people get ideas.

A culture of collaboration served as a catalyst for knowledge building and further exploration toward individual collaborative skill development. Tiffany's constructivistlearning environment with the Mindtool of wearable technologies meant students "learn with things that often become internalized afterwards." This Mindtool encouraged sharing for discovery and allowed collaboration to develop. Students realized a culture of collaboration revealed others' design of wearable technologies as "doable." Each participant's collaborative skill developed through "help from one another." Within this culture of collaboration "knowledge diffusion happens" as "ideas spread."

Tiffany saw student learning as active. Participants became personally responsible for their learning through the engagement of a Mindtool that builds understanding and meaning making. The Mindtool of wearable technologies eased the "struggles" of learning by scaffolding tasks through collaborative contextualization of the activity. She elaborated on the freedom learning gained within a culture of collaboration:

I think it's to me most obvious in their final projects because that's where they had the most freedom just in bringing their own expertise wherever that lay via their own personal experiences even in the same context you see a lot of variety. You see a lot of cultural games that were made into electronic dolls or creations. The way students used different materials. Maybe they had more familiarity with where, you know, we had fashion people who integrated e-textiles into wigs and dresses but they had a lot of expertise in making those things. One of my students loved to try to integrate sculptured elements into her projects whether it's blown glass, or little polymer clay claws, on her monster Clyde. I saw woodworking brought in, here I was taught something not something I taught the students. They had to learn that somewhere else. I saw them with the games get really creative with making different game controllers out of water bowls, out of quilts, out of a cut up Twister game, a Dance Dance Revolution pad that was in the form of a quilt. I saw origami cranes paper mobiles, necklaces made out of tiles and different materials.

The Mindtool of wearable technologies encouraged a culture of collaboration to be developed among the learners. Tiffany was asking students to become full-fledged participants in their learning, a learning that they created, manipulated, and applied through the Mindtool of wearable technologies. The following advice was given to the students in the beginning from the course syllabus:

Get help whenever, wherever, and from whomever you want – friends, family, classmates, YouTube, books, Wikipedia. Make sure you give credit where credit

is due. Be sure to have ownership over your designs, even if you get tons of help from many people.

The culture of collaboration let students find sparks of innovation by collaboratively learning through the network of participants. Real-time, spontaneous sharing of knowledge scaffolded the learning into tasks deemed desirable to reach each participant's innovative solution. Rather than collecting information, as has been the traditional method for learning, the constructivist-learning environment let participants explore the Mindtool of wearable technologies together. Exploring the Mindtool of wearable technologies together permitted collaborative decision making on what to do with the information instead.

**Community building.** Collaborative communities were built within the constructivist-learning environment. Learners found each other, shared ideas, explored, and discovered together. Participants began to imagine and act from a new sense of possibility through the Mindtool of wearable technologies. Collaboration was communally developed with a common context offering multidimensional approaches toward individual learning. Tiffany would encourage community building by drawing attention to available expertise amongst the participants. She explained:

If I know someone has expertise on something else I go, "ask so and so." Certainly, as soon as students start seeing each other's projects they start realizing so and so's probably got more experience in this and so and so has more experience in this. There is the working with your partner and then there is also, especially the hand crafted technology, no one gets the same project. It is intended to be a diversified expertise kind of experience. So someone else may want to use a stroke sensor, or a knitted thing at the end, but they may not have done that project so hopefully they get to learn about some of those other materials from other students. They understand the best, the ones that they themselves did. During final projects students often go outside of the class to get help. So if they want something that is going to be really difficult to program they go and find expertise on it. One guy didn't know a thing about sewing, I mean even going up and down through the cloth, no, no idea. He got help from his Grandma. Grandma helped him make his projects look better. I love that this kind of thing, and this is why I will continue to do e-textiles more than 3D printing or laser-cutting or those sorts of things, by drawing on hand crafted skills it doesn't have to be sewing, it can be woodworking, or something else, it makes certain people qualify as experts who often don't in academic settings.

Tiffany learned from her students through the Mindtool of wearable technologies as well. From woodworking to other participant talent, this Mindtool will keep her forever enamored by its potential for expanding the context of learning. Community building took the constructivist-learning environment beyond the traditional classroom. The course syllabus even suggested:

Learn as a Community: We're in this together, and the more we share, the better all of our designs and understanding will be. Draw on your prior expertise. Share honest constructive criticism with your classmates. Listen to criticism. Support each other. Participants were inspired to learn from each other through sharing. The collective expertise available built the community. A collaborative approach developed through constructive criticism and support. The Mindtool of wearable technologies transformed learning and teaching through how participants dealt with knowledge in an active, selfdirected, and constructive way. It allowed endless innovation and interaction with an expandable learning environment.

The skill development of collaboration through the design of wearable technologies was transformative. The culture of collaboration allowed engagement with the Mindtool and each other in such a way that the diverse membership raised one another to higher levels of motivation. Through diverse membership, a culture of collaboration, and community building, individuals did not tend to see their interests in conflict with those of others, but worked to make the whole greater than the sum of the parts. Collaboration empowered participants and created a sense of ownership and belonging within a community. When decisions were reached, they were the group's efforts. Community building meant sharing prior knowledge, focusing on results, strengthening relationships, being open, inviting opinions, bringing out the best in others, and celebrating achievements together.

#### Summary

The Mindtool of wearable technologies provided opportunities for students to access information and learn more quickly. It engaged learners in collaborative and creative thinking through the construction of knowledge that they would not have been able to discover otherwise. The participants were motivated to engage with the learning environment to build upon their knowledge. Learning was active, creative, and studentcentered. Learners engaged in reflective thinking that led to knowledge construction. Learning was student-centered, making the participants responsible and reflective problem solvers. Participants added personal meaning to their learning by connecting knowledge, considering collectively shared information, and building toward innovative ideas.

In Chapter 5, the purpose of the study and implications of the findings are organized within the conceptual framework. Recommendations for further research and the implications for social change are provided with a review of current research related to the development of collaborative and creative thinking skills through Mindtools. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Many researchers have investigated the impact of art on student learning in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics and found positive results. Studies have also shown that creative thinking skills are developed through the arts. Researchers have suggested that Mindtools encourage creative thinking and could develop collaborative skills (Hwang et al., 2011). "Mindtools are computer-based tools and learning environments adapted or developed to function as intellectual partners with the learner in order to engage and facilitate critical thinking and higher order learning" (Jonassen, 1996, p. 9).

This qualitative case study was undertaken to explore teacher and student perceptions on collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool. Wearable technologies are technology-enhanced garments or pieces of technology having to do with the combining of fashion and technology (Olsson, 2012). The conceptual framework involved an interpretation of constructivism with Mindtools (Jonassen, 2005) and a culture of collaboration (Rosen, 2009) as the foundations for the exploration of skill development.

A qualitative case study design was used as a means of gathering teacher and student perceptions about collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies. This study was designed to explore student skill development experiences in a particular classroom rather than to evaluate the constructivist-learning environment. Perceptions on how engagement in digital artistic design of wearable technologies affects the collaborative and creative thinking skill development in learners were explored. Interviews were conducted with each of four participants consisting of three students and one instructor, who participated in a wearable technology integrated curriculum in a Rocky Mountain state; an additional follow-up interview was conducted with the instructor. The research included Skype or telephone audio-recorded interviews conducted outside of academic time requirements as the data collection technique. Participant offered artifacts of art-technology collaborations and creative thinking were also examined. The data were triangulated for clarity, interpretation, and support. Categorical aggregation was used to code data for themes and patterns.

The participants perceived an improved development of collaborative and creative thinking skills through the design of wearable technologies. Students indicated they became motivated, risk taking, constructivist knowledge builders of the Mindtool as they worked together to develop wearable technologies. Singer (2011) highlighted the importance of creativity in education, saying, "effective learning is basically creative; and the creativity we revere may itself be thought of as an extension and application of the learning process (p. 61)." The teacher perceived that when she facilitated student choices, inquiry, imagination, and collaboration in a failure-friendly constructivist-learning environment student creativity was enhanced.

## **Interpretation of the Findings**

In order to interpret the results from the shared experiences of the participants, I analyzed data using a conceptual framework based on Jonassen's (1996) modeling using Mindtools for conceptual change and Rosen's (2009) culture of collaboration. Jonassen's (1996) idea of Mindtools guided the interpretation of the findings for research questions 1 and 2 on how students and teachers perceived development of creative thinking when designing wearable technologies. Corporate and professional fields are not depending only on knowledge-based abilities, skills, and degrees; in addition, they are seeking aptitudes such as creative thinking and collaboration. The need for collaboration as a learning and innovation skill led to the interpretation of findings for research questions 3 and 4. Rosen's assumptions on the culture of collaboration and Jonassen's work on Mindtools highlighted technology as a cognitive tool that provided insight into the perceptions from each participant.

As part of the conceptual framework, Jonassen's (1996) modeling using Mindtools was useful in interpreting results for the first two research questions because participants considered knowledge expanded through connections, inquiry, and reflection in spite of institutional challenges and opportunities. Engaged students became motivated learners acknowledging their need for growth by seeking knowledge to create connections. The Mindtool of wearable technologies served to motivate student learning through adjustable task difficulty, acceptance of alternatives, and scaffolded knowledge growth opportunities. During the construction of knowledge, a Mindtool serves as a cognitive tool (1996). The design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool involved the participants in synchronously building physical objects while connecting knowledge for problem solving decisions to accomplish tasks. Multifaceted opportunities to perceive and interpret authenticity support the learning process by actively creating knowledge through integrated experiences (1996). The design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool used the building of design knowledge to connect learning toward problem solving. Learners found significance through the exploration of design because it was an integral component of life. As a Mindtool, wearable technologies added enticement to learning with the integration of art.

To shape an understanding of collaboration, Rosen's theory (2009) on the culture of collaboration was used to categorize the needs facing workforce success. An innovation gap exists related to collaborative and creative thinking skill development in terms of students being prepared to enter careers following high school (Partnership for 21<sup>st</sup> Century Skills Framework, 2013). Rosen (2009) stated that collaboration was a significant factor in sparking innovation (p. 11). Diversity-acknowledged learning through collaborative efforts builds respect in contexts that increase global awareness (Patterson, Carrillo, & Salinas, 2011). Wearable technologies, as a Mindtool, allowed free-flowing, interactive participation from a diverse community, toward the building of a culture of collaboration. Through the design of wearable technologies, collaboration was developed by individuals' desires to discover options seen by others.

# **Research Question 1**

Research Question 1 asked what students' perceptions were regarding the development of creative thinking skills while designing wearable technologies. The students in this study mentioned their initiation to the development of creative thinking came from different learning avenues. Participants' personal interests were consistently linked to the development of creative thinking through the design of wearable technologies. Any lack of prior knowledge was not found to be an issue. These participant experiences conformed to Jonassen's (1996) definition of creative thinking as "going beyond accepted knowledge to generate new knowledge" (Jonassen, 1996, p. 237). The Mindtool of wearable technologies inspired a desire to build and connect knowledge in a new and personal way.

The Mindtool of wearable technologies provided a constructivist-learning environment that inspired participants to combine fashion with technology. Participants saw ways to enhance the design of wearable technologies by incorporating elements of embedded computing with traditional aspects of fabric crafts. Jonassen believed ownership of the problem was the key to learning (1998, p. 215). He specialized in taking knowledge from unrelated fields, using technology, and applying it to information being learned (1996). In the same way, wearable technologies allowed information to be taken from unrelated fields and using technology, apply it toward knowledge being generated. The programmable computer-based tool and the constructivist-learning environment involving previously stored knowledge served as cognitive tools to build learner engagement and motivation toward development of creative thinking. This aligns with Jonassen's definition of a Mindtool as "computer-based tools and learning environments adapted or developed to function as intellectual partners with the learner in order to engage and facilitate critical thinking and higher order learning" (1996, p. 9).

Spontaneous and free-flowing differing possibilities with the Mindtool of wearable technologies were a reoccurring thought shared throughout the interviewing process. Opportunities were expanded as student knowledge grew, contributing to divergent thinking. Divergent thinking was interpreted as an expression of willingness to engage in the design of wearable technologies. Jonassen (1996) believed that Mindtools enhanced learning to engage interactivity toward willingness to build on knowledge. Analysis of the interviews revealed that the development of creative thinking was related to the individual's willingness to engage in the learning opportunity. Engaged students became motivated learners embracing their need for growth by seeking knowledge to create connections. Students' role in the design exploration of wearable technologies was transformed through their divergent thinking as the course progressed, just as Jonassen transformed constructivism theory to include technology in ways previously considered inconceivable (1996, p 25). Students' divergent thinking allowed thoughts to drift toward many different options, iterations, and ideas relating to a concept. Students showed divergent thinking as an approach to circumstances, focusing on investigating multiple possibilities toward a personalized idea. The differing possibilities of this Mindtool provided a personalization to learning through constant interactivity with the constructivist-learning environment. Conceptual frameworks supportive of constructivism suggest student-centered, technology-supported, problem-based learning environments with open-ended solutions (Jonassen, 1996). Students took what they learned through the design of wearable technologies, in addition to their prior knowledge and experiences from their major and hobbies, and created an original product. Participants perceived divergent thinking as a vital part in their enjoyment and success with this Mindtool. Divergent thinking can be used as an approach toward innovative creativity in a wide variety of settings, ranging from businesses to classrooms by

allowing imaginations to consider any possibility, explore new ways, and purposely diverge from traditional thoughts.

Jonassen (1998) believed that the opportunities for pedagogic design are far more interesting for the future because emerging technologies have extended opportunities for learning. Each of the participants expressed a challenge to design when computers and materials were integrated. Struggles were shared about working with different elements together. Just as these students were expecting an elective course to learn a technology tool, they expressed a level of rigor to the detail required for even a partial success. The problems proved challenging but surmountable through the construction of required new knowledge. Frustration in learning seemed tempered with celebrations along the way. Jonassen's (1996) modeling using Mindtools for conceptual change was reinforced by the participants' consideration of knowledge expanded through connections, inquiry, and reflection in spite of institutional challenges and opportunities.

Jonassen (1996) believed a constructivist-designed learning environment supported learning through the active creation of knowledge across domains. A Mindtool provides learning within a context-rich, experience-based activity that builds knowledge through construction. Wearable technologies motivated student learning through adjustable task difficulty, acceptance of alternatives, and scaffolded knowledge growth opportunities. According to Wagner, when a learner's role is that of designer, tools are utilized effectively for interpretation to support knowledge building (2012, p. 142). "Technologies should not support learning by attempting to instruct the learners, but rather should be used as knowledge construction tools that students learn with, not from" (Jonassen et al., 1998, p. 1). Student learning was a progression of actively created knowledge through integrated experiences with their existing schemata. The merger between fabric and electronic elements enabled computing and electronics to be incorporated as wearable technologies. The Mindtool of wearable technologies supported students' multiple perspectives and interpretations through their constructed design knowledge.

Imagination and creativity thrive within constraints (Root-Bernstein, & Root-Bernstein, 2009). Students found learning satisfaction through constraints. Decisionmaking occurred in cycles and became more context specific throughout the course progression. As constraints were diminished, creative thinking expanded toward a growing feeling of success for interesting and attainable outcomes. Jonassen believed accomplishing this necessitated intertwining instructional design with various instructional technologies (Jonassen, 1996). This Mindtool provided inquiry questions, scalable problems, and imaginative projects that participants were willing to unravel through knowledge construction. This provision was consistent with Jonassen's belief that "students must be provided with interesting, relevant, and engaging problems to solve" (Jonassen & Reeves, 1996, p. 718).

Harnessing the power of creativity to tackle challenges relied on the learning environment. A creativity climate provided a failure-friendly environment that encouraged creative thinking. A study by Pelfrey (2011) found that when teachers facilitate student choice, inquiry, imagination, and collaboration in a failure-friendly constructivist-learning environment, student creativity is enhanced. The creativity climate provided through this Mindtool guided students' desire to encounter and resolve complex, challenging cases. Through remixing, reworking, and repurposing of knowledge students perceived how the Mindtool of wearable technologies could facilitate the development of creative thinking.

The student participants in this study perceived creative thinking as taking a divergent direction to solving a problem, dealing with a concept, or brainstorming with others. The perceived development of their creative thinking tested each individual's traditional knowledge to see circumstances in innovative ways. Students witnessed the development of creativity through divergent thinking as well as in others designing differently from their approach with the same Mindtool of wearable technologies. Participants took traditional crafting talents to the learning environment and saw how the development of creative thinking generated new knowledge through scaffolding of tasks in interactive ways. Imagination was stimulated in the pursuit to discover many avenues to resolve problems. The Mindtool of wearable technologies brought personal joy and perceived success to each learner.

Through the design of wearable technologies, learners were assisted by the creativity climate of this Mindtool to interpret knowledge within a constructivist-learning environment. Creative thinking was developed using the Mindtool of wearable technologies through divergent thinking, the generating of new knowledge, stimulation of the imagination, and the creativity climate. To assist learners in interpreting knowledge in a constructivist-learning environment, the wearable technology Mindtool facilitated

student development of creative thinking. Student perceived development of creative thinking resulted in new learning about real-world behavior and its meaning (Yin, 2011).

# **Research Question 2**

Research Question 2 asked what teachers' perceptions were regarding student development of creative thinking skills through the designing of wearable technologies. The teacher explained how the design of wearable technologies enabled learners to explore problems through creative thinking, manipulation, and reflection. The design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool involved the learner in constructing both a personally designed physical object and building the connected knowledge it took to accomplish the task. Students learned by doing in both the virtual and real world, and they faced cognitive conflicts and knowledge building through design opportunities. This reinforced Mikropoulos and Bellou's (2013) belief that the educational contribution becomes more effective when an approach to constructivism involves cognitive tools or Mindtools as proposed by Jonassen (2000). Constructivism is an educational theory that suggests learning is the building of knowledge structures by the learner through interaction with the environment (Jonassen et al., 1998, p. 1). Learning was the building of knowledge structures, not just the obtaining of knowledge. The constructivist design for learning requires "interaction with the environment." The design of wearable technologies, as a Mindtool, engaged learners to bring together existing knowledge and materials with new information in innovative ways.

Traditionally rigor was associated with mastery of content alone. Information changes knowledge constantly. Learners need content knowledge within context to apply

and transform their knowledge for skill development toward creative thinking (Bellanca & Brandt, 2010, p. 271). New knowledge was generated as circumstances changed. The Mindtool of wearable technologies provided support for creative thinking skill development through the generation of new knowledge. The design of wearable technologies was offered as the Mindtool context for individuals to create knowledge. Through deliberate and active engagement students brought together existing ideas into new configurations, therefore creative thinking was developed.

Taking risks and experimenting were behaviors associated with creativity and innovation. Creative thinking enabled the generation of new knowledge within or across domains, including spaces, objects, and hobbies. This generation of new knowledge expanded the learning horizon from both within the classroom and beyond. Inspiration was found anywhere and everywhere. Students' design enhancements generated new knowledge through interactivity. They were able to take skills previously gained to assist in solving and adapting to new problems. The challenges encountered through the design of wearable technologies scaffolded the generating of new knowledge. Evaluation of the Mindtool spurred students to rely on personal expertise to help bridge different domains and frame creations as relatable and creative. Individuals needed to feel free to act creatively and innovatively. The act of defining one's problem and setting goals was found to be an important part of being creative. The teacher saw in the students, the motivation to think outside the box to make new, interesting connections, and links, from multiple knowledge domains.

# **Research Question 3**

Research Question 3 asked what students' perceptions were regarding the development of collaborative skills while designing wearable technologies. Wearable technologies, as a Mindtool, allowed free-flowing, interactive participation from a diverse community, toward the building of a culture of collaboration. This culture of collaboration allowed participation to be simultaneous, instead of passing instructions through levels and functions for others to implement (Rosen, 2009, p. 11). An economic trend is towards real-time, spontaneous collaboration (p. 9). I found that the students saw diversity as an avenue that allowed viewing in a different way. The diverse membership of the course emphasized that no two people were the same and learners had different needs. Individuals needed an understanding of issues that affected their design of wearable technologies, as well as others. They needed to work collaboratively and be able to learn from others with diverse cultures and backgrounds. Through the design of wearable technologies, collaboration was developed by individuals' desires to realize options possible as seen by others. The diverse perspectives from different learners fostered an evolution of ideas. The Mindtool of wearable technologies nurtured development of collaboration across the diverse membership by encouraging individual aspiration toward deciphering design concepts. This supports Rosen's belief that collaboration is significant in sparking innovation (2009, p. 11).

As a Mindtool, wearable technologies enticed learners by adding the integration of art. The different directions available toward learning with the Mindtool of wearable technologies meant every participant was both an expert and a novice. Students shared vulnerabilities as well as confidences with each other through the design of wearable technologies that led to collaborative knowledge building among learners. This collaborative skill development from such a diverse membership of individuals became a means to an end in figuring out how to solve problems.

Student resourcefulness to find similarly supportive learners on the Internet designing wearable technologies extended the range of diversity outside of the immediate classroom experience. This network provided an even wider diversity of perspectives. With many different points of view and cultural experiences, students' needs were better served by an expandable diverse membership brainstorming interesting solutions. Technological, economic, and cultural trends have changed the ways people collaborate according to Rosen (2009, p. 10). Motivation that is generated by sharing collective knowledge builds an ability to tap into developing skills (p. 70). Drawing on the positive energy of the collective knowledge building that was encouraged through the Mindtool of wearable technologies, the development of collaboration allowed learners to benefit from their differences. Finding some commonality within a diverse membership built personal bridges toward expanding learning of a shared interest, such as the Mindtool of wearable technologies. Bridging together diverse opinions, created openings for individuals from different cultures, backgrounds, and experiences to work collaboratively. "Rich, real-time collaboration lets people with a variety of skills and talents in multiple fields and functions come together spontaneously and create value" (Rosen, 2009, p. 22). The design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool enabled this diverse membership of

students to engage in constructing knowledge that required brainstorming of innovative ideas and collaboratively solving problems.

This Mindtool provided the context for resolving conflicts in constructive ways, which is essential for positive relationships among diverse individuals. A learning ecology to explore the arts allows an avenue to integrate technology (Steed, 2010). This taps a collective knowledge through collaboration (Hwang et al., 2011). Working collaboratively to resolve conflicts, both individually and collectively, among the diverse membership became the learners' perceived avenue toward success.

Value was generated as obstacles dissolved. Rosen (2009) defined collaboration as "working together to create value while sharing virtual or physical space" (p. 9). It takes a few individuals with a common goal, engaging through collaboration, to create added value to something (p. 10). He explained that collaboration is central to creating wealth. People working collaboratively achieve greater success than individuals working alone. (p. 12). The students' desire to gain knowledge enabled scaffolding of prior knowledge into the design of wearable technologies. This desire established a need to develop collaboration through impatience. Coming together spontaneously rather than waiting for input built a culture of collaboration for problem solving. Students sought knowledge from others' availability and expertise rather than wait for traditional avenues to provide information.

The building of knowledge through the Mindtool of wearable technologies raised students' motivation to find solutions to problems. The culture of collaboration provided safety to push exploration challenges. Challenges offered while designing wearable
technologies legitimized learners sharing their opinions, relating ideas, and working together towards the building of knowledge within the context of the Mindtool. This culture of collaboration generated new ideas learners had not considered, which allowed for individually perceived better results to be applied to the project.

The design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool showed potential to empower learners. Solutions may be seen completely differently from one individual to the next. Building on collective knowledge, differences are beneficially highlighted through collaboration adding value to a group solution. Bringing people together simultaneously to share spontaneous input solves problems through more efficient decisions (Rosen, 2009). This broader perspective relates to new kinds of value-added that motivates engagement toward fulfillment of personal goals (Rosen, 2009, p. 9). The students came together to accomplish tasks toward the personalization and design customization of their wearable technologies. Sharing experiences through the Mindtool of wearable technologies sped up the design process. Speeding up the design process would be of benefit to organizations as concerns can be resolved quicker with workers skilled in collaborative efforts. Today, information can be gathered, exchanged, and interacted with whenever, wherever, and however desired. The culture of collaboration allowed primary source information to be accessed by students on demand with instant analysis of the implications in real-time through the support of other learners.

By constructively exploring options and developing a collaborative plan for action, decision-making for problems became a shared activity. Through community building, participants felt safe contributing opinions as their thoughts were respected. Participants were free to ask questions and to take part in conversations, in order to support as well as get support for solutions within the diverse membership. Expertise was broadly distributed as membership spanned silos of knowledge combining experiences and backgrounds. A recurring concern in the literature was that *silo* thinking in disciplines makes collaboration challenging (Linton, 2009). In fact, Linton (2009) stated a "silo effect" in learning and the isolation it causes goes against human nature. Linton indicated that learner collaboration with others and ideas from different disciplines can increase knowledge and creativity leading to more productive and effective results. Through the design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool, communication became more personal, more conversational, and more exploratory. Desiring to expand one's knowledge by seeking information developed camaraderie among learners leading to community building.

Collaborative exchanges through the Mindtool of wearable technologies were loosely structured and highly adaptive. By presenting possibilities for connections to be expanded upon, student sharing of prior knowledge enabled scaffolding of tasks for the designing of their wearable technologies. Five elements were identified to support such instruction from determining a common goal, continual assessment, active and authentic information avenues, communication, to adjustments in responsibility (Puntambekar & Kolodner, 2005). The students' collective knowledge building developed a community of learners. This community of learners presented rich opportunities for constructivistlearning. With such a diverse and expandable community available, students created, collaborated, and changed the design of their wearable technologies together.

Each participant faced unique challenges with the Mindtool of wearable technologies. Their prior knowledge proved not to be enough. However, the gaining of new knowledge required individual ingenuity to network and pursue support toward perceived solutions to problems. Working together to implement ideas increased attention, as well as enjoyment. When participants collectively shared decision-making, and designing together, the built community benefited. Rosen believed that to find solutions through efficient decision making, individuals must spontaneously collaborate together (2009, p. 2). Today, information can be gathered, exchanged, and interacted with whenever, wherever, and however desired. The culture of collaboration allowed primary source information on demand with analysis of the implications in real-time with others of similar interest. This demand proved to heighten student engagement and enjoyment in the work, leading to individual's feelings that successful results were doable. The design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool offered learners the benefit of community building as an expandable context within the learning environment. Participants enjoyed informed support and experienced many opportunities to contribute. The students in this course were independent in their way but found community building established a give and take among learners to produce solutions that none of them on their own could design.

# **Research Question 4**

Research Question 4 asked what teachers' perceptions were regarding student development of collaborative skills through the designing of wearable technologies.

The teacher in this study felt students with distinct interests reached beyond limits of academia to teach and learn from others. The Mindtool of wearable technologies alleviated perceived struggles and challenges previously associated with learning alone. Knowledge building became different, learner-centered, less boring, and humbler. Possibilities for innovation were discovered through the collective learning network established by a diverse membership enrolled in the course. The teacher explained how students benefited from the prior knowledge and experiences of a diverse membership. Communication, trust, and openness enabled the diverse membership to feel comfortable expressing individually unique opinions. The range of discipline majors brought by the varied participants helped develop a collective knowledge to be tapped throughout the designing of wearable technologies. The learning environment invited collaborative skill development through this diverse membership.

As the Mindtool, wearable technologies added design into the context of a learning opportunity. The teacher sought to design a learning environment where learners developed collaborative skills to scaffold their learning with a network of participants. Brown described this as an "open, complex, adaptive system comprising elements that are dynamic and interdependent" (2000, p. 19), where Barron defined a learning ecology as the "set of contexts found in physical or virtual spaces that provide opportunities for learning" (2006, p. 195). Learning is interpreted through a collaborative collective knowledge building environment (Lin, 2011). By tapping into each other's skills, learning collaboratively became relevant to knowledge building. Each participant's background and experiences brought a collective knowledge to the course that only

needed interactivity among learners to be tapped. The Mindtool of wearable technologies provided the opportunity to develop a collaboratively built collective knowledge resource across a diverse membership of participants.

The teacher saw learners embraced the Mindtool of wearable technologies as a model for conceptual change. Students welcomed the collaborative spirit and the camaraderie that accompanied the learning. Collaboration was necessary in order to lead to transformational learning. The Mindtool of wearable technologies transformed traditional learning to create next-generation innovations. A culture of collaboration served as a conduit for knowledge building as well as promoting development of collaborative skill. A culture of collaboration dissolves the obstacles of time and space, produces outcomes, and generates value (Rosen, 2009, p. 9). Students required an understanding of the possibilities and the impossibilities of the Mindtool involved. The Mindtool of wearable technologies encouraged sharing between learners for exploration allowing for a culture of collaboration. Participants became personally responsible for their learning through the engagement of a Mindtool that built understanding and meaning making. The Mindtool of wearable technologies eased difficulties for learners by scaffolding tasks through collaborative contextualization of the activity. Cognitive tools that support skill development toward problem solving, modeling, and knowledge building should be included (Hirumi, 2005).

The Mindtool of wearable technologies encouraged a culture of collaboration to be developed among the learners. The culture of collaboration let students find sparks of innovation by collaboratively learning through a diverse network of participants. Realtime, spontaneous sharing of knowledge scaffolded learning struggles into tasks deemed desirable by students in order to reach each participant's innovative solution. Rather than solely collecting information, as has been the traditional method for learning, this constructivist-learning environment let participants explore the Mindtool of wearable technologies together. Collaborative decision-making permitted students to determine the purpose of acquired information instead of solely memorizing it.

Collaborative communities were built within this constructivist-learning environment. Learners found each other, shared ideas, explored, and discovered together. Participants imagined and acted upon a new sense of possibilities. Collaboration was communally developed within the common context of the wearable technologies. The design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool offered multidimensional approaches toward individual learning. Community building took the constructivist-learning environment beyond the traditional classroom in search of furthering knowledge. Participants were driven to learn from each other through sharing. The collective expertise available built the community. Students' collaborative skill development occurred through constructive criticism and support.

The teacher experienced the Mindtool of wearable technologies transforming student learning and her teaching by participants dealing with knowledge in an active, self-directed, and constructive way. Wearable technologies as a Mindtool allowed endless innovation and interaction with an expandable learning environment. The skill development of collaboration through the design of wearable technologies was transformative. The culture of collaboration allowed engagement with the Mindtool and each other in such a way that the diverse membership raised one another to higher levels of motivation. Through diverse membership, a culture of collaboration, and community building, individuals did not tend to see their interests in conflict with those of others, but worked to make the whole greater than the sum of the parts. Collaboration empowered participants and created a sense of ownership and belonging within a community. When decisions were reached, they were the group's efforts. Community building meant sharing prior knowledge, focusing on results, strengthening relationships, being open, inviting opinions, bringing out the best in others, and celebrating achievements, together. The constructivist-learning environment provided opportunities for students to access information and to learn more quickly. It engaged learners in collaborative and creative thinking through construction of knowledge that they would not have been able to discover otherwise. The participants were motivated to engage with the learning environment to interpret for knowledge building. Learning was active, creative, and student-centered. Learners engaged in reflective thinking that led to knowledge construction. Participants were responsible for their own learning. Learners added personal meaning to their creative thinking by adding depth, other's ideas, and application of new knowledge.

#### Limitations of the Study

Case studies, by definition, are not generalizable. Yin (2009) cautioned against generalizing the results of a case study, stating, "cases are not 'sampling units' and should not be chosen for this reason" (p. 38). The results of this study, therefore, are of greatest use to those in the educational and business community who may choose to

transfer the findings to their environment. The information added to the field from this study shares perceptions from a certain group on collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies.

Limitations arose when the collected data, determined themes and patterns, and interpretations were analyzed. The possibility exists that "everyday contextual understandings are reintroduced" (Mishler, 1991, p. 5). Other limitations may be found due to inconsistencies in individual opinions and the environment of qualitative research that is "exploratory and inductive in nature" (Trochim, 2006, p. 20). This study's primary limitation was the specific criteria chosen to select participants.

A sample of two teachers and eight students who participated in a wearable technology integrated curriculum in a Rocky Mountain state was the selected population for this study. Certain criteria directed purposeful sampling to teachers and students who were involved in a wearable technology integrated curriculum. The participant sample size of three students and one teacher recruited from a Rocky Mountain region state educational institution constituted a limitation of the scope. Data for analysis were based on experiences and not individuals or groups. Therefore, seeking further participants from alternative environments was unnecessary. Smith et al. (2009) recommended a sampling of three participants to collect relevant data for analysis by beginning researchers. This suggestion offered a basis from which to determine the appropriate number for this study. A minimum of 3 and a maximum of 10 participants was the chosen sampling to ensure depth and detail of data collection. Reasoning for the selection logic was justified by the availability of participants, quality assurance for data analysis,

and considerations of participation willingness. Due to the narrow population of participants available for the study, results may not be transferable beyond the specific population from which the sample was drawn.

Each of the three global editions of the New Media Consortium Horizon Report (2013) – higher education, K-12 education, and museum education – emphasized six emerging technologies expected to find mainstream use over the next 5 years. On this list of emerging technologies, set at 4 or 5 years away, is wearable technology (p. 5). An increasing array of wearable technology has become available, hinting at the potential for teaching and learning, though there remains to be seen many concrete education examples (p. 6).

Yin (1994) recognized the importance of incorporating "correct operational measures for the concepts being studied" (p. 27). He suggested that procedures be chosen from successful examples tested in previously relatable projects. A familiarity of the organization should be developed prior to any data collection implementation. This familiarity could include preliminary communications about documents.

The Rocky Mountain Region state educational institution department head agreed to serve as a community partner for the study to identify potential participants from their organization for interview consideration. A purposively chosen consenting teacher participant provided potential student candidates to consider for data collection. Student participants were purposively chosen through the selection criteria, and an email invitation was sent. According to Van Manen, in order "to uncover the meaning of a phenomenon, individuals who have experienced the event must be included in a study and carefully interviewed to allow meaning to surface" (1990, p. 30). One teacher and three consenting students were interviewed.

The results of this study could advocate social change in other areas to promote understanding of the value of art in education. Due to the narrow participant selection, transferability of results to a similar institution may not be feasible. However, the findings may indicate the necessity for further studies. For this study, the concentration was on the depth of data analyzed from the perceptions of the participants (Moustakas, 1994).

An additional limitation was that only teacher and student perceptions were included in the data collection for this study. Additional possibilities for data could aid in building a more comprehensive knowledge of the participants. Further interviewing with parents or peers could provide more perceptive insights regarding the development of collaborative and creative thinking skills. However, such additions could also diminish clearer findings from the experience of selected participants. A rich description provided by a narrower population could promote transferability with a more significant sampling. Demographic information beyond what is shared through Skype or telephone audiorecorded interviews was not collected but may yield implications. These interviews were completed remotely and, aside from gender, no knowledge of socioeconomic status or ethnicity was gained.

## **Recommendations for Action**

Educational institutions that see innovation tightly associated with Science, Technology, Engineering, and Math, the STEM subjects, need to consider the integration of a Mindtool such as the design of wearable technologies to further encourage the development of collaborative and creative thinking skills to flourish. Art needs to be added to the STEM initiative to create STEAM (Guimerans, 2012). The designing of wearable technologies as a Mindtool has shown promise as a new way to introduce STEM to students with diverse backgrounds and experiences. Having an idea of what to expect from an artistic Mindtool may help both the staff and students have a rewarding experience with the design of wearable technologies. The perceptions of the participants shared through this study can help in considering the added value of the arts to STEM. STEM fields would gain increased value from integrating with the arts. A varied contributing group of individuals will produce more diverse ideas (Lovell, 2011).

The national push to engage students in the exploration of science, technology, engineering, and math would be enhanced with the continued and reinstated inclusion of artistic integrations that strengthen the STEM curriculum. Schools could use the information provided from this research to strengthen and enhance their STEM programs by understanding the perceptions of each participant's experience with the Mindtool of wearable technologies. This information would advance practice and policy in education by enforcing the value of the arts in STEM. Schools can use the findings from this work to create programs and curricula that will help prepare students for their future success. The design of wearable technologies adds artistic value through constructivist-learning by building skill development of collaborative and creative thinking.

## **Recommendations for Further Research**

The No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) had a detrimental effect on the benefits of the arts as a core subject for learners (Americans for the Arts, 2012). If the arts are facilitating the development of collaborative and creative thinking skill development that employers are assuming schools are providing, then the value of arts in curriculum needs to be reassessed and the arts reinstated and increased in public schools. The national push to engage students in the exploration of science, technology, engineering, and math (STEM) initiatives may be enhanced with the continued and reinstated inclusion of artistic integrations that strengthen the STEM curriculum. The following recommendations are based on the participants' perceptions of collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool.

1. Wearable technology, as a Mindtool, represents one new direction in bridging the knowledge domains of craft, technology, and learning. An increasing array of wearable technology has become available, making claims about the potential for knowledge building although few research studies were found to measure the validity of these claims (NMC Horizon Report, 2013, p. 6). Other technological Mindtools need to be explored and researched to determine if they have a similar or different impact on learning as wearable technologies. Qualitative case study research is needed to investigate various arts by blending human-computer interactivity with wood, ceramics, or glasswork to determine their impact on the development of creative thinking and collaborative skills in learners. My study could be used as a model for research with different artistic Mindtools and at different age levels.

- 2. Individuals spend time decorating themselves. If time spent on fashion could be tapped in an educational way perhaps this energy could be focused to increase technological literacy and inspire the next generation of designers and engineers. Research needs to be conducted to determine if the experience of participating in a workshop or course involving a Mindtool such as the design of wearable technologies could impact attitudes towards technology. A study researching versions of a kit for wearable technologies and capabilities for mass reusable artistic Mindtools could provide insights into best practices for implementation. Continued research is needed to explore ways to integrate artistic Mindtools available to teachers and students in a productive manner. Easing adoption of artistic Mindtools through a kit with mass reusable potential could prove valuable to adding art to STEM.
- 3. As people use wearable technologies, advantages and limitations are revealed. Possible investigation as to the potential of wearable technologies in areas beyond education, such as assistive technologies, provides areas for further research. The human-computer interactivity of wearable technologies could enhance the quality of life and learning for many with special needs.
- 4. Future research into how creative thinking and collaborative skills are utilized within individuals' jobs is needed. Findings from further research would lead to insights into how to integrate an art education agenda to enhance the needs of students to develop skills for innovation. The more that is understood about problems and challenges students will have to face for their future successes, the more that can be done to prepare them thoroughly. For example, knowing how employers look for tendencies

toward creative problem solving during an interview could give students an edge toward being exceptional in an interview and being successful in their futures.

- 5. Research about the connections art-technology and learning could contribute to the field of educational technology should be conducted. Research measuring student skill development in schools that integrate artistic Mindtools across disciplines would further support the value of art added to STEM. Research is needed focusing on teacher professional development that is most effective in increasing artistic Mindtool implementation in specific disciplines, as a constructivist tool associated with best classroom practices.
- 6. Beyond learning about circuitry, the real promise of wearable technology artifacts is their capacity to follow students into their peer and family settings, potentially transforming their identities in these social circles and sparking relevant conversations. Further interviewing with parents and peers could provide more perceptive insights regarding the development of collaborative and creative thinking skill.

#### **Implications for Social Change**

The perceptions and shared experiences of the students and teacher may provide other educational institutions with insight into what to expect when adding an artistic Mindtool to the curricular offerings. Participants reported that the diverse membership, a culture of collaboration, community building, a creativity climate, stimulation of their imaginations, generation of new knowledge, and divergent thinking were benefits to learning within the artistically constructive learning environment. An implication for positive social change for student learning would be the inclusion of artistic Mindtools, such as the design of wearable technologies, into curricular offerings. Students in both physical and virtual settings could learn together, either online or face-to-face, to exchange ideas and provide each other opportunities to build knowledge. By ensuring that children have opportunities to engage in learning with artistic Mindtools such as the design of wearable technologies for furthering the development of collaborative and creative thinking skills, the value added will provide for their future success.

Positive social change beyond the student level can affect the development of collaborative and creative thinking skills for employees. Results indicated companies want employees to identify problems and new patterns, integrate knowledge across fields, be original, and possess basic curiosity (Lichtenberg et al., 2008). Companies today are seeking the shared creation of value that the students in this study found through the design of wearable technologies. Enhanced value was created when collaboratively designing products concurrently. The economic trend is to search for the best talent at the best price, regardless of geography. As organizations explore globalization, the desire to innovate and build value drives the need to collaborate (Fawcett, Jones, & Fawcett, 2012). With the expectation of hurdling obstacles, companies adopt processes, systems, strategies, and tools to enable collaboration. A reason collaborative skills are not developed in organizations relates to their cultures (Rosen, 2009, p. 3). Effective collaboration can produce many benefits for individuals or organizations. The collaborating group needs a common goal. The group should consist of individuals with appropriate skills. Individuals need readily accessible and applicable resources, and an

environment conducive to collaboration (Rogers-Brown, 2010). Businesses are exploring the concept of artistic contexts to serve as learning tools for the enhancement of skill development for building ability in areas such as collaboration (Americans for the Arts, 2012). The design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool could provide such an artistic resource to companies as a learning tool to enhance employee development of collaborative and creative thinking skills.

Global economic needs in demand for future innovation and success will be better addressed with the results from this study. Education can empower positive social change by addressing the needs of future employers. Supporting student attainment of collaborative and creative thinking skill development is important because the global economy is seeking these skills. The design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool facilitated the development of these skills that employers are assuming schools are providing.

### Conclusion

As a teacher for 25 years and as a student for life, I can relate to and understand the many challenges and struggles these participants spoke about in working with this Mindtool. Hearing their passions build through the design of wearable technologies was revitalizing because each sincerely desired to make a positive contribution to the collective knowledge. These participants had insightful perceptions on the development of collaborative and creative thinking skill through the design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool. Each found value from the inclusion of art. The interview process gave me insight about my perceptions on learning and reminded me that everything I do should be learner-centered. These participants expressed their determination to find ways to make things work despite obstacles. The collaborative spirit of engagement encouraged a determination to affect real learning.

I also realized that the participants enjoyed having the time to speak of their perceptions and experiences. Since they enjoyed their learning experiences with this Mindtool, the opportunity to help expand the opportunity to others through my research was empowering. Several of them thanked me for giving them the chance to talk about their experiences.

Collaborative and creative thinking is not only important to improve student learning, but also as a way to learn to work together innovatively as future professionals. The participants validated each other's efforts within the constructivist-learning environment, which created a camaraderie that enhanced their experiences as learners. The research experience was both humbling and energizing as I look toward the future and how I can affect positive social change.

As a society that depends on and is proud of innovation, it is vital to inspire in learners the belief that they can be creators by collaborating together. An increasing array of wearable technology has become available, hinting at the potential for teaching and learning, though there remains to be seen many concrete education examples (NMC Horizon Report, 2013, p. 6). Few individuals understand what goes into the making of devices and gadgets or have even attempted to create their own. The design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool demonstrated to be effective at tapping this desire in learners. The future potential of wearable technologies expands into fields such as medicine and space exploration. By offering students the Mindtool of wearable technologies, doors to emerging options for student futures may open.

Wearable technologies have developed into a specialized field of design, occupied mostly by engineers and designers. Through the design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool, inquiry about who constructs technology, what it looks like, and what it does, comes into play for anyone to explore. This Mindtool combines tools in the hands with that of the mind. The design of wearable technologies combines these two by making invisible technology visible. There is always the benefit of how the design of wearable technologies acquaints learners to programming electronics. Additionally the construction of materials involved is pulling upon knowledge from traditional crafts. When students create wearable technologies they gain knowledge of craft techniques that have been pushed out of schools in recent years while programming their constructions. Through the design of wearable technologies, students can construct and see connections interactively. Wearable technologies, as a Mindtool tempts learners to engage with the physical world while improving their technological literacy.

Do-It-Yourself communities are becoming vital informal learning centers, yet they are detached from schools. Through the design of wearable technologies as a Mindtool, this detachment can be connected and expanded to produce learning potential toward student future success. The existing view of the 21<sup>st</sup> century workforce is of employees expected to innovate by collaborating with other individuals of diverse professions, interests, educational backgrounds, and cultures (Siler, 2011, p. 417).

## References

- Adams, J. (2013). A case study: Using lesson study to understand factors that affect teaching creative and critical thinking in the elementary classroom. (Order No. 3560388, Drexel University). ProQuest Dissertations and Theses, 231. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1356692081?accountid=14872. (1356692081).
- Ahmed, S., Camerano, C., Fortuna, L., Frasca, M., & Jaccheri, L. (2009). Information technology and art: Concepts and state of the practice. In Furht, B. (Ed.). *Handbook of Multimedia for Digital Entertainment and Arts*. 567-592. Berlin, Germany: Springer Verlag.

Alvarez, L. (1987). Adventures of a physicist. New York, NY: Basic Books.

Americans for the arts. (2012, January 11). Retrieved from http://www.artsusa.org/

Apollo Research Institute. (2012). The future of work: Summary of insights and recommendations. Retrieved from

http://apolloresearchinstitute.com/sites/default/files/future\_of\_work\_report\_final. pdf

Arum, R., & Roska, J. (2011). Academically adrift: Limited learning on college campuses. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Baker, R. (2012). The effects of high-stakes testing policy on arts education. *Arts Education Policy Review*, *113*(1), 17-25.
doi: 10.1080/10632913.2012.626384

- Barell, J. (2010). Problem-based learning: The foundation for 21<sup>st</sup> century skills. In J.
  Bellanca, J., Brandt, R. (Eds.), 21<sup>st</sup> Century Skills: Rethinking How Students
  Learn, 9-31. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree Press.
- Barron, B. (2006). Interest and self-sustained learning as catalysts of development: A learning ecologies perspective. *Human Development*, 49(4), 193-224.
- Batey, M. (2011, February 7). Is creativity the number 1 skill for the 21<sup>st</sup> century? Creativity is the essential skillset for the future. *Psychology Today*. Retrieved from http://www.psychologytoday.com/blog/working-creativity/201102/iscreativity-the-number-1-skill-the-21st-century
- Bellanca, J., & Brandt, R. (2010). 21<sup>st</sup> century skills: Rethinking how students learn,Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree.
- Berzowska, J. (2013). E-textile technologies in design, research, and pedagogy. In
  Buechley, L., Peppler, K., Eisenberg, M., and Kafai, Y., *Textile Messages: Dispatches from the World of e-Textiles and Education*, 171-179. New York, NY:
  Peter Lang Publishing, Inc.
- Bronson, P., & Merryman, A. (2010, July 10). The creativity crisis. *Newsweek*. Retrieved from http://www.newsweek.com/2010/07/10the-creativity-crisis.html
- Brown, J. (2000). Growing up digital: How the web changes work and education and the ways people learn. *Change*, 11-20.

Buechley, L. (2010). Questioning invisibility, IEEE Computer, 43(4), 84-86.

Beyers, R. (2010).Nurturing creativity and innovation through fab kids: A case study. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, *19*(5), 447-455.
doi:10.1007/s10956-010-9212-0

Carey, W. (May 21, 2008). In today's process-driven workplace, collaboration is king. Arizona State University. Retrieved from http://knowwpcarey.com/article.cfm?aid=448

- Chambers, J., & Carbonaro, M. (2003). Designing, developing, and implementing a course on LEGO robotics for technology teacher education. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 11(2), 209-241.
- Charmaz, K. (2006). *Constructing grounded theory: A practical guide through qualitative analysis*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Chen, T. L., Ciocarlie, M., Cousins, S., Grice, P. M., Hawkins, K., Hsiao, K. & Takayama, L. (2013). Robots for humanity. *IEEE Robotics and Automation Magazine*, 1070(9932/13).
- Cleaver, S. (2013). Hands-on is minds-on: Want to engage every student? Break out the old-fashioned scissors and glue. *Scholastic*. Retrieved from http://www.scholastic.com/browse/article.jsp?id=3751901

Campoy-Leffler, N. (2011, May 25). Conservative republicans propose eliminating arts and culture funding. *Huffpost Arts and Culture*. The Huffington Post. Retrieved from http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2011/01/21/conservativereplublicans n 812415.html

Creativity and Innovation: European Year 2009. Imagine a new world photo competition.

An Initiative of the European Union. Retrieved from

http://ec.europa.eu/culture/documents/winners\_eyci\_.pdf

Dawidowicz, P. (2010). *Literature reviews made easy: A quick guide to success*. Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing.

Duffy, T., & Cunningham, D. (1996). Constructivism: Implications for the design and delivery of instruction. In Jonassen, D.H. (ed.), *Handbook of Research for Educational Communications and Technology*, 170-198. New York, NY: Macmillan Library Reference USA.

- Eisenberg, M. (2010). Educational technology reimagined. New Directions for Youth Development, 2010(128). doi: 10.1002/yd.372
- Europa. (2009). Imagine. create. innovate. *European Year of Creativity and Innovation* 2009. Retrieved from http://www.create2009.europa.eu/about\_the\_year.html
- Falk-Krzesinski, H., Borner, K., Contractor, N., Fiore, S., Hall, K., & Keyton, B. (2010). Advancing the science of team science. *Clinical and Translational Science*, 3(5), 2630266.
- Fawcett, S., Jones, S., & Fawcett, A. (2012). Supply chain trust: The catalyst for collaborative innovation. *Business Horizons*, 55(2), 163-178.

Fischer, C. (2009). Bracketing in qualitative research: Conceptual and practical matters. *Psychotherapy Research*, 19(4/5), 583-590.
doi:10.1080/10503300902798375

- Fleischmann, K., & Hutchison, C. (2012) Creative exchange: An evolving model of multidisciplinary collaboration. *Journal of Learning Design*, 5(1), 23-31. Retrieved from http://eprints.jcu.edu.au/15603/
- Friedman, T. (2006). *The world is flat: A brief history of the twenty-first century*. New York, NY: Farrar, Straus, and Giroux.
- Gates, B. (2011). Flip the curve: Student achievement vs. school budgets. Presentation at the Annual Meeting of the National Governors Association, Washington, DC, February. http://www.impatientoptimists.org/posts/2011/02/ flip-the-curve-student-achievement-vs-schoolbudgets.
- Glaser, B., & Strauss, A. (1967). The discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research. Chicago, IL: Aldine Pub. Co.
- Gordon, D. (Summer, 2012). The confidence factor in liberal education. *Liberal Education Perspectives*, 42-47.
- Guimerans, P. (2012). Creative soft circuits: Introducing soft circuits kits as a tool to engage children into educational arts and crafts. *Creative Processes and Childhood-Oriented Cultural Discourses*, 352.
- Green, J., & Kindseth, A. (2011). Art all day: Distinction and interrelation of schoolbased and out-of-school arts learning. *Studies in Art Education: A Journal of Issues and Research*, 52(4), 337-341.
- Harriger, A., Harriger, B., Offner, A., Marrero, P. & Baysinger, R. (2013). Partnering with industry to engage high school students in STEM disciplines through competition. In R. McBride and M. Searson (Eds.), *Proceedings of Society for*

Information Technology and Teacher Education International Conference 2013, 3906-3910. Chesapeake, VA: AACE. Retrieved from http://www.editlib.org/p/48725

- Hausman, J., Ploof, J., Duignan, J., Hostert, N., & Brown, W. (2010). The condition of art education. *Critical Visual Art Education [CVAE]*. Retrieved from http://iaeaconference2010.wikispaces.com/file/view/Condition%20of%20Art%20 Education\_withimage.pdf
- Hirumi, A. (2005). Designing student-centered e-learning environments. Handout #1: Grounded instructional strategies. Retrieved from http://sitios.itesm.mx/va/dide/docs\_internos/docs\_enc/hirumi/h01strategies.pdf
- Hung, W., Jonassen, D., & Liu, R. (2008). Problem-based learning. In Spector, J.,
  Merrill, M., Van Merrienboer, J., & Driscoll, M. (Eds.) *Handbook of Research on Educational Communications and Technology (3<sup>rd</sup>ed)*, 485-506. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Hwang, G., Chu, H., Lin, Y., & Tsai, C. (2011). A knowledge acquisition approach to developing Mindtools for organizing and sharing differentiating knowledge in a ubiquitous learning environment. *Computers and Education*, 57(1), 1368-1377.

Hwang, G., Shi, Y., & Chu, H. (2011). A concept map approach to developing collaborative Mindtools for context-aware ubiquitous learning. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 42(5), 778-789. doi: 10.1111/1.1467-8535.2010.01102.x

Jacelon, C., & O'Dell, K. (2005). Case and grounded theory as qualitative research

methods. Urologic Nursing, 25, 49–52.

- Jacobson, M. (2008). A design framework for educational hypermedia systems: Theory, research, and learning emerging scientific conceptual perspectives. *Educational Technology, Research and Development, 56*(1), 5-28.
  Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/218022849?accountid=14872
- Jobs, S. 2005. Commencement address delivered at Stanford University, Stanford, CA, June 12. http://news.stanford.edu/news/2005/june15/jobs-061505.html.
- Jonassen, D., Beissner, K., & Yacci, M., (1993). Structural knowledge: Techniques for representing, assessing, and acquiring structural knowledge. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates
- Jonassen, D. (1996). *Computers in the classroom: Mindtools for critical thinking*. Columbus, OH: Merrill/Prentice-Hall.
- Jonassen, D., & Reeves, T. (1996). Learning with technology: Using computers as cognitive tools. In D. H. Jonassen (Ed.), *Handbook of Research for Educational Communications and Technology*, 693–719. New York, NY: Macmillan.
- Jonassen, D., Carr, C., & Yueh, H. (March, 1998). Computers as Mindtools for engaging learners in critical thinking. *TechTrends*, 43(2), 24-32.
- Jonassen, D. (1998). Designing constructivist-learning environments. In C. M. Reigeluth (Ed.), *Instructional Theories and Models*, 2nd Ed. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

Jonassen, D. (March 10, 1999). Designing constructivist-learning environments.

Instructional-Design Theories. Retrieved from

http://www.indiana.edu/~idtheory/chapter\_10\_summary.html

Jonassen, D. (2000). *Computers as Mindtools for Schools: Engaging critical thinking*, 2nd ed. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall, Inc.

Jonassen, D. (2005). Jonassen's home. Retrieved from http://tiger.coe.missouri.edu/~jonassen/.

- Jonassen, D. (2006). *Modeling with technology: Mindtools for conceptual change*. Columbus, OH: Pearson Education.
- Jonassen, D. (2011). Supporting problem solving in PBL. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Problem-based Learning*, *5*(2), 95-112.
- Kafai, Y., & Peppler, K. (2011). Youth, technology, and DIY: Developing participatory competencies in creative media production. In V. L. Gadsden, S. Wortham, & R. Lukose (Eds.), Youth Cultures, Language and Literacy. *Review of Research in Education*, 35(1), 89-119. doi: 10.3102/0091732X10383211
- Katz-Buonincontro, J. (2011). How might aesthetic knowing relate to leadership? A review of the literature. *International Journal of Education and the Arts*, 12(SI 1.3). Retrieved from http://www.ijea.org/v12sil/.
- Katz-Buonincontro, J., & Phillips, J. (2011). Art, its creation and leadership [can be]
  revealing and frightening': How school leaders learn to frame and solve problems
  through the arts. *International Journal of Leadership in Education: Theory and Practice*, 14(3), 269-291.

- Kim, K. (2002, Fall). Critique on the Torrance tests of creative thinking. Retrieved from http://kyunghee.myweb.uga.edu/portfolio/review%10of%20ttct.htm
- Kim, K. (2011). The creativity crisis: The decrease in creative thinking scores on the Torrance tests of creative thinking. *Creativity Research Journal*, 23(4), 285-295. doi:10.1080/10400419.2011.627805
- Lichtenberg, J., Woock, C., & Wright, M. (2008). Ready to innovate: Are educators and executives aligned on the creative readiness of the U.S. workforce? *The Conference Board*, Research Report 1424.
- Lin, C. (July, 2011). A learning ecology perspective: School systems sustaining art teaching with technology. *Art Education*.
- Lincoln, Y., & Guba, E. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.

Linton, G. (2009). The silo effect in academia and its consequences. *Higher Education Pedagogy and Policy*. Retrieved from http://glinton.wordpress.com/2009/01/14/the-silo-effect-in-academia-and-itsconsequences/

Lovell, E., & Buechley, L. (2010, June). An e-sewing tutorial for DIY learning. In *Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Interaction Design and Children*, 230-233. ACM.

Lovell, E. (2011). A soft circuit curriculum to promote technological self efficacy (Doctoral dissertation, Massachusetts Institute of Technology).

- Loyens, S., Rikers, R., & Schmidt, H. (2009). Students' conceptions of constructivistlearning in different program years and different learning environments. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 79(3), 501-514.
- Maxwell, J. (2005). Applied social research methods series: Vol. 42. Qualitative research design: An interactive approach (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- McTighe, J. & Seif, E. (2010). An implementation framework to support 21<sup>st</sup> century skills. In J. Bellanca, J., & Brandt, R. (Eds.), 21<sup>st</sup> century skills: Rethinking How Students Learn, 149-173. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree Press.
- Merriam, S. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. Jossey-Bass. San Francisco, CA.
- Mikropoulos, T., & Bellou, I., (2013). Educational robotics as Mindtools. *Themes in Science and Technology Education*, 6(1), 5-14.
- Miles, M., & Huberman, A. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Mishler, E. (1991). *Research interviewing: Context and narrative*. Harvard University Press.
- Mishra, P., & Henriksen, D. (2012). Rethinking technology and creativity in the 21st century: On being in-disciplined. *TechTrends: Linking Research and Practice to Improve Learning*, 56(6), 18-21. doi:10.1007/s11528-012-0608-y
- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. New York, NY: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Nachmias, D., & Nachmias, C. (1987). Research methods in the social sciences. (3rd ed.).

New York, NY: St. Martin's Press.

Nardi, B., & O'Day, V. (1999). *Information ecologies: Using technology with hea*rt. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.

National Art Education Association. (2010). *Learning in a visual age: The critical importance of visual arts education*. Retrieved from http://www.arteducators.org/learning/learning-in-a-visual-age/3\_NAEA\_LVA\_10.pdf

- Neill, M. (2010, March 23). Congress needs a different blueprint. Retrieved from http://education. Nationaljournal.com/2010/03/sizing-up-the-new-blueprint.php
- NMC Horizon Report. (2013) K-12 edition. *New Media Consortium*. Retrieved from http://www.nmc.org/pdf/2012-horizon-report-K12.pdf
- Norman, D. (1993). *Things that make us smart: Defending human attributes in the age of the machine*. Readings, MA: Wesley Publishing Co.

Olsson, T. (2012) Arduino wearables (1st Ed.). Lexington, KY. Apress.

Partnership for 21st Century Skills (2013). *Framework for 21st century learning*. Retrieved from http://p21.org.

Partnership for 21st Century Skills. (2010). Up to the challenge: The role of career and technical education and 21<sup>st</sup> century skills in college and career readiness. *Association for Career and Technical Education, and National Association of State Directors of Career Technical Education Consortium*.
 Retrieved from http://www.p21.org/storage/documents/CTE\_Oct2010.pdf

Patterson, F., Kerrin, M., Gatto-Roissard, G., & Coan, P. (2009). Everyday innovation:

How to enhance innovative working in employees and organizations. *Nesta*. London: England. Retrieved from

http://www.nesta.org.uk/publications/reports/assets/features/everyday\_innovation \_how\_to\_enhance\_innovative\_working\_in\_employees\_and\_organisations

- Patterson, L., Carrillo, P., & Salinas, R. (April, 2011). Lessons from a global learning virtual classroom. *Journal of Studies in International Educa*tion. 16(182). doi: 10.1177/1028315311398665
- Patton, M. (2002). Qualitative research and evaluation methods (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Pelfrey, R. (2011). Classroom behaviors in elementary school teachers identified as fostering creativity. Ed.D. Dissertation, Northern Kentucky University, United States--Kentucky. Publication No. AAT 3457469.
- Peshawaria, R. (2011). Energizing the organization. *Leader to Leader*. 2012(63), 19-25. doi: 10.1002/ltl.20005
- Phillips, L. (2012). The artistic edge. *Americans for the Arts*. Retrieved from http://www.artsusa.org/
- President's Committee on the Arts and Humanities. (2011). *Reinvesting in arts education: Winning America's future through creative schools*. Retrieved from http://www.pcah.gov/sites/default/files/photos/PCAH\_Reinvesting\_4web.pdf
- Puntambekar, S., & Kolodner, J. (2005). Toward implementing distributed scaffolding:
  Helping students learn science from design. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 42(2), 185–217. doi: 10.1002/tea.20048

- Quintana, C., Zhang, M., & Krajcik, J. (2005). A framework for supporting metacognitive aspects of online inquiry through software-based scaffolding.
   *Educational Psychologist, 40*(4), 235–244. doi: 10.1207/s15326985ep4004\_5
- Reigeluth, C. (1983). Instructional design theories and models. *In Handbook of Research for Educational Communications and Technology* (p. 207-216). New York, NY: Macmillan.
- Rogers-Brown, S. (2010, July 1). Dynamic spaces in the contemporary workplace. *Interiors and Sources*. Retrieved from http://www.buildings.com/articledetails/articleid/10227/title/dynamic-spaces-in-the-contemporary-workplace.aspx
- Root-Bernstein, R., & Root-Bernstein, M. (2013). The art and craft of science. *Educational Leadership*, 70(5), 16-21.
- Root-Bernstein, T. (2011). The art of scientific and technological innovations. *The Art of Science Learning*. Retrieved from

http://scienceblogs.com/art\_of\_science\_learning/2011/04/the\_art\_of\_scientific\_an d\_tech\_1.ph

Root-Bernstein, M. & Root-Bernstein, R. (2009, October 6). Stimulating imagination through constraints. *Psychology Today*. Retrieved January 3, 2014, from http://www.psychologytoday.com/blog/imagine/200910/stimulatingimaginationthrough-constraints

Rosen, E. (2009). Culture of collaboration. San Francisco, CA: Red Ape Publishing.

Savage, T., Sánchez, I., O'Donnell, F., & Tangney, B. (July 2003). Using robotic

*technology as a constructionist Mindtool in knowledge construction*. Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies (ICALT), Greece, 324-325.

Seifter, H. (2012), Closing the innovation gap: How the arts are becoming the new competitive advantage. *Leader to Leader*, 11–15. doi: 10.1002/ltl.20043

Siler, T. (2011). The artscience program. Leonardo, 44(5), 417-424.

- Singer, I. (2011). Modes of creativity: Philosophical perspectives. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Singleton, R., & Straits, B. (1999). *Approaches to social research (3<sup>rd</sup> Edition)*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Smith, J., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2009). Interpretative phenomenological analysis: Theory, method and research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Steed, M. (2010). New media design for learning: An argument for curriculum change. *The International Journal of Learning*, 17(3), 291-301.
- Storksdieck, M. (2011). STEM or STEAM. *The Art of Science Learning*. Retrieved from

http://scienceblogs.com/art\_of\_science\_learning/2011/04/stem\_or\_steam.php

Story, L. (2007, January 15). Anywhere the eye can see, it's likely to see an ad. *The New York Times*. Retrieved from

http://www.nytimes.com/2007/01/15/business/media/15everywhere.html

Suzuki, S. (1969). Nurtured by love: A new approach to education (W. Suzuki, Trans.).

New York, NY: Exposition Press.

- Tellis, W. (1997) Introduction to case study. *The Qualitative Report*, 3(2) Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR3-2/tellis1.html
- Tillander, M. (January, 2011). Creativity, technology, art, and pedagogical practices. *Art Education*, 40-46.
- Trochim, W. (2006). *The research methods knowledge base*, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. Retrieved from http://www.socialresearch methodsnet/kb/ (version current as of October 20, 2006).
- United States Department of Education. (2010). *A blueprint for reform: The reauthorization of the elementary and secondary education act*. Retrieved from http://www2ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/blueprint/blueprint.pdf
- United States Department of Education. (2001). *No child left behind act*. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/nclb/landing.jhtml
- Van Manen, M. (1990). Researching lived experiences. Albany, NY: SUNY Press.
- Vygotsky, L., (1978). *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Wagner, T. (2012). *Creating innovators: The making of young people who will change the world*. New York, NY: Scribner.
- Waite, L. (2013). *Re-awakening wonder: Creativity in elementary mathematics*. (Order No. MR94030, University of Lethbridge, Canada). *ProQuest Dissertations and Theses*, 129. Retrieved from

http://search.proquest.com/docview/1400011412?accountid=14872. (1400011412).

West, D., & Bleiberg, J. (March 2013). Education technology success stories. Center for Technology Innovation at Brookings Institution. Retrieved from http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/research/files/papers/2013/3/20%20education %20technology%20success%20west%20bleiberg/download%20the%20paper.pdf

- Wynn, T., & Harris, J. (2012). Toward a STEM + arts curriculum: Creating the teacher team. *Art Education*, 65(5), 42-47.
- Yin, R. (1994). *Case study research: Design and methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yin, R. (2009). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5<sup>th</sup> ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yin, R. (2011). Applications of case study research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Zande, R. (2011). Design education supports social responsibility and the economy. *Arts Education Policy Review*. 112, 26-34. doi:10.1080/10632913.2011.518123
- Zhao, Y., & Frank, K. (2003). Factors affecting technology uses in schools: An ecological perspective. *American Educational Research Journal*, 40(4), 807-840.

Research Question 1: What are students' perceptions regarding the development of creative thinking skills while designing wearable technologies?

Student Interview Questions

- What do you think creative thinking means?
- How did your creative thinking change as you moved through the design of your wearable technology?
- How did creative thinking influence the design of your wearable technology?
- How do you think creative thinking is learned?
- Is there anything I have not asked you that you feel is important to add to our conversation about the designing of your wearable technology?

Research Question 2: What are teachers' perceptions regarding student development of creative thinking skills through the designing of wearable technologies?

Initial Teacher Interview Questions

- How would you define creative thinking?
- What evidence of creative thinking did you see in the students while they were designing wearable technologies?
- How did the students' creative thinking change as they moved through the designing of wearable technologies?
- How did the development of creative thinking affect the students' designing of wearable technologies?
- How do you think creative thinking is developed?
- Is there anything I have not asked you that you feel is important to add to our conversation about the students' designing of wearable technologies?

Research Question 3: What are students' perceptions regarding the development of collaborative skills while designing wearable technologies?

Student Interview Questions

- What do you think collaboration means?
- How did your collaboration change as you moved through the design of your wearable technology?
- How did collaboration influence the design of your wearable technology?
- How did your collaboration with others help or hinder the designing of wearable technologies?
- How do you think collaboration is learned?
- Is there anything I have not asked you that you feel is important to add to our conversation about the designing of your wearable technology?

• Is there anything I have not asked you that you feel is important to share?

Research Question 4: What are teachers' perceptions regarding student development of collaborative skills through the designing of wearable technologies?

Initial Teacher Interview Questions

- How would you define collaboration?
- What evidence of collaboration did you see in the students while they were designing wearable technologies?
- How did the students' collaborative abilities change as they moved through the designing of wearable technologies?
- How did the development of collaboration affect the students' designing of wearable technologies?
- How do you think collaboration is developed?
- Is there anything I have not asked you that you feel is important to add to our conversation about the students' designing of wearable technologies?

Teacher Follow-up Interview Questions

Research Question 1: What are students' perceptions regarding the development of creative thinking skills while designing wearable technologies?

Teacher Follow-up Interview Questions

When I examined all of the student interviews I discovered that

• Students shared thoughts about creativity as having developed at home or through academic experiences. Where did you see your students' creativity coming more from, academic knowledge or extracurricular knowledge? Why?

Research Question 2: What are teachers' perceptions regarding student development of creative thinking skills through the designing of wearable technologies?

Teacher Follow-up Interview Questions

- Did you see participants from particular colleges/domains as showing/having more creative thinking tendencies over the duration of the course?
- The syllabus suggested, thinking creatively, taking risks, and doing something new. Can you share examples of how students making "hybrid creations that cross domains" showcased these suggestions?

Research Question 3: What are students' perceptions regarding the development of collaborative skills while designing wearable technologies?

Teacher Follow-up Questions

When I examined all of the student interviews I discovered that
• Students shared about your encouragement of learning avenues for finding help. Can you share some examples of how far you saw that extended?

Research Question 4: What are teachers' perceptions regarding student development of collaborative skills through the designing of wearable technologies?

Teacher Follow-up Questions

- Did you see participants from particular colleges/domains as showing/having more collaboration tendencies over the duration of the course?
- Did you feel there was more collaboration regarding the technology knowledge building or craft knowledge building domain of the learning?
- What differences could you see in the development of collaboration in students between the two course offerings because of the additional recruitment outside of your own department?
- Looking at the syllabus, a question was asked in the introduction. "Why are computing-related professions among the least diverse in society?" How do you think your course addressed this issue?

### Appendix B: Letter of Cooperation

April 11, 2014

Dear Ms. Korte,

Based on my review of your research proposal, I give permission for you to conduct the study entitled *Student and Teacher Perceptions on the Development of Collaborative and Creative Thinking Skills Through the Design of Wearable Technologies* within the XXXXXXXXX. As part of this study, I authorize you to contact XXXXXXXXX to recruit student members of e-textile curricula enrolled students, collect interviews, and share broad results of your findings with permission from the participants. Individuals' participation by teachers and students will be voluntary and at their own discretion.

We understand that our organization's responsibilities include allowing access to teacher and student participants to conduct audio-recorded interviews. We reserve the right to withdraw from the study at any time if our circumstances change.

I confirm that I am authorized to approve research in this setting.

I understand that the data collected will remain entirely confidential and may not be provided to anyone outside of the research team without permission from the Walden University IRB.

Sincerely,



Walden University policy on electronic signatures: An electronic signature is just as valid as a written signature as long as both parties have agreed to conduct the transaction electronically. Electronic signatures are regulated by the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act. Electronic signatures are only valid when the signer is either (a) the sender of the email, or (b) copied on the email containing the signed document. Legally an "electronic signature" can be the person's typed name, their email address, or any other identifying marker. Walden University staff verifies any electronic signatures that do not originate from a password-protected source (i.e., an email address officially on file with Walden). Appendix C: Teacher Invitation to Participate in Research Email Script

Dear [Teacher],

Because of your inclusion of wearable technologies in your curriculum, I would like to invite you to participate in my research study on how wearable technologies help students develop collaboration and creative thinking skills. I am a doctoral student at Walden University and am inviting teachers and students who have participated in an integrated e-textile curricular experience to be in my study. The purpose of this study is to understand your perceptions on student collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the designing of wearable technologies.

The form attached is part of a process called "informed consent" to allow you to understand this study before deciding whether to take part. If you are willing to talk with me about your experiences and perceptions about how students develop collaboration and creative skills during the process of developing wearable technologies, please read the form attached and then reply to this email with the word CONSENT.

Thank you for considering,

~Laurie Korte

laurie.korte@waldenu.edu XXX-XXX-XXXX

### Appendix D: Teacher Consent Form

You are invited to take part in a research study exploring your perceptions on the development of student collaborative and creative thinking skills through the design of wearable technologies. I am inviting teachers and students who have participated in an integrated e-textile curricular experience to be in my study. This form is part of a process to allow you to understand this study before deciding whether to take part.

This study is being conducted by Laurie Korte, who is a doctoral student at Walden University.

#### **Background Information:**

The purpose of this study is to understand your perceptions on student collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the designing of wearable technologies.

#### **Procedures:**

If you agree to be in this project, you will be asked to:

Participate in two audio-recorded interviews of approximately 30 to 45 minutes each where you will share your personal experiences and perceptions insights on how your students developed or did not develop collaborative and creative thinking skills through the design of wearable technology.

Here are some sample questions:

- How would you define creative thinking?
- What evidence of creative thinking did you see in the students while they were designing wearable technologies?
- How did the students' creative thinking change as they moved through the designing of wearable technologies?
- How did the development of collaboration affect the students' designing of wearable technologies?
- How do you think collaboration is developed?

### Voluntary Nature of the Study:

This study is voluntary. Everyone will respect your decision of whether or not you want to be in the study. No one at **Example 1** for Walden University will treat you differently if you decide not to be in the study. If you decide to consent now, you can still change your mind later. Anyone who feels stressed during the study may stop at any time.

#### Potential Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study:

Being in this type of study involves some risk of the minor discomforts that can be encountered in daily life, such as the delegating time needed to participate in the interview. Being in this study would not pose risk to your safety or wellbeing.

The individual potential benefits for participating in this study are minimal; although your experiences may help others develop programs and support to improve creative thinking and collaborative skill development opportunities for other students.

#### **Compensation:**

You will not receive any payment for participation.

#### **Privacy:**

Any information you provide will be kept confidential. The researcher will not use your information for any purposes outside of this research project. Also, the researcher will not include your name or anything else that could identify you in any reports of the study. Data will be kept for a period of at least 5 years, as required by the university.

I am required to inform you that there are two exceptions to the promise of confidentiality. Any information revealed concerning suicide, homicide, or child abuse or neglect is required by law to be reported to the proper authorities.

#### **Asking Questions:**

You may ask any questions you have now. Or if you have questions later, you may contact the researcher via phone, **Section 11** or email, laurie.korte@waldenu.edu. If you want to talk privately about your rights as a participant, you can call Dr. Leilani Endicott. She is the Walden University staff member who can discuss this with you. Her phone number is 612-312-1210. Walden University's approval number for this study is 03-21-14-0162090 and it expires on March 10, 2015.

The researcher will give you a copy of this form to keep for your records.

#### Statement of Consent:

I have read the above information and I feel I understand the study well enough to make a decision about my involvement in this optional research project. By replying to this email indicating my "consent," I am giving Laurie Korte permission to contact me about the study. I understand that I am agreeing to the terms described above.

Printed Name of Teacher \_\_\_\_\_\_ Teacher's Written or Electronic\* Signature \_\_\_\_\_ Date of Consent

\*Electronic signatures are regulated by the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act. Legally, an "electronic signature" can be the person's typed name, their email address, or any other identifying marker. An electronic signature is just as valid as a written signature as long as both parties have agreed to conduct the transaction electronically.



Appendix E: Adult Student Invitation to Participate in Research Email Script

Dear [Student],

Recently, you were in XXXX's class where you designed e-textiles. I am interested in hearing your thoughts on how collaborative and creative thinking skills developed during this project. I would like to interview you to understand your perceptions of how these skills developed through the design of your course project. I am a doctoral student at Walden University and am inviting teachers and students who have participated in an integrated e-textile curricular experience to be in my study.

Before I interview you, it is necessary that you consent to my interview with you. If you are willing for me to talk with you, please read the form attached and then reply to this email with the word CONSENT. This is part of a process called "informed consent" to allow you to understand this study before deciding whether to take part.

Thank you for considering, ~Laurie Korte

laurie.korte@waldenu.edu XXX-XXX-XXXX

### Appendix F: Adult Student Consent Form

You are invited to take part in a research study exploring your perceptions on the development of student collaborative and creative thinking skills through the design of wearable technologies. I am inviting teachers and students who have participated in an integrated e-textile curricular experiences to be in my study. This form is part of a process to allow you to understand this study before deciding whether to take part.

This study is being conducted by Laurie Korte, who is a doctoral student at Walden University.

#### **Background Information:**

The purpose of this project is to understand your thoughts regarding how you may have developed creative thinking and collaboration skills while you were designing wearable technologies in Ms. XXX's class.

#### **Procedures:**

If you agree to be in this project, you will be asked to:

Participate in one audio-recorded interview of approximately 30 to 45 minutes where you will share your personal experiences on collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technology Ms. XXX's class.

Here are some sample questions:

- What do you think creative thinking means?
- How did your creative thinking change as you moved through the design of your wearable technology?
- How did creative thinking influence the design of your wearable technology?
- How did your collaboration with others help or hinder the design of your wearable technology?
- How do you think collaboration is learned?

### Voluntary Nature of the Study:

This study is voluntary. Everyone will respect your decision of whether or not you want to be in the study. No one at the **Exercision of Walden University will treat you differently if** you decide not to be in the study. If you decide to consent now, you can still change your mind later. Anyone who feels stressed during the study may stop at any time.

### Potential Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study:

Being in this type of study involves some risk of the minor discomforts that can be encountered in daily life, such as the delegating time needed to participate in the interview. Being in this study would not pose risk to your safety or wellbeing.

The individual potential benefits for participating in this study are minimal; although your experiences may help others develop programs and support to improve creative thinking and collaborative skill development opportunities for other students.

### **Compensation:**

You will not receive any payment for participation.

#### **Privacy:**

Any information you provide will be kept confidential. The researcher will not use your information for any purposes outside of this research project. Also, the researcher will not include your name or anything else that could identify you in any reports of the study. Data will be kept for a period of at least 5 years, as required by the university.

### **Asking Questions:**

You may ask any questions you have now. Or if you have questions later, you may contact the researcher via phone, **Section 1** email, laurie.korte@waldenu.edu. If you want to talk privately about your rights as a participant, you can call Dr. Leilani Endicott. She is the Walden University staff member who can discuss this with you. Her phone number is 612-312-1210. Walden University's approval number for this study is 03-21-14-0162090 and it expires on March 10, 2015.

The researcher will give you a copy of this form to keep for your records.

#### Statement of Consent:

I have read the above information and I feel I understand the study well enough to make a decision about my involvement in this optional research project. By replying to this email indicating my "consent," I am giving Laurie Korte permission to contact me about the study. I understand that I am agreeing to the terms described above.

Printed Name of Student \_\_\_\_\_\_ Student's Written or Electronic\* Signature \_\_\_\_\_\_ Date of Consent

\*Electronic signatures are regulated by the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act. Legally, an "electronic signature" can be the person's typed name, their email address, or any other identifying marker. An electronic signature is just as valid as a written signature as long as both parties have agreed to conduct the transaction electronically.



### Appendix G: Interview Protocol

Interviews are semi-structured with already prepared questions to focus on the research objectives and serve as a guide. In the course of the interview, questions will be adapted where necessary and depending on the position of the participant being interviewed. The open-ended questions allow reformulation of the questions based on participants' responses to make it possible to solicit detailed experiences of participants. Thus the nature of questions will be participant driven and not the other way around. This interview protocol has space to take notes during questions as well as review recording transcripts following. Interviews will be recorded using QuickTime Player.

### Student Interview Guide

Thank you for agreeing to participate in my study. In joining my project you will take part in this one audio-recorded interview of approximately 30 to 45 minutes where you will share your personal experiences on collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the design of wearable technology XXXX's class. The assent form you signed provided some sample interview questions I will be asking. As a reminder, you don't have to be in this project if you don't want to, if you want to stop, you can. Everything you tell me during this project will be kept private. That means that no one else will know your name or what answers you gave.

### **Time of Interview:**

#### Date:

Method: Skype/Telephone

**Interviewer:** Laurie Korte, I am a student at Walden University, working on my doctoral degree.

#### Interviewee:

#### Position of Interviewee: Student

**Brief description of study:** The purpose of this project is to understand your thoughts regarding how you may have developed creative thinking and collaboration skills while you were designing wearable technologies in XXXX's class. I am hoping this project might help others develop wearable technology programs and help to improve creative thinking and collaborative skill development opportunities for other students.

### Student Interview Questions

- What do you think creative thinking means?
- How did your creative thinking change as you moved through the design of your wearable technology?
- How did creative thinking influence the design of your wearable technology?
- How do you think creative thinking is learned?
- What do you think collaboration means?
- How did your collaboration change as you moved through the design of your wearable technology?
- How did collaboration influence the design of your wearable technology?
- How did your collaboration with others help or hinder the designing of wearable technologies?
- How do you think collaboration is learned?
- Is there anything I have not asked you that you feel is important to add to our conversation about the designing of your wearable technology?

Again, thank you for agreeing to participate in my study.

### Teacher Interview Guide

Thank you for agreeing to participate in my study. In joining my project you will take part in two audio-recorded interviews. The first will be approximately 30 to 45 minutes where you will share your personal experiences and perceptions on how your students developed or did not develop collaborative and creative thinking skills through the design of wearable technology. A shorter follow-up interview will be based on analyzed initial responses from all participants to offer further clarity to the collected data. The consent form you signed provided some sample interview questions I will be asking. As a reminder, this study is voluntary. You can change your mind at any point. Anyone who feels stressed during the study may stop at any time. Everything you tell me during this project will be kept private. That means that no one else will know your name or what answers you gave.

### **Time of Interview:**

Date:

Method: Skype/Telephone

Interviewer: Laurie Korte, doctoral student at Walden University.

### **Interviewee:**

Position of Interviewee: Teacher

**Brief description of study:** The purpose of this study is to understand your perceptions on student collaborative and creative thinking skill development through the designing of wearable technologies. I am hoping this project might help others develop wearable technology programs and help to improve creative thinking and collaborative skill development opportunities for other students.

Teacher Interview Questions

- How would you define creative thinking?
- What evidence of creative thinking did you see in the students while they were

designing wearable technologies?

- How did the students' creative thinking change as they moved through the designing of wearable technologies?
- How did the development of creative thinking affect the students' designing of wearable technologies?
- How do you think creative thinking is developed?
- How would you define collaboration?
- What evidence of collaboration did you see in the students while they were designing wearable technologies?
- How did the students' collaborative abilities change as they moved through the designing of wearable technologies?
- How did the development of collaboration affect the students' designing of wearable technologies?
- How do you think collaboration is developed?
- Is there anything I have not asked you that you feel is important to add to our conversation about the students' designing of wearable technologies?

Again, thank you for agreeing to participate in my study.

Teacher Follow-up Interview Questions

• Looking at the syllabus, a question was asked in the introduction. "Why are computing-related professions among the least diverse in society?" How do you think your course addressed this issue?

- What differences could you see in the development of collaboration in students between the two course offerings because of the additional recruitment outside of your own department?
- Students shared thoughts with me about creativity as having developed at home or through academic experiences. Where did you see your students' creativity coming more from, academic knowledge or extracurricular knowledge? Why?
- Do you feel there was more collaboration regarding the technology knowledge building or craft knowledge building domain of the learning?
- Did you see participants from particular colleges/domains as showing/having more creativity or collaboration tendencies over the duration of the course?
- Student shared about your encouragement of learning avenues for finding help. Can you share some examples of how far you saw that extended?
- The syllabus suggested, thinking creatively, taking risks, and doing something new. Can you share examples of how students making "hybrid creations that cross domains" showcased these suggestions?

Again, thank you for agreeing to participate in my study.

#### Appendix H: Confidentiality Agreement



#### Handling of User-Submitted Content

Preserving the confidentiality of your intellectual property is very important to Automatic Sync Technologies (AST). We believe that the content that you submit to us for captioning must be both kept confidential and secure. We consistently strive to put our best efforts towards achieving both of these objectives.

"Content" means any media or transcripts that you send to us either through the CaptionSync website or through our mail-in DVD authoring service, and any of the caption results that we generate for you.

AST engages subcontractors to provide portions of the services that we offer to you. It is necessary for AST to disclose your Content to these subcontractors in order to deliver our service to you. All such subcontractors have entered into Non Disclosure Agreements ("NDA") with AST, prohibiting them from using, disclosing, or distributing your Content in any way. Other than our disclosure to such subcontractors as necessary to deliver our service, AST commits to you that we will not disclose or distribute your Content to any other parties.

For Content submitted through our CaptionSync webservice, all Content is transmitted to our servers through encrypted data links. Once on our server, we employ a number of defenses to prevent unauthorized users from gaining access to any information on your account, including any Content that you have submitted. Caption results are returned to you via email at your option; if this poses a security concern to you, you may disable this feature on your account.

Copies of your Content are retained on our server for at least six months to enable you to access and regenerate your caption results. During that time, your Content will be accessible only to AST personnel or users of your account(s).

For Content submitted to our mail-in DVD authoring service, both the captioned DVD and your original media are returned to you via courier. Any electronic residuals that result from this work are treated as your confidential information.

AST is sensitive to user's confidentiality concerns and recognizes the need to communicate how we deal with the Content you submit. Please be assured that AST handles your Content only to the extent necessary to deliver our service to you and nothing more.

### Curriculum Vitae

### Laurie E. Korte

### laurie.korte@waldenu.edu

### SUMMARY OF QUALIFICATIONS

- Development of web-based multimedia learning environments
- Collaboration with staff to plan development and production of curriculum/teaching tools
- Facilitation of development processes from conceptualization to assessment, articulating and attending to concise learning goal outcomes and measures
- Management of budget and timelines
- Creation of working relationships with staff that encourage collaboration and result in the development of activities within and outside of district to meet specified learning goals
- Participation in Curriculum Committee teams to design technology integrated content
- Delivery of training and implementation updates with staff
- Evaluation of content to guide recommendations on materials and program development

### **EDUCATION**

PhD in Education – Specialization: Educational Technology	2014
Walden University, Minneapolis, MN	
Dissertation: Collaborative and Creative Thinking Skill Development Thr	ough the
Design of Wearable Technologies	
Master, Library and Information Sciences University of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, WI	2002
Bachelor of Science, Secondary Education	1989

Butler University, Indianapolis, IN

### CERTIFICATIONS

Moodle 2 Administration	2012-Present
Remote-Learner	
<b>Type 10, Information Specialist</b> Illinois State Board of Education	2007-Present
<b>Type 09, Standard Teaching</b> Illinois State Board of Education	1989-Present

### **EXPERIENCE**

### **E-learning Facilitator Trainer and Course Creator**

North East Florida Educational Consortium, Putnam County, Florida

- Work in collaboration with NEFEC to identify the elements and objectives for an introductory course
- Create a facilitator introductory course on Moodle
- Facilitate a live synchronous webinar session for NEFEC •
- Build other courses in Moodle upon request using course content currently in • Blackboard

### **Educational Technology Specialist**

- Work with various educators around the world throughout project lifecycles to meet desired specific needs from strategy to implementation to maintenance
- Provide formal and informal presentations with personalized detail to requested • requirements
- Assist in course design and migration of existing content
- Work with teams and individuals combining subject matter expertise with • technology field knowledge to create effective learning online
- Support individuals and teams globally in managing Moodle implementations ٠

### **District Technology Integration Specialist**

Northbrook District 28, Northbrook, IL

- Planned, delivered, and evaluated instruction based upon knowledge of subject ٠ matter in the technology field
- Applied effective methods and strategies for teaching concepts and skills to students, educators, and administrators in various educational settings
- Identified and applied educational and technology-related research, the • psychology of learning, and instructional design principles in guiding use of technologies
- Developed curricular plans and teaching aids based on standards for use of ٠ learning technologies, integrating across subject and content areas

2007-2013

2007-Present

2014-Present

220

- Implemented information access and delivery of resources to support curriculum
- Planned and optimized budget and grants to achieve high academic and information literacy goals
- Encouraged, planned, and fulfilled collaborative growth functions •

### **New Teacher Mentor**

Northbrook District 28, Northbrook, IL

- Provided demonstration lessons
- Led professional development activities
- Participated in formalized peer review process as a formative evaluator
- Facilitated curriculum planning

### **Superintendent's Advisory Forum Member**

Northbrook School District 28, Northbrook, IL

- Promoted and encouraged staff involvement in district efforts
- Assisted in identification and assessment of district needs
- Fostered and promoted communication between staff and administration

### **Science Curriculum Developer**

Northbrook School District 28, Northbrook, IL

- Collaborated on integrated approach to teaching of Science standards
- Organized standards around conceptual strands
- Created and accumulated units of instruction
- Participated in development of ideas with teams of teachers •

## Social Studies Curriculum Developer

Northbrook District 28, Northbrook, IL

- Collaborated on integrated approach to teaching of Social Studies standards
- Organized standards around conceptual strands
- Created and accumulated units of instruction
- Participated in development of ideas with teams of teachers

### **Adjunct Online Instructor**

Southern New Hampshire University, Manchester, NH

- Taught online Instructional Design/Distance Learning Platform Implementation •
- Conceptualized with course members to build scalable Learning Management System sites
- Brainstormed creative implementations and innovative instructional strategies for participant design of E-Learning offerings
- Guided visual instructional graphic design, user interface, interactions and finished products with learners
- Shared usability and experience design, information design, communications and • new technologies

### 2012-2013

2010-2012

2012-2013

2009-2010

### E-Learning Instructional Designer/E-School Administrator

Global Classroom, Portsmouth, NH

- Designed and integrated classroom content Using Moodle to help participants implement online learning environments
- Provided training resources and professional support
- Facilitated and guided course member development of implementation
- Focused participant design of E-Learning toward teaching of pedagogy and content to promote higher quality education.
- Collaborated with subject matter experts and team members

### **Educational ToolKit Designer**

Chicago Botanic Garden, Glencoe, IL

- Collected and created resources for area school districts
- Organized learning tools and materials
- Designed grade level appropriate activities for guided facilitation
- Enhanced field experience learning opportunities

### Library Media Information Specialist

Grayslake Community Consolidated School District 46, Grayslake, IL

- Integrated high tech resources with traditional information sources to expand and enhance the educational process
- Partnered with teachers to achieve information literacy goals
- Collaborated on correlating library resources and projects with curriculum and lesson plans
- Created and implemented lesson plans and activities that spark curiosity and inspire lifetime learning
- Conducted new teacher trainings annually
- Programmed and facilitated guest speakers
- Created learning tools such as games and templates

### Science Teacher

Arlington Heights School District 25, Arlington Heights, IL

Grayslake Community Consolidated School District 46, Grayslake, IL

- Developed and implemented lesson plans that fulfilled the requirements of district's curriculum
- Prepared lessons that reflected accommodations for differences in student learning styles
- Presented subject matter according to guidelines established by Illinois State Board of Education, board policies, and administrative regulations
- Planned and used appropriate instructional and learning strategies, activities, materials, and equipment that reflected understanding of the learning styles and needs of students assigned

2001-2002

2008-2010

2000-2007

- Conducted assessment of student learning styles and used results to plan instructional activities
- Worked cooperatively with special education teachers to modify curricula as needed for special education students according to guidelines established in Individual Education Plans (IEP)

### **Broadcast Club Coordinator**

Grayslake Community Consolidated School District 46, Grayslake, IL

- Coordinated upper elementary student on-site broadcasts including news releases, scheduling entertainment and publicity interviews
- Supervised student station representatives and ensured proper representation of materials integrated into the live broadcasts
- Assisted team with programming and equipment as needed

### Website Editor

Grayslake Community Consolidated School District 46, Grayslake, IL

- Produced interesting relevant new content
- Sourced artwork, and commissioned photographers
- Liaised with clients and internal departments
- Maintained site and ensured information accuracy

### Science Olympiad Coach

Arlington Heights School District 25, Arlington Heights, IL

Grayslake Community Consolidated School District 46, Grayslake, IL

- Coached team and individuals to national-level awards.
- Assisted in recruiting team members and mentors
- Maintained information exchange between parents, students, mentors and coaches
- Scheduled meets, meetings, and practice sessions
- Provided training and materials as needed

### Wetlands Curriculum Design and Instruction

Arlington Heights School District 25, Arlington Heights, IL

- Created and taught Wetlands curriculum that earned an award and had students standing in line to sign up
- Initiated and directed a major research project under the guidance of the Illinois State Museum
- Taught 8th graders to apply scientific methodology to long-term case study of the Purple Loosestrife, a non-native plant
- Facilitated 8th Graders' teaching design of elective Wetlands unit to 3<sup>rd</sup> Graders
- Presented Wetland Curriculum at 1994 Illinois State Science Teacher Convention
- Engaged students in research of economic and environmental impact of proposed gambling casino. Staged debate and school voting process that mirrored actual community vote, and received newspaper coverage

### 2002-2007

1997-2000

1992-2000

### PUBLICATIONS

### Moodle Magic: Make It Happen FTC Publishing. 2007

These are amazing times for the Internet and online learning. We are seeing a rapidly increasing commitment to Internet-based learning from teachers, students, and institutions of all kinds, using it to increase flexibility and communication within existing courses and to enable courses that could never exist before. Moodle has been implemented for users at all age levels. Online classroom are here NOW! Colleges and Universities offer Distance Learning NOW! There are even Virtual High Schools NOW! Let me show you what others and myself have come up with as well as some tips and tricks to make it easier, friendlier, and safe. Don't let the learning stop with the dismissal bell. This is a chance to showcase learning at home too. As a Librarian/Media Specialist/Information Specialist/Teacher/Administrator or whatever title you have...you can do this.

### **Open Source Opens Classrooms FTC Publishing. 2008**

What is OpenOffice? What is GIMP? What is Inkscape? How much do these programs cost? How do I use them? This book will discuss free open source applications that provide many of the same features as comparable commercial applications without the high price tag. Open Source Opens Classrooms looks at how to access powerful and free technology choices. It highlights Free Open Source Software (FOSS) that is comparable to commercial applications for students and teachers at all levels. With Open Source Opens Classrooms you will no longer have to worry about creating purchase orders to obtain that perfect application you need for your classroom.

### **Differentiation in Professional Development**

### CUBE (Computer Update Bulletin for Educators) V. 2009, Issue 4. 2009

As an Educational Technology Specialist, the professional learning network I have grown is appreciative and respectful of the willingness and contributions I have been making to further the world of education technology. The request from the Illinois Computing Educators to co-author a focus piece on Professional Development and the success my district colleague and I have found in our differentiated offerings was a treat. Collaborating is always more intriguing and inspiring as two heads are better than one.

### Moodle Magic: Make It Happen

### CUBE (Computer Update Bulletin for Educators) V. 2010, Issue 2. 2010

As the author and multiple national conference presenter of Moodle Magic: Make It Happen I was asked to offer my thoughts in writing on tips and tricks to creating an online classroom environment. Being a district Moodle administrator twice and a facilitator for Moodle on an international hosting platform I have many ideas to share. Willing to help get more to expand their learning from anywhere at any time, I was more than happy for the opportunity.

### PROJECTS

### Students Involved in Technology (SIT)

The Students Involved with Technology Conference is an annual conference occurring at several sites throughout Illinois. It originated in Bloomington-Normal and has since expanded. It is a conference for 3rd-12th grade students. The SIT Conference is completely presented by 3rd-12th grade students. While adult volunteers from local schools and the community help the day run smoothly, all presentations are prepared and presented by students.

### TORCH!

2011-2013

TORCH! The Northfield Township Teaching and Learning Conference, emerged from a conversation between colleagues. The desire was to provide opportunities to collaborate with colleagues seeking expansion of best practices. Consideration for the idea of an event, devoted to sharing, conversations and growth was begun. Set in mid-August, it seemed like the perfect way to end the summer and to start the year with fresh ideas and inspiration.

### **PROFESSIONAL PRESENTATIONS**

### 2013 - Presented Development of Collaboration, Creative Thinking, and Social Change Learning Skills Through Digital Creation of E-textiles Poster Session at Illinois Computing Educators Conference

Highlighted Ph.D. Dissertation topic research.

## 2013 - Co-Presented iPad/iPod/Apple TV Health/Fitness Technology Integration Session at N-ICE Mini Conference

Highlighted implementation, exploration and learning of 6th-8th graders with digital technologies in a Life Skills curriculum.

### 2012 – Presented Development of Collaboration, Creative Thinking, and Social Change Learning Skills Through Digital Creation of E-Textiles Prospectus at PhD Residency 3 Student Panel

Highlighted Ph.D. Dissertation topic research.

**2010 - Presented Moodle Workshop at Illinois Computing Educators Conference** Facilitating professional development of e-Learning environment creating.

**2010 - Co-Presented PicoCrickets Poster Session at N-ICE Mini Conference** Highlighted engineering, math exploration and learning of 3rd-5th graders with PicoCrickets and PicoBlocks programming.

### 2009 -- Presented Moodle 2-day Workshop for Cook County ICT in Illinois

Facilitated professional development of e-Learning environment creating.

### 2009 - Presented Moodle 2-day Workshop at Illinois Computing Educators Conference

Facilitated professional development of e-Learning environment creating.

### 2009 - Presented Moodle Seminar at Pete and C Conference in Pennsylvania

Facilitated professional development of e-Learning environment creating.

# 2008 - Virtually presented Moodle for Women of Web 2.0 (WOW2.0) on EdTechTalk

Via Skype and screen sharing capabilities showcased Moodle opportunities for classroom exploration and integration.

**2008 - Presented Moodle Seminar at K-12 Open Minds Conference in Indiana** Facilitated professional development of e-Learning environment creating.

### 2008 - Virtually Co-Presented Open Source Opens Classrooms at Illinois Computing Educators Conference

Via Skype and screen sharing capabilities showcased Open Source opportunities for classroom exploration and integration.

**2008 - Presented Moodle Seminar at N-ICE Mini Conference in Illinois** Facilitated professional development of e-Learning environment creating.

**2008 - Presented Moodle Workshop at Star-Online Mini Conference in Illinois** Facilitated professional development of e-Learning environment creating.

**2008 - Presented Moodle Magic: Make It Happen: Exploration of E-Learning Implementation at National Educators Computing Conference (NECC)** Open Source Lab workshop facilitation of e-Learning integration.

**2007 - Presented Moodle Workshop at Illinois Computing Educators Conference** Facilitated professional development of e-Learning environment creating.

**2006 - Presented Moodle Poster Session at Illinois Computing Educators Conference** Highlighted 2nd grade - 4th use of e-Learning.

## 1994 - Presented award-winning authored Wetlands Curriculum at Illinois State Science Teacher Convention

The Wetlands Curriculum was created and taught as an elective offering at a Junior High School. This implemented the idea that students apply the scientific methodology to longterm case studies. In turn, students then developed and taught elective Wetlands offerings to younger elementary grades.

### AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS

Larry Stilgebauer Technology Award	2010
Environmental Awareness in Education Award	1994

### **GRANTS AND SCHOLARSHIPS**

ICE (Illinois Computing Educators) Scholarship	2009, 2011
N-ICE (Northern Illinois Computing Educators) Mini Grant	2009, 2012